
AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

City Council of the Town of Colma 
Colma Community Center 
1520 Hillside Boulevard 

Colma, CA 94014 

Wednesday, April 8, 2015 at 7:30 PM 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL 

ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Comments on the Consent Calendar and Non-Agenda Items will be heard at this time. 
Comments on Agenda Items will be heard when the item is called. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the March 11, 2015 Regular Meeting.

2. Motion to Approve Report of Checks Paid for March 2015.

3. Motion to Adopt an Ordinance Amending Colma Municipal Code Chapter 8, Relating to Animals,
and Waive a Further Reading of the Ordinance (second reading).

4. Motion to Accept Informational Report on Recreation Department Programs, Activities, Events,
and Trips for the First Quarter of 2015.

5. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Accepting Work, Authorizing the Filing of the Notice of
Completion, and Directing Payment of Retention Funds for the Hillside Beautification Project
Phase I.

6. Motion Approving a Supplemental Appropriation in the Fiscal Year 2014-15 Adopted Budget for
Capital Improvement Project #947-Town Hall Renovation Project in the Amount of $8,371,000.

PUBLIC HEARING 

7. GOLDEN HILL MEMORIAL PARK

Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Granting a Conditional Use Permit For a Funeral Home,
Caretaker Unit, and a Monument Shop; Design Review Approval for the Construction of a Funeral
Home Building; and a Sign Permit for Entry Signage at Golden Hill Memorial Park.

Page 1 of 2 



 

8. 203-207B COLLINS AVENUE – ASSISTED LIVING FACILITY  

a. Consider: Motion to Introduce an Ordinance Adopting an Amended Zoning Map and 
Approving a Planned Development Zone for 203-207B Collins Avenue and Waive a Further 
reading of the Ordinance.  

b. Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Conditionally Approving Second Amended Planned 
Development (PD) Conditional Use Permit and Design Review for an Assisted Living Facility 
at 203-207b Collins Avenue. 

9. REGULAR MEETING START TIME ORDINANCE 

Consider: Motion to Introduce an Ordinance Amending Section 1.02.080 of the Colma Municipal 
Code, Relating to the Start Time of Regular Meetings, and Waive a Further Reading of the 
Ordinance.  

10. DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION PROCESSING FEES 

Consider: Motion to Adopt a Resolution Amending Colma Administrative Code, Subchapter 1.10, 
Master Fee Schedule, Relating to Development Application Processing Fees for Staff and 
Consultant Time. 

STUDY SESSION 

11. PROPOSED BUDGET FY2015-16 

This item is for discussion only; no action will be taken at this meeting.  

COUNCIL CALENDARING 

REPORTS 

Mayor/City Council       

City Manager          

ADJOURNMENT 
The City Council Meeting Agenda Packet and supporting documents are available for review at the Colma Town Hall, 1198 El 
Camino Real, Colma, CA during normal business hours (Mon – Fri 8am-5pm). Persons interested in obtaining an agenda via e-
mail should call Caitlin Corley at 650-997-8300 or email a request to ccorley@colma.ca.gov.  

Reasonable Accommodation 
Upon request, this publication will be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with disabilities, as required 
by the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Any person with a disability, who requires a modification or accommodation to 
view the agenda, should direct such a request to Brian Dossey, ADA Coordinator, at 650-997-8300 or 
brian.dossey@colma.ca.gov. Please allow two business days for your request to be processed. 

Page 2 of 2 
 

mailto:ccorley@colma.ca.gov
mailto:brian.dossey@colma.ca.gov


MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING 

City Council of the Town of Colma 
Colma Community Center, 1520 Hillside Boulevard 

Colma, CA 94014 
Wednesday, March 11, 2015 

7:30 p.m. 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Joanne F. del Rosario called the Regular Meeting of the City Council to order at 
7:37 p.m.    

Council Present – Mayor Joanne F. del Rosario, Vice Mayor Diana Colvin, Council Members 
Helen Fisicaro, Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez and Joseph Silva were all present.  

Staff Present – City Manager Sean Rabé, City Attorney Christopher Diaz, Police Chief Kirk 
Stratton, Recreation Services Director Brian Dossey, Director of Public Works Brad Donohue, 
City Engineer Cyrus Kianpour, City Planner Michael Laughlin, and Administrative Technician III 
Caitlin Corley were in attendance.  

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Mayor del Rosario asked if there were any changes to the agenda; none were requested. She 
asked for a motion to adopt the agenda. 

Action:  Council Member Fisicaro moved to adopt the agenda; the motion was seconded by 
Council Member Silva and carried by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor  
Diana Colvin  
Helen Fisicaro  
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez  
Joseph Silva  

5 0 

PRESENTATION 

 Council Presented John Woodell of the American Red Cross with a proclamation in honor of
Red Cross Month.

 City Manager Sean Rabé presented Assistant Engineer Patrick Yu with a commendation in
honor of his excellent work on the new telephone system project.

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Mayor del Rosario opened the public comment period at 7:47 p.m. and seeing no one come 
forward she closed the public comment period. 

Page 1 of 6 

Item #1



 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the February 11, 2015 Regular Meeting. 

2. Motion to Accept the Minutes from the February 17, 2015 Special Meeting. 

3. Motion to Approve Report of Checks Paid for February 2015. 

4. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Directing City Manager to Submit Beacon Award Application.  

5. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Approving Agreement for Animal Control Services. 

6. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Amending Colma Administrative Code Subchapter 1.10, Master 
Fee Schedule, Relating to Animal Control.  

7. Motion to Accept the 2014 Annual Report on the Implementation of the General Plan, 
Including the Housing Element.  

8. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Approving Contract Amendment with Ratcliff for Architectural 
Services for Town Hall Project.  

9. Motion to Adopt a Resolution Approving Contract with Best Best & Krieger LLP for Legal 
Services.  

10. Motion to Adopt Ordinance Amending Section 5.15.060 of the Colma Municipal Code, Relating 
to Requests for Reasonable Accommodations in Housing (second reading). 

Action: Council Member Silva moved to approve the Consent Calendar items #1-10; the 
motion was seconded by Council Member Fisicaro and carried by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      
Diana Colvin      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez      
Joseph Silva       
 5 0    

Following the adoption of the Consent Calendar, the Mayor swore in new City Attorney 
Christopher Diaz.  

NEW BUSINESS 

11. BULK TELEVISION SERVICES 

Special Projects Management Analyst Roger Peters presented the staff report.  Mayor del 
Rosario opened the public comment period at 8:12 p.m. Resident Mary Brodzin made a 
comment. The Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:13 p.m. Council discussion followed. 

Action: Council Member Fisicaro moved to adopt a Resolution Authorizing the City Manager to 
Negotiate a Bulk Cable Television Services Agreement with Comcast Cable; the motion was 
seconded by Council Member Gonzalez and carried by the following vote: 

 

Page 2 of 6 
 



 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      
Diana Colvin      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez      
Joseph Silva       
 5 0    

 
PUBLIC HEARING 

12. ITALIAN CEMETERY FUNERAL HOME 

City Attorney Christopher Diaz explained that Vice Mayor Colvin and Council Members Fisicaro, 
Gonzalez and Silva all have real property ownership interests within 500 feet of the boundaries 
of the Italian Cemetery, which could constitute a conflict of interest. However, the Political 
Reform Act includes a Small Town Exception, which applies to Colma and allows Vice Mayor 
Colvin and Council Member Silva to participate to establish quorum on this item based on their 
real property’s distance from the Italian Cemetery real property boundaries. Council Members 
Fisicaro and Gonzalez, however, would still have a conflict of interest on this item, and would 
not be able to participate.  
 
Council Members Fisicaro and Gonzalez stepped down from the dais and out of the room.  

 
City Planner Michael Laughlin presented the staff report. Mayor del Rosario opened the public 
comment period at 8:33 p.m. Resident Maureen O’Connor spoke. The Mayor closed the public 
comment period at 8:26 p.m. Council discussion followed. 
 
Action: Council Member Silva made a motion to adopt a Resolution Granting a Conditional Use 
Permit to Use Existing Facilities for a Sate Licensed Funeral Establishment at the Italian 
Cemetery; the motion was seconded by Council Member Colvin and carried by the following 
vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      
Diana Colvin      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez      
Joseph Silva       
 3 0    

 
 Council Members Fisicaro and Gonzalez rejoined the Council on the dais.  
 
 
 
 

Page 3 of 6 
 



 

13. ANIMAL CONTROL ORDINANCE 

City Attorney Christopher Diaz presented the staff report. Mayor del Rosario opened the public 
hearing at 8:41 p.m. and seeing no one come forward to speak, she closed the public comment 
period. Council discussion followed. 

 
Action:  Council Member Silva moved to introduce an Ordinance Amending Colma Municipal 
Code Chapter 8, Relating to Animals, and waive a further reading of the ordinance; the motion 
was seconded by Council Member Fisicaro and carried by the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      
Diana Colvin      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez      
Joseph Silva       
 5 0    

 

14. LAND USE ELEMENT 

City Planner Michael Laughlin presented the staff report. Mayor del Rosario opened the public 
comment hearing at 8:54 p.m. and seeing no one come forward to speak she closed the public 
hearing. Council discussion followed. 
 
Action:  Vice Mayor Colvin moved to adopt a Resolution Adopting a Negative Declaration and 
Amending the General Plan Land Use Element to Remove the Annual Residential Building 
Permit Limit of 50 Units; the motion was seconded by Council Member Gonzalez and carried by 
the following vote: 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
 Aye No Abstain Not Participating   
Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      
Diana Colvin      
Helen Fisicaro      
Raquel “Rae” Gonzalez      
Joseph Silva       
 5 0    

 
STUDY SESSION 

15. RECYCLYING AND SOLID WASTE HAULING FRANCHISE 

Special Projects Management Analyst Roger Peters presented the staff report.  Mayor del 
Rosario opened the public comment period at 9:20 p.m. and seeing no one come forward to 
speak she closed the public hearing. Council discussion followed. 
 
This item was for discussion only; no action was taken. 

Page 4 of 6 
 



16. GENERAL PLAN SURVEY RESULTS

City Planner Michael Laughlin presented the staff report.  Mayor del Rosario opened the public
comment period at 9:59 p.m. and seeing no one come forward to speak she closed the public
hearing. Council discussion followed.

This item was for discussion only; no action was taken

COUNCIL CALENDARING 

There will be a Special City Council Workshop Meeting on Monday, March 23, 2015 at 1:00 
p.m. at the EOC at the Police Department. 

The next Regular City Council Meeting will be on Wednesday, April 8, 2015 at 7:30p.m. at the 
Colma Community Center.  

The Mayor announced, "The Town of Colma is participating in the Wyland Foundations’s 2015 
National Mayor’s Water Conservation Challenge, which takes place April 1st through April 30th.  
In partnership with Cal Water and Bay Area Water Supply and Conservation Agency residents 
may obtain free water conservation kits, rebates for low flow toilets and efficient washing 
machines and cash for grass and rain barrel purchase subsidies.  As we are all aware, 
California drought is continuing, the weather is trending towards warm and dry and the need 
for water conservation is dire.  To take register for the water conservation pledge, go 
to www.mywaterpledge.com and take the brief survey.  Colma residents who take the Mayor’s 
Challenge and submit proof of participation to any Town facility will receive a chance to win 
two free tickets to this Year’s Adult Holiday Party to take place December 12, 2015!  For more 
information please see the Town’s website or contact Lori Burns at Town Hall."  

REPORTS 

Council Members reported on the events listed below: 

Joanne F. del Rosario 
Major Employers Breakfast, 2/19 

Helen Fisicaro 
Major Employers Breakfast, 2/19 

Joseph Silva 
Council of Cities Dinner, hosted by the Redwood City, 2/27

City Manager Sean Rabé reported on the topics below: 

 Administrative Technician III Caitlin Corley recently became Colma’s first-ever, Certified
Municipal Clerk through the International Institute of Municipal Clerks.

 The Hillside Boulevard Phase I Project was awarded Project of the Year for Small Cities
Transportation Projects by the Northern California chapter of the American Public Works
Association. Congratulations to Town Staff and the contractor on this significant
achievement.

Page 5 of 6 

http://www.mywaterpledge.com/


 The Town has received the California Society of Municipal Finance Officers Excellence in
Budgeting Award again this year. This is the third year straight that the Town's budget has
received this prestigious award, which is really an accomplishment for such a small
community.

ADJOURNMENT AND CLOSE IN MEMORY 

The meeting was adjourned by Mayor del Rosario at 10:07 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Caitlin Corley 
Administrative Technician III 

Page 6 of 6 



Item #2











































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



ORDINANCE NO. ## 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8 
RELATING TO ANIMALS 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby ordain as follows: 

ARTICLE 1. COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8-01 AMENDED. 

Subchapter 1 of Chapter 8 of the Colma Municipal Code, entitled “Animal Control” shall be and 
is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

“CHAPTER EIGHT: ANIMALS 

Subchapter One: Animal Control 

8.01.010 Definitions. 

(a) Animal Control Officer means that person designated as the Animal Control Program 
Manager of the Division of Animal Control Services for San Mateo County and his or her duly 
authorized officers or deputies, as well as the President of the County's contract agent and his 
duly authorized officers or deputies. 

(b) Animal Control Program means that program within the Division of Animal Control 
Services of the San Mateo County Health System, or the County's designated contract agent or 
both, which is specifically charged with regulating and enforcing laws dealing with animal 
control within its jurisdiction. 

(c) Animal Control Shelter means the facilities provided by the County or the County’s 
designated contract agent for the impounding of animals. 

(d) Dangerous Animal means any animal, except a trained dog assisting a peace officer 
engaged in law enforcement duties, which, because of its disposition, behavior, training or 
other characteristic, constitutes a danger to persons or property, or which demonstrates any or 
all of the following behavior: 

(1) Any attack or other behavior, which requires a defensive action by any person to 
prevent bodily injury or property damage or that results in an injury to a person or 
property;  

(2) Any aggressive attack or other behavior, that constitutes a substantial threat of 
bodily harm to a person or animal, where such attack, injury or behavior occurs in a 
place where such person is conducting himself or herself peaceably and lawfully;  

(3) Any attack on another animal or livestock which occurs off the property of the 
Owner of the attacking animal; or 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15) Page 1 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  

Item #3



(4) Any animal that has been deemed by another governmental jurisdiction as 
"potentially dangerous," "dangerous," "vicious," or any other similar designation. 

(e) Director of Health System means that person so designated by the governing body of 
the County of San Mateo.  

(f) Health Officer means that person who has been designated by the San Mateo County 
Board of Supervisors as the Health Officer of the County and any other person duly authorized 
by such Health Officer to act on his or her behalf. 

(g) Impoundment means the picking up and confining of an animal by the Animal Control 
Program. 

(h) Licensing Program means that program within the San Mateo County Health System 
which is specifically charged with regulating and selling animal licenses and registrations in San 
Mateo County. 

(i) Master Fee Schedule means the Town of Colma Master Fee Schedule set forth in 
Subchapter 10 of Chapter 1 of the Colma Administrative Code, as amended from time to time 
by the City Council. 

(j) Owner of an animal means that person 18 years of age or older who holds the license to 
the animal, or if the animal is not licensed, that person 18 years or older legally entitled to 
possession of the animal concerned, and who has primary responsibility for the care of the 
animal. 

(k) Peaceably and Lawfully means a person is upon the private property of an Owner of the 
animal when he is on such property in the performance of any duty imposed upon him by the 
laws of this state or any city or county, or by the laws or postal regulations of the United States, 
or when he is on such property upon invitation by the Owner or his/her designee, express or 
implied. 

(l) “Person: [See, section 1.01.100]”. 

(m) Severe Injury means any physical injury directly caused by an animal attack that 
consists of muscle tears, multiple punctures, broken bones or disfiguring lacerations, or which 
requires multiple sutures or corrective or cosmetic surgery. 

(n) Vicious Animal means any animal, except a trained dog assisting a peace officer 
engaged in law enforcement duties, which meets any or all of the following criteria: 

(1) Any animal previously designated as "dangerous," that, after investigation by an 
Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer, is found under conditions which constitute a 
violation of this chapter or applicable Dangerous Animal permit and which demonstrates 
a significant danger to the public health or safety; 

(2) Any animal seized under section 599aa of the Penal Code and/or upon the 
sustaining of a conviction of the Owner or caretaker under subsection (a) of section 
597.5 of the Penal Code; 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 2 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(3) Any animal which inflicts severe injury on or kills a human being or another 
animal; 

(4) Any animal which has engaged in any aggressive behavior which demonstrates 
that the animal represents a clear and present substantial danger to the public health or 
safety and that, due to substantial risk to the public health or safety, it is unlikely that 
the animal could be safely maintained under a Dangerous Animal permit. 

(o) Wolf Hybrid means any offspring of domestic dogs bred to wild canids (e.g., wolves or 
coyotes) and their subsequent generations. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05, ORD. 643, 4/12/06, ORD. ____, _____] 

8.01.020 Animal Control Program. 

(a) Responsibility. The Animal Control Program is responsible for the enforcement of this 
ordinance, and the duties of the Director thereof and his officers, agents, and employees shall 
include, but not be limited to, the following: 

(1) To administer an animal control shelter and keep such records as may be 
required by law or contract. 

(2) To impound animals which are in violation of this ordinance, or for the 
safekeeping of the animal to protect its health and welfare. 

(3) To remove and dispose of the carcass of any animal found on any public 
highway, street, alley, or other public place. 

(4) To quarantine animals under the direction of the San Mateo County Health 
Officer. 

(5) To destroy and dispose of animals after due notice to the Owner and pursuant to 
the procedures set forth herein. 

(6) To sell, when appropriate, impounded animals after due notice to the Owner. 

(7) To enforce all provisions of this ordinance. 

(b) Scope of Authority of Humane Officers and Animal Control Officers.  Humane Officers 
qualified and appointed pursuant to California Corporations Code section 14502, who are 
employees of any public pound, society for prevention of cruelty to animals or humane society 
which has contracted with the County to provide animal control services, shall have the 
authority to issue notices to appear in court pursuant to chapter 5c (commencing with section 
853.5 of title 3 of part 2 of the Penal Code of the State of California) for violations of state and 
local animal control laws.  This authority is based on section 14503 of the Corporations Code.  
Animal Control Officers shall have the authority provided by state law including but not limited 
to that described by Penal Code section 830.9. 

(c) Right to Contract for Animal Control Services. The City Council may contract for animal 
control services to be performed by San Mateo County. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 3 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.030 Rabies Vaccinations. 

Every dog or cat Owner, after his/her dog or cat attains the age of four (4) months of age 
and/or within ten working days of purchasing a license shall procure from a licensed 
veterinarian, an anti-rabies vaccination to be administered in the manner prescribed or 
approved by the State of California Department of Public Health. This vaccination shall be 
obtained prior to issuing a license for the dog or cat. In addition, proof of vaccination shall be 
provided to the licensing program. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.040 Dog and Cat Licenses.   

(a) Requirements. An annual license fee shall be paid for every dog or cat over the age of 
four (4) months owned or harbored in the Town of Colma. Said annual license fee shall be first 
due when the animal reaches four (4) months of age or within 60 days after the dog or cat is 
acquired, and due on the anniversary date of the original purchase date each year thereafter. 
New residents shall have sixty (60) days in which to acquire such license. Persons renewing 
their license shall have thirty (30) days following their due date before being delinquent and 
having to pay a late penalty. The fee for such license shall be as set forth in the Master Fee 
Schedule. The fee paid for the licensing of spayed or neutered dogs and cats shall be less than 
said license fee for unaltered cats or dogs upon presentation of the proper certification. The 
license fee paid by persons over the age of 60 shall be at a discount. For purposes of this 
section any surcharge on the license fee imposed under the Master Fee Schedule shall not be 
considered part of the license fee. Any person who shall fail to pay such license fee after said 
fee is due, or said dog or cat is required to be licensed, shall in addition to paying any past due 
license fee or fees, also pay a penalty in accordance with the Master Fee Schedule. A license 
shall be obtained, but no license fee shall be payable for the licensing of any dog being raised, 
trained or used to assist handicapped persons (such as those provided by Canine Companions) 
including but not limited to any dog which is being trained for guide or hearing purposes by a 
resident of the Town or used for guide or hearing purposes by a handicapped resident of the 
Town and which has come from a guide or hearing dog training facility such as Canine 
Companions, or for dogs which have served as a member of the armed forces of the United 
States of America, or any dog used by a local law enforcement agency for the purposes of 
crime prevention or control. Dog or cat licenses are not transferable between Owners; however, 
if the dog dies and the Owner acquires a new dog, the license is transferable to the new dog. 
The license does not have to be renewed until the original purchase anniversary date. The fee 
paid for a dog or cat license is not refundable. 

(b) Exemptions. The licensing provisions in this ordinance are not applicable to the 
following:  

(1) Dogs or cats used for diagnostic purposes or research, the use having been 
approved by the California State Department of Health Services pursuant to section 1666 
of the Health and Safety Code. 

(2) Dogs or cats used for teaching purposes in recognized educational institutions. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 4 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(3) Dogs or cats owned by veterinarians which are licensed by the State and kept on 
the premises used by said veterinarians in their practice. 

(4) Dogs or cats kept by owners of pet shops for purposes of sale, for circuses, for 
animal exhibits, or for other enterprises for which a business license has been granted 
by the Town of Colma. 

(c) Tags. The Licensing Program shall procure plates or tags which bear the number of the 
license or registration. A record shall be kept with the name of the Owner or possessor together 
with a description of the dog, cat, or wolf hybrid for which the license or registration is issued 
and the number of the license or registration, and a tag shall be provided to such person upon 
payment for such license or registration as provided by this chapter. 

(d) Duplicate Tags. Whenever a tag has been lost or stolen, the Owner or possessor of the 
cat, dog or wolf hybrid concerned may request a duplicate tag upon payment of the required 
fee and on making and subscribing to an affidavit of such loss and filing the same with the 
Licensing Program. 

(e) Wearing of Tag Required. The Owner of a dog, cat, or wolf hybrid for which a license or 
registration is required shall affix such tag to a suitable collar, which collar shall remain on the 
dog, or wolf hybrid at all times. 

(f) Alternative Identification/Implants. Animals with microchip implants or other permanent 
identification acceptable to San Mateo County Animal Control Services shall not be required to 
wear a tag or collar. All other licensing and registration requirements of this section shall apply 
to such dog, cat, or wolf hybrid. 

(g) Records. The Owner or operator of any kennel, animal breeding facility, pet shop, or any 
place or establishment where animals are sold shall keep a permanent record of the name, 
address, and phone number of the purchaser of any dog, cat, or wolf hybrid along with the 
breed, color, sex, and age of each animal sold or given away and shall forward such information 
to the Animal Control Services within thirty (30) days thereafter. An Animal Control Officer shall 
have the right to inspect such records during normal business hours, with forty-eight (48) hours 
prior notice to the Owner or operator. 

(h) Veterinarian Responsibilities. Every veterinarian who vaccinates or causes or directs to 
be vaccinated in the Town any dog, cat, or wolf hybrid with anti-rabies vaccine shall certify that 
such animal has been vaccinated. Every veterinarian shall submit to the licensing authority a 
copy of the County-approved anti-rabies vaccination form, within ten (10) days of the beginning 
of each month, for any dog, cat, or wolf hybrid which he/she vaccinates or directs to be 
vaccinated with anti-rabies during the previous month. An Animal Control Officer or Animal 
Licensing Officer shall have the right to inspect records of rabies vaccinations during normal 
business hours. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. __, ______] 

 

 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 5 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



8.01.045 Three-Year Licensing for Dogs and Cats.  

Notwithstanding section 8.01.040, a three-year license may be obtained for a cat or dog 
(excluding wolf hybrids) by submitting to the Licensing Program adequate proof of a three-year 
rabies vaccination of the animal to be licensed and payment of the applicable fees as set forth 
in the Master Fee Schedule.    

[History: ORD. __, ______] 

8.01.050 Wolf Hybrid Registration. 

Requirements. An annual registration fee shall be paid for every wolf hybrid over the age of 
four (4) months owned or harbored in the Town of Colma. Said registration fee shall be first 
due when the animal reaches four (4) months of age or within sixty (60) days after the animal 
is acquired and due on the anniversary date of the original purchase date each year thereafter. 
All residents shall have sixty (60) days in which to register their wolf hybrid. Persons renewing 
their registration shall have thirty (30) days following their due date before being delinquent 
and having to pay a late penalty. The registration fee shall be as set forth in the Master Fee 
Schedule. The registration fee for spayed or neutered wolf hybrids shall be less than said 
registration fee for unaltered wolf hybrids. At the time of registration, the wolf hybrid Owner 
must show proof that the animal has been given anti-rabies vaccination by a licensed 
veterinarian to be administered in the manner prescribed or approved by the State of California 
Department of Public Health. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03, ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.060 Public Protection From Dogs. 

(a) Every Owner or possessor of a dog shall at all times prevent such dog from biting or 
physically harassing any person engaged in a lawful act and from interfering with the lawful use 
of public or private property. 

(b) Every Owner or possessor of a dog shall at all times prevent such dog from causing 
substantial injury to another domestic animal while such domestic animal is lawfully upon public 
or private property. Substantial injury means any injury which results in veterinarian treatment 
or death. 

(c) Every Owner or possessor of a dog shall desist from commanding or provoking such dog 
to attack, sic or threaten a person when such person is peaceably and lawfully upon public or 
private property. 

(d) Any person who violates any provision of subsections (a), (b), or (c) of this section is 
guilty of a misdemeanor. A trained dog assisting a peace officer engaged in law enforcement 
duties is excluded from this section. 

(e) Nothing in subsection (a) of this section shall authorize the bringing of a criminal action 
arising out of bite(s) upon or physical harassment of members of the dog Owner’s or 
possessor’s household.   

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 6 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.070 Prohibited Conduct. 

No Owner or possessor of any animal shall cause or permit it to do any of the following: 

(a) To be upon any public street, sidewalk, park, school ground, any public property, or 
upon any unenclosed premises in the Town of Colma unless the animal is properly licensed, if 
such licensing is necessary hereunder, and under the control of the Owner by being saddled, 
harnessed, haltered, or leashed by a substantial chain, lead rope, or leash, which chain, lead 
rope, or leash shall be continuously held by some competent person capable of controlling such 
animal. 

(b) To trespass upon any private property without the consent of the owner thereof, and to 
knowingly permit the animal to remain upon the property or to habitually continue to trespass 
thereon. 

(c) To suffer or permit such animal to habitually bark or meow or act in such a manner as 
to continuously disturb the peace of any citizen or to be a public nuisance. 

(d) To be without proper and adequate food, water, shelter, care, and attention as 
described to in section 597(f) of the Penal Code. 

(e) Subsection (a) of this section shall not be applicable to cats. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ____, _____] 

8.01.072. Feeding Birds and Wild Animals Prohibited.   

It shall be unlawful for any person to feed or offer food to any bird or wild animal in or on any 
sidewalk, street, highway or public property of the Town of Colma. 

[History: ORD. 637, 11/09/05; ORD. 636, 12/14/05; ORD. 637, 11/9/05; ORD. ____, 
_____] 

8.01.075 Animal Wastes.    

(a) It is unlawful for the Owner or person having custody of any animal to fail to 
immediately remove and dispose of in a sanitary manner, by placing in a closed or sealed 
container and depositing in a trash receptacle, any feces deposited by such dog animal upon 
private or public property not owned or controlled by the Owner or person having custody of 
such dog animal. 

(b) No person having the care, custody, charge or control of any animal shall permit or 
allow that animal on any public sidewalk, public park or on any other public property, or on any 
private property owned by someone other than the Owner or person who has custody or 
control of the animal, unless that person has, in his or her possession, an implement or device 
capable of removing any feces deposited by the animal. 

(c) The provisions of this section shall not be applicable to: 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 7 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(1) Any animal enrolled and participating in obedience classes or in any show for 
which the Town has issued a special event permit; 

(2) Any guide dog while being used by a blind person; or 

(3) Any domestic feline. 

[History: ORD. 625, 12/08/04, ORD. ____, _____] 

8.01.080 Protection of Animals in Motor Vehicles. 

(a) No person, other than an individual actually working a dog or other animal for ranching 
purposes, shall transport or carry on any public highway or public roadway, any dog or other 
animal in a motor vehicle unless the dog or other animal is safely enclosed within the vehicle or 
protected by a cap or container, cage, cross-tether, or other device to prevent the animal from 
falling from, being thrown from, or jumping from said motor vehicle. As used herein "motor 
vehicle" includes, without limitation, automobile, pickup truck and trailer. 

(b) No person shall leave a dog or other animal in any unattended motor vehicle without 
adequate ventilation, sanitary conditions, or in such a manner as to subject the animal to 
extreme temperatures which adversely effect the animal's health or safety. 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this ordinance, a violation of subsections (a) or 
(b) of this section shall be an infraction. Any Animal Control Officer or peace officer who 
witnesses such a violation shall have the right to impound the animal if, in his or her opinion, 
the animal's health or safety is or will be thereby endangered. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.090 Release for Confinement. 

No person other than the Owner or person authorized by the Owner of the animal shall release 
any animal from any confinement, vehicle or restraint unless such release is necessary to the 
immediate health and safety of the animal. This section shall not apply to peace officers or 
Animal Control Officers. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.100 Dangerous Animal Permit Required.  

(a) No person shall knowingly keep, have, maintain, sell, trade or let for hire an animal 
designated under the provisions of this chapter as dangerous without obtaining a Dangerous 
Animal permit from the Animal Control Officer.  The animal Owner shall comply with all 
conditions of the Dangerous Animal permit including, but not limited to, all requirements of 
section 8.01.120 of this chapter.  Any animal which is determined to be dangerous under this 
chapter and for which a permit has not been obtained shall be surrendered to an Animal Control 
Officer for appropriate disposition including humane destruction. 

(b) If an Animal Control Officer or peace officer has investigated and determined that an 
animal is dangerous, the Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer shall deliver written notice 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 8 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



of such determination to the Owner of the animal.  Should the animal pose a threat to the 
public health and safety, an Animal Control Officer may immediately impound the animal. 

(c) If, after investigation by an Animal Control Officer or peace officer, that officer 
determines that probable cause does not exist to believe the animal is dangerous, any 
interested person may appeal that determination by submitting within five (5) calendar days of 
the decision a written request to the Animal Control Officer or peace officer for a hearing and 
paying the required fee.  The hearing shall be conducted according to the procedures set forth 
in section 8.01.115 of this chapter. 

(d) In determining whether or not an animal shall be declared dangerous, the Animal 
Control Officer, peace officer or hearing officer appointed pursuant to section 8.01.115, may 
consider, as a mitigating factor or factors, whether, at the time of the injury, attack or 
molestation, the person or animal suffering the injury, attack or molestation: 

(1) Provoked, tormented, teased, abused or assaulted the animal thereby causing or 
contributing to the alleged behavior; 

(2) Committed a willful trespass or other tort upon the private property of the Owner 
or caretaker of the animal; 

(3) Threatened or committed an unjustified attack or assault against the Owner, 
caretaker or person in control of the animal. 

(4) Or any other mitigating factors deemed appropriate for consideration by the 
Animal Control Officer, peace officer or hearing officer. 

(e) Upon receipt of written or oral notification by the Animal Control Officer and/or peace 
officer that an animal is dangerous as defined in this chapter, the Owner shall submit an 
application for a Dangerous Animal permit to the Animal Control Officer within five (5) calendar 
days. The application for a permit shall contain the name of the applicant, applicant's address, 
the applicant's home and business phone numbers, the address and description of the proposed 
location of where the animal will be kept, if different from applicant's, a complete description 
and a photograph of the animal.  The permit shall contain all of the requirements of section 
8.01.120 and any additional conditions or requirements deemed necessary by the Animal 
Control Officer or peace officer to protect the public health or safety. 

(f) Should the Owner of the animal wish to contest the Dangerous Animal designation, the 
Owner may request a hearing, to be conducted according to the procedures set forth in section 
8.01.115 of this chapter.  The Owner shall submit a written request for a Dangerous Animal 
hearing to the Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer within five (5) calendar days of 
written notification by the Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer that the animal has been 
declared dangerous.  Should the Owner not submit a request for a hearing within five (5) 
calendar days of notification, the hearing process shall be deemed waived by the Owner, and 
the Dangerous Animal declaration will be considered final by the County Director of the Health 
System, or the Town.  In that event, the County Director of the Health System or the Town 
may allow the Dangerous Animal permit to be issued without a hearing.  Unless a Dangerous 
Animal permit is immediately obtained, the animal shall be impounded at the Owner’s expense 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 9 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



pending appropriate disposition as determined by the Animal Control Officer and/or peace 
officer. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.105 Declaration of Vicious Animals. 

(a) No person shall keep, have, maintain, sell, trade or let for hire an animal which has been 
designated as vicious pursuant to this chapter. 

(b) If an Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer has investigated and determined that 
an animal is vicious, the Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer shall deliver to the Owner 
of the animal written notice of that determination.  The Animal Control Officer and/or peace 
officer shall immediately impound or cause to be impounded the animal and shall cause the 
animal to be humanely destroyed unless the Owner requests a hearing under subsection (c) of 
this section. 

(c) If the Owner of the animal disputes the designation of an animal as a Vicious Animal by 
the Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer he or she may submit a written request for a 
hearing to the Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer within five (5) calendar days of 
notification.  Such hearing shall be conducted according to the procedures set forth in section 
8.01.115 of this chapter.  Failure of the Owner to request a hearing shall result in the animal 
being declared vicious and humanely destroyed.  The Vicious Animal declaration will be 
considered final by the County Director of the Health System, or the Town. 

(d) If, after investigation by an Animal Control Officer or peace officer, that officer 
determines that probable cause does not exist to believe that the animal is vicious, any 
interested person may appeal that determination by submitting within five (5) calendar days of 
the decision a written request to the Animal Control Officer or peace officer for a hearing and 
paying the required fee. 

(e) In determining whether or not an animal shall be declared vicious, the Animal Control 
Officer, peace officer or hearing officer may consider, as a mitigating factor or factors, whether 
at the time of the injury, attack or behavior, the person or animal suffering the injury, attack or 
behavior for which the animal is being determined vicious: 

(1) Provoked, tormented, teased, abused or assaulted the animal thereby causing or 
contributing to the alleged behavior; 

(2) Committed a willful trespass or other tort upon the private property of the Owner 
or caretaker of the animal; 

(3) Threatened or committed an unjustified attack or assault against the Owner, 
caretaker or person in control of the animal; or 

(4) Any other mitigating factors deemed appropriate for consideration by the Animal 
Control Officer, peace officer or hearing officer. 

[History: ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. ___, _____] 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 10 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



8.01.110 Issuance of Permit for Dangerous Animal. 

(a) No permit obtained under this section is transferable. If the Owner's address or the 
location where the animal is kept changes or the Owner transfers ownership of the animal, the 
permit shall become null and void and an application for a new permit must be submitted to the 
Animal Control Officer. 

(b) The issuance of the permit shall be conditioned upon the animal Owner, possessor or 
permittee promising to adhere to the rules and regulations of this chapter specified in section 
8.01.120 an to any reasonable criteria related to the proper care, control, maintenance and use 
of the animal which the peace officer or Animal Control Officer shall establish. 

(c) A permit issued under this chapter is subject to renewal and approval each year and is 
subject to conditions and requirements existing as of the date of renewal. The permittee shall 
pay an annual fee for this permit pursuant to the procedures established by the Division of 
Animal Control Services of the County Health System. If permittee fails to file an application for 
renewal or pay the permit fee prior to the permit anniversary date the permit shall automatically 
become void. The fee for such permit shall be as set forth in the Master Fee Schedule. This fee 
shall not be refundable. 

(d) If the Owner or permittee has a history of multiple violations of this chapter or of the 
conditions of any previously issued Dangerous Animal permit, the Animal Control Officer or 
hearing officer may deny the permit and impound the animal for appropriate disposition as 
determined by the Animal Control Officer or hearing officer. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. ___, ______] 

8.01.115 Hearing Procedures 

(a) Hearings held under this chapter shall be conducted by a hearing officer or designated 
representative appointed by the Director of the San Mateo County Health System.  Alternatively, 
the Town may elect to utilize the services of any San Mateo County designated hearing officer 
to hold hearings under this chapter, and may appoint any such hearing officer in its discretion.  
The hearings shall be scheduled no less than five (5) working days and no more than fifteen 
(15) working days from the receipt of the request for the hearing unless agreed upon by the 
involved Animal Control Officer or peace officer and the animal Owner.  A hearing may be 
continued if the hearing officer deems it necessary and proper or if the Owner, or Animal 
Control Officer and/or peace officer shows good cause. 

(b) The hearing shall be conducted in an informal manner consistent with due process of 
law.  Both the Owner of the animal and Animal Control Officer and/or peace officer may be 
represented by counsel.  The parties may present relevant evidence and call and cross-examine 
witnesses.  The strict rules of evidence shall not be applicable.  Any relevant evidence may be 
admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the 
conduct of serious affairs.  The hearing shall be tape-recorded and all documentary evidence 
submitted at the hearing shall be preserved.  Any party may arrange for a court reporter to be 
present.  Any party desiring the presence of a court reporter shall make all necessary 
arrangements and shall be responsible for payment of all costs. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 11 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(c) The hearing officer may exclude disorderly or disruptive persons from the hearing or 
make other orders as necessary to ensure the fair and orderly conduct of the hearing. 

(d) The hearing officer may decide all issues for or against the Owner of the animal should 
the Owner fail to appear at the hearing. 

(e) Within five (5) working days of the hearing, the hearing officer shall render a brief 
written decision, which decision shall be final at the administrative level.  The written decision 
shall be mailed to the parties by certified mail and include a declaration or proof of mailing 
which includes the date on which the decision was mailed to the parties. 

(f) Unless the hearing officer for good cause otherwise determines, the Owner of the 
animal is liable for all costs related to such hearing not to exceed three-hundred and fifty dollars 
($350). 

(g) The failure to conduct a hearing required by this section shall have no bearing on any 
criminal prosecution for violation of any provisions of this chapter. 

(h) In the case of animals determined by an Animal Control Officer or peace officer to be 
dangerous or vicious, the hearing officer may decide any or all of the following: 

(1) That the animal be designated “vicious” and the Owner of the animal lose all 
rights of ownership and control of the animal and the animal shall be humanely 
destroyed.  An animal designated as vicious will be held at the animal shelter for a 
minimum of five (5) calendar days from the date of the hearing officer’s decision, after 
which time it may be humanely destroyed without further notice to the Owner; 

(2) That the animal be designated “dangerous” and the Owner must apply for and 
obtain a Dangerous Animal permit as provided by this chapter within five (5) calendar 
days of receipt of the decision letter in order to maintain the animal and the Owner must 
comply with all mandatory Dangerous Animal permit rules and regulations as defined in 
section 8.01.120; 

(3) That the Dangerous Animal permit shall contain additional permit conditions to 
supplement the mandatory Dangerous Animal permit rules and regulations as defined in 
section 8.01.120, including, but not limited to, the following: 

(A) That the Owner keep the animal muzzled at all times when the animal is 
off the Owner’s property; 

(B) That the Owner prove financial responsibility by posting a bond or 
certificate of insurance for an amount of $1,000,000 per animal as determined 
by the hearing officer; 

(C) That the Owner provide private behavioral and obedience training to the 
animal, at the Owner’s expense and within the time set forth by the hearing 
officer following the issuance of a Dangerous Animal permit.  Proof of 
participation, a report of behavioral assessment, and/or a certificate of 
satisfactory completion from an animal behaviorist or organization approved by 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 12 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



the hearing officer shall be provided to the Animal Control Officer within seven 
(7) calendar days following any required training; 

(D) That the Owner comply with any other permit requirement the hearing 
officer deems necessary to protect the public health or safety; 

(E) That the Owner reimburse the victim for the victim’s medical expenses or 
the victim animal’s veterinary expenses; and 

(F) Pursuant to section 8.01.160 of this chapter, that the Dangerous Animal 
permit be modified as ordered by the hearing officer, or revoked and the animal 
humanely destroyed. 

[History: ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. ___, ______] 

8.01.120 Mandatory Dangerous Animal Permit Requirements. 

Any Owner of a Dangerous Animal shall insure compliance with the following rules and 
regulations which shall be mandatory requirements for any Dangerous Animal permit: 

(a) When the animal is off the property of its Owner, the Owner must ensure that the 
animal is restrained with a leash not to exceed four (4) feet in length and having a minimum 
tensile strength of 300 pounds and shall be under the direct control and supervision of the 
Owner or a person of such age, size and strength as can easily control such animal. 
Extraordinary care shall be taken by the Owner to ensure that such restraint is sufficient to 
control the animal in a manner which it will not endanger other persons or animals. 

(b) The Owner shall maintain the animal so that it is not a threat to any mail carrier, 
sanitation worker, meter person, or other person who has the lawful right to enter the property. 

(c) The Owner shall ensure that the animal is not kept upon any unenclosed premise unless 
it is leashed and controlled by a person capable of controlling such animal. The Owner shall 
ensure that the animal is not tethered, tied or staked at any unenclosed premise.  The Owner 
shall ensure that the animal is not kept in a house or structure when the windows or doors are 
open or screen doors are the only obstacle preventing the animal from exiting the structure. 

(d) The Owner shall ensure that the animal is kept in a fenced yard, kennel, run or 
enclosure approved by the Animal Control Officer or peace officer. The Owner shall ensure that 
all structures used to confine the animals are locked with a key or combination lock when such 
animals are within the structure.  The Owner shall regularly inspect the fenced yard, kennel, run 
or enclosure to ensure that it is secure to maintain the animal. 

(e) The Owner shall open premises upon which an animal is maintained at any reasonable 
hour for inspection by the Animal Control Officer or peace officer and said premises shall be 
surrendered for inspection by the Owner upon the request of the Animal Control Officer or 
peace officer. The Owner shall pay a fee for the costs incurred by the County or the Town for 
the inspection or reinspection of property. Such fee shall be set forth in the Master Fee 
Schedule. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 13 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(f) The Owner of the Dangerous Animal shall post the entrances to the property where the 
animal is kept with a legible sign conspicuous to the public, warning persons of the presence of 
a Dangerous Animal.  The Owner of the Dangerous Animal shall obtain an approved sign from 
the Animal Control Program for a non-refundable fee and shall surrender such sign in the event 
of the revocation of the permit, death of animal, or approved relocation of the animal, or upon 
any other reasonable demand by an Animal Control Officer. 

(g) The Owner of any Dangerous Animal must advise all members who reside in the same 
household and on the same premises of the conditions established by the permit for keeping or 
maintaining said Dangerous Animal. 

(h) The Owner shall strictly comply with all local and state laws, rules and regulations 
regarding the care, use, control and maintenance of animals. 

(i) In addition to a license, the Owner shall ensure that the animal shall at all times wear a 
separate tag issued by the Division of Animal Control Services which designates it as a 
Dangerous Animal.  The Owner shall ensure that the Dangerous Animal be microchipped and 
registered with the Animal Control Program for a fee specified by the Master Fee Schedule 
within thirty (30) calendar days from the date the permit was issued. The animal Owner shall 
be responsible for payment of said fee which shall be utilized by the Animal Control Program to 
offset the cost of the chip and to maintain the registration program. 

(j) The Owner shall have the animal spayed or neutered by a licensed veterinarian, at the 
Owner’s expense, within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date the permit was issued.  The 
Owner shall present written proof to the Animal Control Officer that the surgery was performed.  
In the event an animal cannot be safely spayed or neutered due to medical reasons, the Owner 
shall present written proof from a licensed practicing veterinarian to the Animal Control Officer 
that said animal cannot be spayed or neutered. 

(k) The Owner may not sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of such animal to another County 
or City without notifying the Animal Control Program at least twenty-four (24) hours before 
such sale, transfer or disposal.  The Animal Control Program will notify the proper authorities of 
the jurisdiction to which the Dangerous Animal is transferred.  Should the Owner of a 
Dangerous Animal wish to transfer ownership of the animal to another individual within San 
Mateo County, the new Owner must submit to a property inspection, apply for and obtain a new 
Dangerous Animal permit, pay all requisite fees, and comply with all provisions of this chapter 
and the requirements of the permit. 

(l) No more than two Dangerous Animals may be kept at any one household. 

(m) The Owner shall not allow any animal designated “dangerous” as the result of 
aggression against human(s) to be kept on property or within a household in which a juvenile 
person under the age of eighteen resides. 

(n) The Owner of a Dangerous Animal must notify the Animal Control Officer of the animal’s 
death within twenty-four (24) hours and shall produce the animal’s body for verification upon 
request.  The Owner of a Dangerous Animal must notify the Animal Control Officer immediately 
in the event the animal becomes lost or stolen. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 14 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(o) The Owner must pay all permit and property inspection fees as described in the Master 
Fee Schedule. 

(p) The Owner shall comply with all other permit conditions or requirements imposed 
pursuant to section 8.01.115 or 8.01.100(a). 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. __, _____] 

8.01.130 Repealed.  

[History: Ord. 606, 9/10/03; Ord. 635, 10/12/05, Ord. 643, 4/12/06; ORD. __, _____] 

8.01.140 Possession of Animals After Revocation of Dangerous Animal Permit or  
  Vicious Declaration. 

No person who has been determined to be in possession or ownership of a Vicious Animal or a 
Dangerous Animal for which a permit has been revoked under this chapter shall be granted any 
Dangerous Animal permit for a period of three years following such determination or revocation. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03, ORD. 635, 10/12/05] 

8.01.150 Inspection fee. 

A fee shall be charged for the costs incurred by the County or the Town for the inspection or 
reinspection of property. The fee charged shall be paid by the Owner or person who has 
custody of the animal. Such fee shall be set forth in the Master Fee Schedule. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, ______] 

8.01.160 Revocation or Modification of Permit. 

(a) Subject to the provision of subsection (b), any permit issued pursuant to this subchapter 
may be revoked or modified by the inclusion of additional requirements or otherwise, if the 
Animal Control Officer has reasonable cause to believe any of the following to be true: 

(1) The Dangerous Animal Owner or any person the Owner has allowed to have 
possession of the animal has violated any local animal ordinances, or is in violation of 
any zoning, health and safety or building ordinance or Penal Code section relating to the 
keeping, care or use of any animals; 

(2) The Owner or any person the Owner has allowed to have possession of the 
animal has violated any rules, regulations or conditions of this chapter including but not 
limited to Dangerous Animal permit conditions, or any requirement imposed by the 
Animal Control Officer, peace officer or hearing officer as necessary to insure the animal 
will not endanger the peace, health or safety of any person or property; or 

(3) The Owner has changed the location of his residence or his place of business or 
sells, assigns, transfers, donates, leases, or otherwise disposes of the animal for which 
the permit was issued. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 15 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(b) In the event that it is reasonably necessary to protect against a threat to the health or 
safety of the public, or of any animal, the Animal Control Officer or peace officer may impound 
or cause to be impounded the animal while an investigation is taking place. 

(c) If, after investigation, the Animal Control Officer or peace officer concludes that it is 
probable that one or more of the above grounds for revocation or modification of the permit 
has occurred, the Officer shall cause written notice thereof to be transmitted to the Owner.  
Said notice shall specify the grounds of revocation or modification of the permit.  Should the 
Owner of the animal wish to contest the revocation or modification of the permit, he or she may 
request a hearing to be held before a hearing officer not previously involved with the permit 
issuance or investigation, as designated by the Director of Health System, or the Town, within 
five (5) calendar days of receiving the notice of intent to modify or revoke permit.  Said hearing 
date shall be not less than five (5) working days or more than 15 working days subsequent to 
the date the request for hearing is received.  The hearing shall be conducted as set forth in 
section 8.01.115 of this chapter.  After the hearing, the hearing officer conducting the hearing 
may modify the terms of the permit or revoke the permit depending upon the Owner's ability to 
comply with the requirements of this chapter and to control the animal so that the health, 
safety and property of the public are protected. 

(d) Upon written or oral notification by the Animal Control Officer, or hearing officer if a 
hearing was held, of any modifications to a Dangerous Animal permit, the Owner shall 
immediately comply with such modified permit requirements. 

(e) Upon written or oral notification by the Animal Control Officer, or hearing officer if a 
hearing was held, of the revocation of a permit for a Dangerous Animal, the Owner of such 
animal shall within two (2) calendar days of such notification surrender said animal to an Animal 
Control Officer to be humanely destroyed, or provide written proof to an Animal Control Officer 
in the form of declaration(s) under penalty of perjury that such animal has been permanently 
removed from the County of San Mateo and declaring the new location or new address where 
the animal is to be kept. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.170 Animals To Be Impounded. 

(a) Every animal kept or found by an Animal Control Officer or peace officer under 
conditions which constitute a violation of this chapter or other state or local law may be 
impounded or caused to be impounded by an Animal Control Officer or peace officer.  The 
animal's Owner shall be charged with all costs incurred or fees applicable with respect to such 
impoundment. 

(b) When the Animal Control Officer or peace officer has reasonable cause to believe that 
any animal is dangerous or vicious the Animal Control Officer or peace officer may also impound 
or cause to be impounded the animal and keep it for such period not to exceed fifteen (15) 
days in order to observe, examine and determine whether or not such animal is dangerous or 
vicious. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 16 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(c) Any animal subject to Dangerous or Vicious Animal proceedings may be impounded at 
the discretion of the Animal Control Officer or peace officer pending notice, hearings and 
determinations hereunder and until any required permit is obtained. 

(d) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter or state law, an impounded animal may be 
redeemed by the Owner, after payment of the required fees and charges and compliance with 
licensing requirements.  In the event such animal is not so redeemed within the time set forth 
by state law, it may be disposed of in the manner determined by an Animal Control Officer. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. ___, ____] 

8.01.180 Notice of Impounded Animals. 

Within twenty-four (24) hours of the impoundment of any animal, the Animal Control Officer 
shall mail a written notice thereof to the place of business or residence of the Owner of the 
animal if known.  In the event the animal may not be redeemed as provided by subsection (d) 
of section 8.01.170, the Owner may request a hearing under section 8.01.115, subsections (a) 
– (g) of this chapter or applicable state law.  The Animal Control Officer shall maintain records 
of said impoundment pursuant to section 8.01.200 of this chapter. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05; ORD. __, ____] 

8.01.190 Repealed. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. __, _____] 

8.01.200 Record of Impounded Animals. 

The Animal Control Program shall keep a record of all animals impounded, which record shall 
include a description of the animal, the date of its receipt, the date and manner of disposal, the 
name of the person redeeming or purchasing, and the fees and charges and proceeds of sales 
received on account thereof, and such additional matters as may be necessary and incidental to 
implementing this ordinance. Said records shall be kept for four years. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 635, 10/12/05] 

8.01.210 Field Return Fee. 

A fee shall be charged for any animal impounded by an Animal Control Officer or peace officer 
and returned by the officer in the field to the Owner or person who has custody of the animal. 
The fee charged shall be paid by the Owner or person who has custody of the animal. Such fee 
shall be set forth in the Master Fee Schedule. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.220 Redemption/Spay Neuter Fee. 

(a) Except as otherwise provided by this ordinance or by any other law, the Owner or 
person entitled to the control or custody of any animal impounded may, at any time before the 
sale or other disposition thereof, redeem the same by paying all proper fees assessed by Animal 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 17 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



Control Services.  The Animal Control Services shall issue to the Owner duplicate receipts for 
the amount of the fee paid. 

(b) Upon redemption of any impounded unaltered animal, the Owner will be required to pay 
a spay/neuter fee in the amount of $35.00 in addition to all applicable impound and redemption 
fees imposed under the Master Fee Schedule. Such fee shall be refundable upon proof of the 
spay/neuter of the animal within thirty (30) days of the redemption date. Any unaltered animal 
impounded twice or more within a three-year period shall be altered at the Owner's expense 
prior to redemption. At the option of the Owner, required spaying or neutering may be 
performed by a private veterinarian. 

(c) Any Owner of an impounded animal subject to mandatory spay/neuter under subsection 
(b) of this section may petition, in writing, for a hearing conducted by the Animal Control 
Program Manager or his or her designee within three days following notice of the second 
impoundment. The hearing shall be held within four working days of such petition and shall be 
subject to the provisions of section 8.01.115, subsections (a) through (g) of this chapter. After 
the hearing, the hearing officer may require that the animal be spayed or neutered at the 
Owner's expense, unless the hearing officer determines that good cause exists for not requiring 
that the animal be spayed or neutered. 

[History: Ord. 606, 9/10/03; Ord. 635, 10/12/05; Ord. __, ____] 

8.01.230 Redemption Fees. 

Fees for animal shelter services shall be as set forth in the Master Fee Schedule. No animal shall 
be released to its Owner or possessor unless and until such fees are paid in full. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03] 

8.01.240 License Fee To Be Paid Upon Redemption. 

No impounded dog may be redeemed unless and until its license fee and applicable penalty has 
been paid. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03] 

8.01.250 Epidemics. 

The San Mateo County Health System may determine and declare that rabies or other 
contagious diseases are epidemic or that other health and safety hazards exist among dogs or 
other animals within the Town. Upon the making of such a declaration, the County Health 
Officer shall prepare and promulgate such orders, rules, and regulations as are necessary for 
appropriate control of all the animals concerned within the Town. Said rules and regulations of 
the County Health Officer may include, but are not limited to, impoundment, quarantine, 
vaccination, or destruction. It shall be the duty of Animal Control Officers to assist the County 
Health Officer in carrying out such rules and regulations. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 18 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



8.01.260 Bite Reporting Requirements. 

It is the duty of every person having knowledge that any animal has bitten a human being to 
report that fact immediately to the County Health System, the Animal Control Program or to the 
Colma Police Department. 

[History: Ord. 606, 9/10/03; Ord. __, ______] 

8.01.270 Quarantine Fee. 

A fee shall be charged for the costs incurred by the County or the Town for the quarantine of 
animals including but not limited to investigation, inspection of property, confinement, 
examination and release of the animal from quarantine. The fee charged shall be paid by the 
Owner or person who has custody of the animal. Such fee shall be in addition to the actual 
costs of the Health Officer or his designee in housing, feeding and otherwise caring for a 
quarantined animal. Such fee shall be set forth in the Master Fee Schedule. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. __, _____] 

8.01.280 Service Fees. 

Animal Control Service fees for redemption of impounded animals, relinquishment, adoption, 
disposal, abatement, rescue, veterinary treatment or other services pursuant to this chapter, 
shall be set forth in the Town of Colma Master Fee Schedule, Subchapter 10 of Chapter 1 of the 
Colma Administrative Code, as amended from time to time by the City Council, which is hereby 
incorporated into this chapter by this reference.  Fees for costs incurred in the provision of 
services by the Animal Control Program that are not specified in the Master Fee Schedule shall 
be reviewed by the Director of Health System or his/her designee and established based on the 
Director’s evaluation of what fee is necessary to reimburse the Animal Control Program for its 
costs incurred in providing the service.  In the event the cost is incurred by the Town, the City 
Manager or his/her designee shall review the fee and determine if the fee is necessary to 
reimburse the Town for costs incurred in providing services. The Director of Health System or 
his/her designee or the City Manager or his/her designee shall have the authority to determine 
the fee charged for said services. The fee charged shall be paid by the Owner or person who 
has custody of animal(s) for which said services have been provided. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. __, _____] 

8.01.290 Repealed.  

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.300 Penalty for Violations.   

(a) Except as specifically stated elsewhere, any violation of the provisions of this ordinance, 
including those provisions relating to required fees, shall be punishable as an infraction, the 
penalty for which is set forth in section 1.05.020, et seq. of this Code. 

(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a), any person violating any provision of sections 
8.01.100(a) or 8.01.105(a) shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.   

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 19 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03, ORD. 643, 4/12/06; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.01.310 Use of License and Other Revenue. 

All revenue derived from the fee schedule and from fines, forfeitures, and penalties related to 
the enforcement of this ordinance shall be used to offset the cost of enforcement and 
administration of this ordinance and the Animal Control Program. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

ARTICLE 2. COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8-02 AMENDED. 

Subchapter 2 of Chapter 8 of the Colma Municipal Code, entitled “Spaying, Neutering and 
Breeding” shall be and is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

“CHAPTER EIGHT: ANIMALS 

Subchapter Two: Spaying, Neutering and Breeding 

8.02.010 Definitions. 

For the purposes of this chapter, the definitions contained in section 8.01.010 shall apply. 

[History: Ord. 606, 9/10/03] 

8.02.020 Spaying/Neutering. 

(a) Any person who owns or harbors within the Town of Colma, any cat or dog over the age 
of six months which has not been spayed or neutered, shall procure either a license to keep an 
unaltered dog or cat or a license and permit for breeding cats or dogs issued by the San Mateo 
County Animal Control Program under section 8.02.030 of this chapter. 

(b) A license shall be issued for an unaltered dog or cat if the Owner signs a written 
statement that such animal will not be allowed to breed unless the Owner has first obtained a 
breeding permit under section 8.02.030 of this code. 

(c) Any person providing care or sustenance for a period of thirty days or longer shall be 
deemed the Owner of such animal and shall adhere to the provision of the section. 

(d) Subsection (c) above shall not be interpreted to apply to a person caring for barn cats or 
a colony of feral cats if such person: 

(1) Registers (at no charge) with the Peninsula Humane Society or the San Mateo 
County Animal Control Services as a caretaker for barn cats or feral cats.   

(2) Regularly feeds or arranges for the feeding of the cats, including on weekends 
and holidays; 

(3) Traps or makes a reasonable effort to trap all barn or feral cats over the age of 
eight (8) weeks in his/her care, and has them spayed or neutered; 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 20 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(4) Has all trapped cats tested for feline leukemia and has those who test positive 
humanely euthanized or isolated indoors; 

(5) Identifies barn or feral cats that have been spayed or neutered by means of ear 
notching, ear tipping, or ear tagging; 

(6) Has all trapped cats vaccinated according to state and local laws. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. __, _____] 

8.02.030 Breeding Permits; Administration. 

(a) No person shall cause or allow any dog or cat owned or harbored, in the Town of 
Colma, to breed without first obtaining a breeding permit under this section. 

(b) The San Mateo County Animal Control Services shall administer a permit program to 
allow breeding of cats and dogs consistent with criteria and according to procedures contained 
in this chapter. 

(c) Each applicant who is issued a permit to breed cats or dogs under this section shall pay 
a breeding permit fee according to the fee schedule contained in the Master Fee Schedule of 
this code. 

(d) No person shall cause or allow the breeding of a male or female dog or cat without first 
obtaining a breeding permit issued by the Animal Control Services. Such breeding permit is 
required in addition to any license required under section 8.01.040 of this code. Breeding 
permits shall be valid for twelve (12) months, renewable on an annual basis. Fees for such 
permit shall be as set forth in the Master Fee Schedule. All breeding permits shall contain the 
following terms and conditions and be subject to all of the following requirements: 

(1) No offspring may be sold or adopted and permanently placed until reaching an 
age of at least eight (8) weeks. 

(2) No offspring may be sold or adopted until immunized against common diseases, 
or until they have begun a course of disease prevention under the direction of a State of 
California licensed veterinarian. 

(3) If within one year of placement a new Owner becomes unable or unwilling to 
continue ownership and responsibility for an animal, the permit holder shall assist in 
placement of the animal. If no suitable placement can be found within six (6) months, 
the permit older shall accept return of the animal, if healthy and shall become fully 
responsible for its care. 

(4) Any permit holder advertising to the public the availability of any animal for 
adoption or sale must prominently display the permit numbers in any publications in 
which they advertise. Further, the permit number must be provided to any person 
adopting or purchasing an animal bred by the permit holder. 

(5) The breeding permit holder shall adhere to minimum standards regarding the 
care and keeping of animals developed and approved by the Animal Control Services. 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 21 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, ______] 

8.02.040 Sale or Adoption of Cats, Dogs or Wolf Hybrids. 

(a) Any person who provides or offers to the public, whether or not for compensation, any 
cat, dog, or wolf hybrid shall provide to their clients, free of charge, information relating to pet 
care and ownership, including information where applicable, on Town laws pertaining to animal 
control. This required information will be prepared and provided by San Mateo County Animal 
Control Services upon request. 

(b) Any person offering cats, dogs, or wolf hybrids for sale or adoption shall disclose to any 
purchaser or adoptive Owner information regarding the licensing, registration or permit 
requirements of the Town of Colma applicable to such animal. 

(c) No person shall offer for sale or adoption any cat, dog, or wolf hybrid on any public 
street, sidewalk or public park unless such person first obtains a business license to sell pets or 
is a recognized pet rescue/adoption agency such as Pets in Need and the Peninsula Humane 
Society. 

(d) Prior to release for adoption, any animal adopted from any animal welfare agency shall 
be spayed or neutered as early as is medically appropriate, unless the adoptive Owner obtains a 
certificate from a licensed veterinarian certifying as to the health reasons for failing to alter such 
animal. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, ______] 

8.02.050 Revocation of Permit. 

(a) Any permit issued pursuant to section 8.02.030 may be revoked if the Animal Control 
Officer has reasonable cause to believe any of the following to be true: 

(1) The permittee has violated any Town ordinances relating to the keeping, care or 
use of any animal including, but not limited to, those contained in sections 8.01, 8.02 
and 8.03 of the Colma Municipal Code;  

(2) The permittee is in violation of any State health or safety law or regulation 
regarding animal care or control; 

(3) The permittee has failed to comply with any condition or requirement of the 
permit or has failed to pay any fee imposed under this code; 

(4) The permittee refused to allow inspection, upon forty-eight hours written notice, 
of any animal covered by the permit or the premises on which the animal is kept; or 

(5) The permittee has transferred, sold or otherwise disposed of the animal for 
which the permit was issued. 

(b) If, after inspection, the Animal Control Officer concludes that it is probable that one or 
more of the above grounds for revocation has occurred, it shall cause written notice thereof to 
be transmitted by mail to the address of the permittee. Said notice shall specify the grounds of 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 22 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



possible revocation of the permit and shall specify a date and time for an informal hearing to be 
held before an Animal Control Officer. Said date shall be not less than five days subsequent to 
the date the notice is mailed. After the informal hearing, the Animal Control Officer may modify 
the terms of the permit or revoke the permit. 

(c) The permittee may appeal the decision of the Animal Control Officer to the Town if the 
permittee gives written notice of such appeal within five working days of the decision. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.02.060 Penalty for Violations. 

Except as otherwise provided by this subchapter, any violation of any of the provisions of this 
subchapter shall be punishable as an infraction, the penalty for which is set forth in section 
1.05.020 et seq. of this Code. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. 643, 4/12/06; ORD. ___, _________] 

8.02.070 Responsibility for Enforcement. 

The Animal Control Program shall be responsible for the enforcement and administration of this 
subchapter. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03] 

ARTICLE 3. COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8-03 AMENDED. 

Subchapter 3 of Chapter 8 of the Colma Municipal Code, entitled “Animal Fanciers Permit” shall 
be and is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

“CHAPTER EIGHT: ANIMALS 

Subchapter Three: Animal Fanciers Permit 

8.03.010 Animal Fancier Permit Program. 

(a) No person may keep more than four dogs or cats, or dogs and cats, at any one location 
unless that person has first obtained an Animal Fanciers Permit in accordance with this 
subchapter. 

(b) The County Division of Animal Control shall administer an Animal Fancier Permit 
program as described by this chapter to allow the keeping of dogs and/or cats up to a total of 
ten animals. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, ____] 

8.03.020 Application for Animal Fancier Permit. 

Any application for an Animal Fancier Permit shall be made to the County Division of Animal 
Control on a form provided by the Division. The application shall include the name of the 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 23 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



applicant, his or her residence address and telephone number, the address of the proposed 
location where the animals are to be kept if different from applicant's address, and a description 
of the housing facilities for the keeping of the animals. The application shall also state the 
number of dogs and/or cats to be kept and include a copy of the current license certificate 
issued under section 8.01.040 of this code for each animal to be kept. The Animal Control 
Program Manager may require the applicant to provide any other information he or she seems 
necessary to properly evaluate the application. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

8.03.030 Issuance of Permit. 

(a) An application for an Animal Fancier's Permit shall include a statement from the 
applicant that: 

(1) Keeping of the animals at the proposed location will not violate any federal, state 
or local laws or regulations. 

(2) Appropriate facilities of sufficient size exist at the proposed location to safely and 
adequately secure, feed, house, exercise and maintain the animals. 

(3) The proposed location consists of a lot or lots of sufficient size to safely and 
adequately house, maintain and exercise the animals without disturbance to adjacent 
property owners or the public. 

(4) Possession and maintenance of the animals at the proposed location will not 
result in the animals being subject to neglect, cruelty, or abuse. 

(5) The applicant has neither had any animal license or permit revoked, nor has 
been convicted of any violation of any provision of sections 8.01, 8.02 and 8.03 1of this 
code or any other state or local animal control law, within the past year.  

(6) The keeping and maintenance of the animal will not create a public or private 
nuisance or endanger the public health, safety or welfare. 

(7) The keeping of the animals at the proposed location complies with all Town 
zoning regulations. 

(b) The Animal Control Program Manager may investigate or require any further information 
or documentation which would assist in determining whether the statements made by the 
applicant are correct and whether the permit should be issued. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, ____] 

8.03.040 Permit Conditions. 

(a) Any permit issued under this chapter shall be made expressly subject to the following 
conditions: 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 24 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



(1) The permit holder shall provide veterinary care as needed and make every effort 
to keep all animals free of disease and parasites. 

(2) The permit holder shall keep the animals' living quarters clean and sanitary. 

(3) Any cages or structures housing animals shall be of a sufficient size to insure the 
health, safety and comfort of the animals and shall be placed at least three (3) feet from 
any lot line in residential areas. 

(4) Any other conditions which the County Division of Animal Control determines is 
reasonably necessary to protect the welfare of the animals kept or the public, health, 
safety or welfare. 

(b) The fancier permit fee established under the Master Fee Schedule of this code shall be 
paid by the applicant prior to issuance of the permit. Such fee shall be paid each time a permit 
is issued or renewed. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. __, ____] 

8.03.050 Inspections. 

(a) The Animal Control Program Manager may require any permit holder to produce for 
inspection any required animal license, permit or certificate of vaccination. 

(b) The Animal Control Program Manager may, with 48 hours notice to the permit holder, 
conduct such inspections of the premises upon which animals are kept under a fancier's permit, 
as necessary to insure compliance with the conditions of the permit. 

(c) Such inspection of the premises shall be based on the direct observations of an Animal 
Control Officer or upon a non-anonymous compliant. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03] 

8.03.060 Expiration and Renewal of Permits. 

(a) Permits issued under this chapter shall expire one year after issuance. 

(b) Permits may be renewed on an annual basis upon filing of a new application containing 
updated information and payment of the annual Fancier's Permit fee established by the Master 
Fee Schedule. 

(c) No permit shall be renewed if the Animal Control Program Manager has received two (2) 
or more substantiated complaints concerning the location or manner of keeping of the animals 
or if the Animal Control Program Manager has determined that the findings set forth in section 
8.03.030 cannot be made or that any of the grounds for revocation described by section 
8.03.060 of this chapter exist. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, _____] 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 25 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



8.03.070 Permit Revocation. 

Any permit issued under this chapter may be revoked by the Animal Control Program Manager 
if, after investigation, the Animal Control Program Manager finds reasonable cause to believe 
any of the following grounds exist: 

(a) The permittee has violated any animal control laws or regulations, any zoning or health 
and safety laws or any regulations relating to the keeping of animals; 

(b) The permittee has failed to keep and maintain in a clean and sanitary condition the 
premises on which the animals are kept; 

(c) The permittee has acted in an inhumane or cruel manner in the treatment of the 
animals; 

(d) The permittee has failed to provide any animal with proper food, water, exercise, shelter 
or veterinary care; 

(e) The permittee has failed to comply with all conditions of the permit; 

(f) The permittee has failed to pay any fee or obtain any license imposed under this 
chapter; or 

(g) The permittee has provided false information in the permit application or has failed to 
cooperate in allowing inspection of the premises by the Animal Control Program Manager.   

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, ___] 

8.03.080 Appeal of Revocation of Permit. 

(a) Prior to revocation of a permit, the Animal Control Program Manager shall provide 
written notice to the permittee of its intention to revoke the permit. Such notice shall contain a 
statement of the grounds supporting permit revocation and shall advise the permittee that the 
permit will be revoked unless a hearing before the Director of the Health System or his/her 
designee is requested in writing to the Animal Control Program Manager within ten (10) days of 
the mailing of the notice. Any request for a hearing must specify the reasons the license should 
not be revoked and why the grounds cited in the notice do not exist. 

(b) Upon receipt of a request for hearing, the Animal Control Program Manager shall 
schedule a hearing before the Director of the Health System or his/her designee and shall 
provide the permittee with reasonable written notice of the date, time and place of the hearing. 

(c) At the hearing, the petitioner and the Animal Control Program Manager may be 
represented by counsel, present oral and written evidence and cross-examine witnesses. The 
strict rules of evidence need not apply. Any relevant evidence may be admitted if it is the sort 
of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious 
affairs. In this regard, written statements, records or reports by a state or county officer or 
employee, or any law enforcement or fire protection officer or employee, or the Animal Control 
Program or its agents, acting in the course and scope of their official duties, or written 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 26 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



statements by any person made under penalty of perjury, may be admitted as evidence that 
the facts or conditions expressed therein do or do not exist. 

(d) After the hearing, the hearing officer may revoke the permit or may impose additional 
conditions in order to allow continuation of the permit if he or she finds that substantial 
evidence supports the decision by the Animal Control Program Manager to revoke the permit. 
Alternatively, the hearing officer may determine that the permit should not be revoked. 

(e) After a permit is revoked, the Animal Control Program Manager shall allow the permit 
holder reasonable time, not to exceed 90 days, to relocate those cats and dogs which may not 
be kept without an Animal Fancier Permit: except that if the cause of revocation involves health 
or safety concerns or violations or animal neglect or cruelty the Animal Control Program 
Manager may immediately impound all of the animals. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03; ORD. ___, ____] 

8.03.090 New Application After Denial or Revocation. 

If a license has been denied or revoked, the Animal Control Program Manager shall not accept a 
new application by the same person or member of the person's household less than twelve (12) 
months after such denial or revocation unless the applicant shows and Animal Control Program 
Manager determines that the grounds upon which the first license or application was denied or 
revoked no longer exist. Upon revocation, no part of the permit fee shall be refunded. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03] 

8.03.100 Administrative Guidelines. 

The Animal Control Program Manager may formulate administrative guidelines in conformity 
with, and for the purpose of implementing, this chapter. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03] 

8.03.110 Mediation. 

Upon receipt of a nuisance complaint regarding the holder of an Animal Fancier Permit, the 
Animal Control Program Manager ("Manager") may require the complainant(s) to mediate with 
the Animal Fancier Permit holder as a precondition of investigation, citation and abatement of 
the nuisance. Such cases may be referred to the County Mediation Program. If the Manager 
determines mediation is appropriate and the complainants agree to mediate but the alleged 
violator refuses, the Manager may proceed with investigation and any appropriate enforcement. 

[History: ORD. 606, 9/10/03] 

ARTICLE 4. COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 8.04.010 , CHAPTER 8-04, DIVISION 1,  
AMENDED. 

Section 8.04.010, Subchapter 4, Division 1 of Chapter 8 of the Colma Municipal Code, shall be 
and is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 27 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



8.04.010 Prohibition. 

 (a) Except as expressly provided herein, no person shall keep, maintain or operate 
any premises in the Town of Colma for the purpose of maintaining, keeping or feeding hogs, 
pigs or swine, cattle, horses, goats, sheep, mules or any other livestock.  

 (b) Nothing contained herein shall prohibit a governmental organization from making 
temporary use of goats for one (1) week out of a calendar year solely for the purposes of weed 
abatement. Such use shall immediately cease if the City Manager or his or her designee 
determines the public health, safety or welfare is at risk. 

ARTICLE 5. COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 8-04, DIVISION 2, REPEALED. 

Subchapter 4, Division 2 of Chapter 8 of the Colma Municipal Code, entitled “Miniature Horses” 
shall be and is hereby repealed in its entirety as follows: 

“CHAPTER EIGHT: ANIMALS 

Subchapter Four: Regulating Livestock Animals 

Division 2: Repealed   

Article 6. SEVERABILITY. 

Each of the provisions of this Ordinance is severable from all other provisions. If any article, 
section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason 
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity 
of the remaining portions of this Ordinance.  

Article 7. NOT A CEQA PROJECT. 

The City Council finds that adoption of this Ordinance is not a “project,” as defined in the 
California Environmental Quality Act because it does not have a potential for resulting in either 
a direct physical change in the environment or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical 
change in the environment and concerns general policy and procedure making. 

Article 8. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

This Ordinance, or a summary thereof prepared by the City Attorney, shall be posted on the 
three (3) official bulletin boards of the Town of Colma within 15 days of its passage and is to 
take force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 28 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Ordinance No. ## was duly introduced at a regular meeting of the 
City Council of the Town of Colma held on March 11, 2015 and duly adopted at a regular 
meeting of said City Council held on April 8, 2015 by the following vote: 
 
 

Name Counted toward Quorum Not Counted toward Quorum 

  Aye No Abstain Present, Recused  Absent 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      

Diana Colvin       

Helen Fisicaro      

Raquel Gonzalez      

Joseph Silva      

Voting Tally      
 
 
Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 
 
 
      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Sean Rabé, City Clerk 
 

Ordinance ____, Amending Chapter 8, Animals  (Introduced 3/11/15)  Page 29 of 29 
25977.17000\1563950.6  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Brian Dossey, Director of Recreation Services 

VIA:  Sean Rabé, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: April 8, 2015 

SUBJECT: Recreation Services Department Quarterly Review, January - March 2015 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt: 

A MOTION TO ACCEPT INFORMATIONAL REPORT ON RECREATION DEPARTMENT 
PROGRAMS, ACTIVITIES, EVENTS, AND TRIPS FOR THE FIRST QUARTER OF 2015. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In the first quarter of 2015, a total of 746 participants attended 52 programs.  This represents a 
decrease of 59 participants from the first quarter of 2014.   

Staff estimates that 33 percent of the population had a current Colma I.D. during the first 
quarter of 2015, suggesting that residents participated in multiple programs. 

There were a total of 80 rentals, which is an increase of 19 rentals from the fourth quarter of 
2014. 

BACKGROUND 

Participation 

The Recreation Services Department offered programs, activities, events and trips for all age 
groups during the past quarter.  Below is a summary of participation levels by demographic:  

• A total of 91 Adults & Seniors participated in Enrichment Programs.  This represents an
increase of 23 participants from the first quarter of 2014.   The increase is due to
greater participation in fitness programs.

Staff Report – Recreation Program Quarterly Review, January – March 2015  Page 1 of 2 
March 23, 2015 

Item #4



• A total of 90 Adults & Seniors participated in Trips & Events.   This represents a
decrease of 28 participants from the first quarter of 2014.  Staff attributes the decrease
to the cancellation of the trip to Golden Gate Fields and Wine & Canvas Special Event.

• A total of 322 Youths & Teens participated in Enrichment Programs.  This represents a
decrease of 54 participants from the first quarter of 2014.  Staff attributes the decrease
to the cancellation of the Tot Gym and Jam program and Parent’s Night Out.

• A total of 29 Youths & Teens participated in Events & Trips.  This represents a decrease
of 38 participants from the first quarter of 2014.  Staff attributes the decrease to fewer
participants in the cancellation of the Teen Outing and themed craft nights.

• A total of 214 Youths, Adults and Seniors participated in Community Programs.  This
represents an increase of 38 participants from the first quarter of 2014.  Staff attributes
the increase in participation to the scheduling of Colma Game Night in the winter
quarter.

The attachment contains a detailed breakdown of participation by program. 

Due to fewer participants this quarter staff will increase advertising and marketing efforts 
through the use of Facebook, Instagram, Town website and new Recreation Software 
ActiveNet.  Staff has also started to look at branding using the California Parks and Recreation 
Society, “Parks Make Life Better” campaign. 

Rental Activity 

The Colma Community Center was rented for 59 different events: 
• Resident Rentals (26 social events and one HOA meeting)
• Resident Non-profit group (one meeting and four fundraisers)
• Non-Resident Non-profit Groups (five meetings and two fundraisers)
• Non-resident (two funerals)
• In House Reservations (18 meetings/trainings)

The Sterling Park Recreation Center was rented for 21 different events: 
• Sterling Park Resident Rentals (20 social events & one Picnic)

Sustainability Impact 

Staff coordinates and implements program and activities which are in alignment with the 
Town’s Climate Action Plan and Sustainability Policy.  For example, all instructor contracts are e-
mailed instead of printed and sent via U.S. mail.  Also, staff coordinated with Allied Waste 
providing composting containers during one of the Colma/Daly City Chamber of Commerce Crab 
Feed. 

ATTACHMENTS 
• 2015 Recreation Services Department Quarterly Review – Participation Detail

Staff Report – Recreation Program Quarterly Review, January – March 2015  Page 2 of 2 
March 23, 2015 



Recreation Services Department Quarterly Review 
January – March 2015 

Participation Detail 

Adult/Senior Enrichment Programs 
Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 

Program 
Abs & Core Strength Cancelled 1 Existing 
Cooking Classes 26 3 Existing 
College Workshop for Parents Cancelled 1 NEW 
Colma Book Club Cancelled 1 NEW 
Computers for Beginners 3 1 NEW 
Color Me Mine 3 1 Existing 
Creekside Villas Activities 4 3 Existing 
Discover Ukulele Cancelled 1 Existing 
Driver’s Safety by AARP Cancelled 1 NEW 
First Aid & CPR Cancelled 1 Existing 
Full Body Conditioning Cancelled 1 Existing 
Golf 1 3 Existing 
Hatha Yoga 31 2 Existing 
Tai Chi 6 1 NEW 
Zumba 17 1 Existing 

Adult & Senior Trips & Events 
Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 

Program 
California Academy of 
Sciences 

Cancelled 1 Existing 

Colma – “A Journey of Souls” Cancelled 1 NEW 
Disney on Ice 13 Existing 
Historic Benicia Museum 14 1 NEW 
Family Bowling Night 14 1 Existing 
Friday Night Films 4 1 NEW 
Golden Gate Fields Cancelled 1 Existing 
Movie Monday’s Cancelled 3 NEW 
Senior Luncheon (Valentine’s 
Day & St Patrick’s Day) 

44 2 Existing 

Senior Wii Bowling Cancelled 3 NEW 
Wine & Canvas Cancelled 1 Existing 

Youth & Teen Enrichment Programs 
Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 

Program 
Alternative Camp Program 1 1 Existing 
Ballet, Tap & Hip Hop 6 5 Existing 

Attachment



Broadway Musical Groups Cancelled 1 Existing 
Chess Wizards Cancelled 1 Existing 
Cooking 8 2 Existing 
Discover Ukulele Cancelled 2 Existing 
Golf 5 3 Existing 
Guitar Workshop Cancelled 2 Existing 
Keyboard 6 2 Existing 
Kids’ Club Afterschool 
Program 

64 6 Existing 

Kumon Math Tutoring 76 3 Existing 
Kumon Reading Tutoring 57 3 Existing 
Parents’ Night Out Cancelled 3 Existing 
Spring Day Camp Early 
Morning Care 

6 1 Existing 

Spring Day Camp 16 1 Existing 
Spring Day Camp Afternoon 
Care 

8 1 Exisitng 

Straight & Strong Forever – 
Youth Yoga 

Cancelled 1 Existing 

Tae Kwon Do 64 3 Existing 
Tot Gym & Jam Cancelled 3 Existing 
Vibo Rock Band Cancelled 1 NEW 
Vibo Youth Ensemble 3 1 Existing 
Violin Workshop 2 2 Existing 

Youth and Teen Events & Trips 
Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 

Program 
California Academy of 
Sciences 

Cancelled 1 Existing 

Disney on Ice 17 1 Existing 
Egg & Basket Decorating Cancelled 1 Existing 
Family Bowling Night 13 1 Existing 
Fort Miley Adventure Course Cancelled 1 Existing 
Valentine’s Day Card Making Cancelled 1 Existing 

Community Programs 
Program Registered Sessions New or Existing 

Program 
Colma Game Night 41 1 Existing 
Project Read Learning Wheels 84 6 Existing 
Project Read Nutrition 
Program 

42 3 Existing 

Project Read Science Club 47 3 Existing 

Note: Programs were cancelled due to insufficient participation. 

2 



 STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Brad Donohue, Director of Public Works 

VIA:  Sean Rabé, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: April 8, 2015 

SUBJECT: Hillside Beautification Improvement Project Phase I, Notice of Completion 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the City Council adopt: 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING WORK, AUTHORIZING THE FILING OF THE NOTICE OF 
COMPLETION, AND DIRECTING PAYMENT OF RETENTION FUNDS FOR THE HILLSIDE 
BEAUTIFICATION PROJECT PHASE I. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Construction contract for the Hillside Beautification Project was awarded to Interstate 
Grading and Paving Inc. at the June 11, 2014 City Council Meeting.  Construction was 
completed in March of 2015 in accordance with the approved plans and specifications.  Staff 
now recommends the City Council adopt a resolution accepting the work, authorizing the Public 
Works Director to file a Notice of Completion (NOC) with the County Recorder’s Office, and 
directing the payment of retention funds in order to finalize and close out this project. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The original construction contract with Interstate Grading and Paving Inc. was in the amount of 
$1,910,198.25.  Construction is now complete with a final contract amount of 1,909,513.22 
Final contract costs are within the approved budget and contingencies. Construction costs were 
funded through the Fiscal Year 2013-2014 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) Budget. 

BACKGROUND 

The construction contract for the Hillside Beautification Project was awarded to Interstate 
Grading and Paving Inc., in June of 2014.  The project’s scope of work included  
asphalt pavement reconstruction, storm drain improvements, traffic signal and pedestrian 
accessibility/safety enhancements, installation of a new sidewalk on the east side of the 
roadway from Serramonte Boulevard to Hoffman Street, installation of pedestrian street lights, 
on-street parking, bicycle lanes and sustainable landscaping improvements. The project meets 
the standards of the Town’s Complete Streets Program. 

Staff Report re: Hillside Beautification Project Phase I- Notice of Completion  Page 1 of 3 
March 27, 2015 

Item #5



ANALYSIS 
 
Construction was completed in March of 2015 in accordance with the approved plans and 
specifications. The project was substantially completed and beneficial use was granted in 
January of 2014, with final project completion in March of 2015. The reason for the delay in 
completing the work was a back order on several items including LED retrofit kits for the street 
lights and mast arms for one of the signals. The delay did not hamper the Town from using all 
of the various components of the roadway improvements.   

Various bid item quantities were adjusted to conform to the construction budget. For example, 
the sidewalk near the corner of Serramonte and Hillside was realigned allowing the existing 
signal to stay in the same location, thus saving approximately $65,000 and video detection 
cameras were substituted for traffic loops, saving approximately $50,000. The Public Works 
Department’s project management team created opportunities onsite to achieve savings while 
not diminishing the integrity of the project. These cost savings were created through value-
engineering various portions of the project and offset change orders for added quantities of 
asphalt and road base and drainage enhancements, thus allowing the project to come in on 
budget.  

The City Council gave direction to staff that the project should meet the sustainability standards 
of the Town’s Climate Action Plan and should also meet the standards of the Complete Streets 
Program. This direction earned the project the American Public Works Association, Northern 
California Chapter  “Project of the Year” for Small Cities/Rural Transportation projects (see 
Attachment C). 

Staff now requests that the City Council adopt the attached resolution authorizing the Public 
Works Director to file a Notice of Completion with the County Recorder’s Office to close out this 
project.   

The filing of the Notice of Completion means: 

• The Town is satisfied that Interstate Grading and Paving Inc. has completed the project 
in accordance with the plans and specifications; 

• At the time of the filing of the NOC, no subcontractor or supplier claims have been filed 
against the Town;  

• The Town accepts Interstate Grading and Paving Inc.’s work; 
• The time frame for the stop notice statute is in effect once the Notice of Completion is 

filed with the County Recorder’s Office. 
 

The Town can release the remaining 5 percent retention back to the contractor 35 days after 
the Notice of Completion has been recorded, if no claims from subcontractors and suppliers 
have been filed against the Town.  

There are no stop notices or claims filed as of the date of preparation of this staff report. 
 
Sustainability Impact 
 
The completion of Hillside Beautification Project implemented many of the goals within the 
Town’s Climate Action Plan. The rain gardens that were installed as part of the roadway 
drainage system not only enhance the aesthetics of the project, but also act as a storm water 
treatment mechanism before rain water enters the storm drain pipes.  The drought resistant 

Staff Report re: Hillside Beautification Project Phase I- Notice of Completion   Page 2 of 3 
March 27, 2015 



plants, soil media, and the underlying section of the rain garden treats and partially infiltrates 
stormwater before it’s discharged into the waterways.  The project also replaced the high-
energy, high-pressure sodium street lighting with energy-efficient LED lighting.  

Council Adopted Values 

Approval of the attached resolution accepting the work done for the Hillside Beautification 
Project is the responsible action because the Council has considered the whether or not the 
project was completed within the approved budget and if it has been completed to the 
satisfaction of the Council and Staff.  

Alternatives 

The City Council could reject the filing of the notice of completion for this project if it deemed 
the project to be substantially incomplete.  This would prevent the closing out of the project 
and would prevent the release of the retention to the ccontractor. Staff does not recommend 
that action because doing so could potentially create an opportunity for the contractor and its 
sub-contractors to file claims against the Town. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends the City Council adopt a resolution accepting work and authorizing the Public 
Works Director to file a Notice of Completion with the County Recorder’s Office.  

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Resolution 
B. Notice of Completion 
C. Copy of APWA Award Certificate 

Staff Report re: Hillside Beautification Project Phase I- Notice of Completion  Page 3 of 3 
March 27, 2015 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2015-## 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION ACCEPTING WORK, AUTHORIZING 
NOTICE AND CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION, AND 
DIRECTING PAYMENT OF RETENTION FUNDS FOR 
THE HILLSIDE BEAUTIFICATION PHASE I PROJECT 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Proceedings.

Interstate Grading and Paving Inc. (Contractor) undertook, pursuant to contract with the Town 
of Colma, a public work, to wit: repair and improve Hillside Boulevard between Hoffman Street 
to approximately 400 feet south of Serramonte Boulevard, e.g., asphalt pavement 
reconstruction, storm drain improvements, traffic signal and pedestrian accessibility/safety 
enhancements, installation of a new sidewalk on the east side of the roadway from Serramonte 
Boulevard to Hoffman Street, installation of pedestrian street lights, on- street parking, bicycle 
lanes and sustainable landscaping improvements and meets the standards the Towns Complete 
Streets Program. 

(a) Contractor has reported that it has completed said Work; and 

(b) The Public Works Director is satisfied that the Work may be accepted. 

2. Acceptance and Authorization.

It is hereby ordered that: 

(a) The Work described above is accepted; 

(b) The Public Works Director shall file a Certificate of Completion with the City Clerk and 
record a Notice of Completion with the San Mateo County Recorder; 

(c) The City Clerk is authorized and directed to release all retention funds to the Contractor 
once: the Notice has been recorded and has been posted for 35 days; no Stop Notices have 
been filed against the Town. 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2015-## was duly adopted at the regular meeting of 
the City Council of the Town of Colma held on April 8, 2015, by the following vote: 

Res 2015-##, Filing of the Notice of Completion for the 
Hillside Beautification Project Phase I Page 1 of 2 

Attachment A



Name Counted toward Quorum Not Counted toward Quorum 

  Aye No Abstain Present, Recused  Absent 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      

Diana Colvin       

Raquel Gonzalez      

Helen Fisicaro      

Joseph Silva      

Voting Tally      

 
 
Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 
 
 
      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Sean Rabé, City Clerk 
 

 

 
Res 2015-##, Filing of the Notice of Completion for the  
Hillside Beautification Project Phase I Page 2 of 2   



RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 

Town of Colma 
1198 El Camino Real 
Colma, CA 94014-3212 
Attn: Brad Donohue, PW Director 

THE AREA ABOVE IS RESERVED FOR RECORDER’S USE 

TOWN OF COLMA 

NOTICE OF COMPLETION 

PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE 3093 

(This Document is exempt from Recording Fee (Govt. Code § 27383) 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT: 

1. The TOWN OF COLMA is the owner of a work of improvement consisting of the
construction of improvements along Hillside Beautification Project Phase I as described in
the Project Bid, Project Specifications, and Contract between the Town of Colma and
Interstate Grading and Paving Inc. dated July 8, 2014 (HEREAFTER, THE “Work”);

2. Interstate Grading and Paving Inc., the Contractor was awarded construction contract by
the Owner/Agent, the TOWN OF COLMA, and

3. Said work was accepted as completed on April 8, 2015 and that acceptance for completion
was ordered by Resolution No. 2015-__ of the City Council of the Town of Colma adopted
on April 8, 2015; and

4. I, Brad Donohue, Public Works Director of the Town of Colma, am authorized by said
Resolution to execute and file this Notice with the County Recorder of the County of San 
Mateo. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is 
true and correct. 

____________________________________            ___________________ 
         (Date and Place)  Brad Donohue  

Director of Public Works 

Attachment B



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



Attachment C



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Charlie Francis, Finance Director / City Treasurer 

VIA:  Sean Rabé, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: April 8, 2015 

SUBJECT: Supplemental Appropriation for Town Hall Renovation Project Budget 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following motion: 

MOTION APPROVING A SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION IN THE FISCAL YEAR 2014-15 
ADOPTED BUDGET FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT #947-TOWN HALL 
RENOVATION PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF $8,371,000 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At the February 11, 2015 City Council meeting, the Council formally set the budget for the 
Town Hall Renovation Project at $13 million. 

Because this revised Town Hall Renovation Project exceeds the original appropriation in the 
Fiscal Year 2014-15 Town Budget, it is necessary to approve and adopt a supplemental 
appropriation in the Fiscal Year 2014-15 Town Budget in the amount of $8,371,000 as indicated 
in the following table: 

Capital Improvement Project Original Budget Revised Budget Difference 

947-Town Hall Renovation Project $4,629,000 $13,000,000 $8,371,000 

FISCAL IMPACT 

In collaboration with the City’s Financial Advisor, NHA Advisors, LLC, and the City Treasurer, 
staff analyzed several scenarios to finance the Town Hall Renovation Project improvements: 

1. 100% cash funded
2. 100% debt funded
3. Optimize a combination of cash and debt to preserve General Fund structural balance

Staff Report re Supplemental Appropriation Town Hall  Page 1 of 3 
March 30, 2015

Item #6



The result of this analysis was presented to the City Council on December 10, 2014. The 
analysis recommended financing the Town Hall Renovation Project through a combination of 
debt and use of cash. The Council formally set the project budget at $13 million at the February 
11, 2015 City Council meeting, with direction to staff to bring back the required supplemental 
appropriation.  

By financing the Town Hall improvements by issuing $4.75 million of Certificates of Participation 
(COPs), and using $8.25 million of Town reserves, the City would remain structurally balanced 
in continuing to provide an excellent level of service to its citizens and continuing with its capital 
improvement program.  

Once the Council approves and adopts the supplemental appropriation, staff will return at a 
future City Council meeting with the appropriate action items for the Town to issue Certificates 
of Participation, as prepared by the Town’s Bond Counsel, Financial Advisor, City Treasurer and 
City Manager.  

BACKGROUND 

The City Council approved setting the Town Hall Renovation project budget at $13 million at the 
February 11, 2015 Council meeting. As noted in previous staff reports, funding the project will 
require a combination of financing vehicles including the issuance of $4.75 million in Certificates 
of Participation (COPs). This amount still represents the most that staff feels comfortable 
recommending, given the debt service payments that will be required on an annual basis. Those 
payments are estimated at approximately $309,000 annually and have been included in the 
draft Fiscal Year 2015/16 budget. The remaining $8.25 million will be drawn from cash from 
existing reserves. The recommended action before you formally amends the project’s budget 
(as listed in the CIP) and amends the project’s appropriation in the current (FY 2014/14) 
budget.  

ANALYSIS 

As presented at the December 10, 2014 City Council meeting,  the Town cannot fund the 
entirety of the project by issuing Certificates of Participation (COPs) – but it can (and should) 
fund a portion of the project through the issuance of COPs. COPs are similar to bonds and are 
sold on the open market to investors who find them attractive because typically the interest 
payments are tax exempt to the investor. The Town benefits because the interest rate payable 
by the Town on COPs is lower than the interest rate on taxable bonds. 

In order for the Town to be fiscally responsible in funding the Town Hall Renovation Project, the 
financing strategy was developed early in the project process. The financing strategy concluded 
that while the Town does have cash reserves that could be applied to the project, the impact of 
using a significant portion on one project could compromise future budgets, economic certainty 
and other future capital projects.  

Likewise, staff did not recommend funding the entire project through the issuance of COPs 
because the debt service payments will be too high for the Town to comfortably assume while 
still maintaining a balanced budget through Fiscal Year 2019/20.  

Staff Report re Supplemental Appropriation Town Hall  Page 2 of 3 
March 30, 2015 



Instead, staff recommended using a combination of existing cash and debt in order to meet all 
of the financial goals for the Town. Those goals include: 

• Retaining the largest reserve possible (as a percentage of expenditures); and having a
• Balanced budget from FY 2019/20 and beyond.

By funding the project through a combination of cash and COP financing, the Town can achieve 
its goals of maintaining reserves and meeting future balanced budgets. 

Budgetary Considerations 

This proposed action increases the capital improvement budget and the Town Hall Renovation 
Project as indicated in the following table: 

Capital Improvement Project Original Budget Revised Budget Difference 

947-Town Hall Renovation Project $4,629,000 $13,000,000 $8,371,000 

Values 

Adoption of the recommended motion is consistent with the Council’s value of responsibility 
because it is providing for supplemental appropriations after taking into consideration the 
financial impacts of the project and the long-term financial stability of the Town. 

Alternatives 

The Council could chose to not approve the recommended supplemental appropriation. Doing 
so is not recommended, however, as that action would prevent the Town Hall renovation 
project from moving forward.  

CONCLUSION 

It is recommended that the City Council adopt a motion approving a supplemental appropriation 
in the amount of $8,371,000 in order to provide a total budget of $13 million to Capital 
Improvement Project 947 – Town Hall Renovation Project. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. February 11, 2015 Staff Report Mid-Year Budget Update 
B. February 11, 2015 Staff Report Town Hall Budget Thresholds 
C. February 11, 2015 Presentation Town Hall Funding 

Staff Report re Supplemental Appropriation Town Hall  Page 3 of 3 
March 30, 2015



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



Staff Report re Mid-Year Budget Review Page 1 of 4 
February 5, 2015 

         STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM: Sean Rabé, City Manager 

Charlie Francis, Finance Director 

MEETING DATE: February 11, 2015 

SUBJECT: Mid-Year Budget Review 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following motion: 

MOTION TO ACCEPT MID-YEAR BUDGET REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR 
2014/15. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On June 11, 2014 the City Council adopted a budget with revenues and net transfers 
totaling $15,017,030, and expenditures totaling $19,070,060 resulting in a spending 
plan that invested $4,053,730 from accumulated reserves for certain capital projects. 

Budget versus projected variances for total Town revenues are as detailed in the 
following table, and explained below:  

Total City Revenue / Transfers
Budget Projected Variance

Taxes

Property Taxes 357,100 419,500 62,400

Sales Taxes 8,850,000 10,010,187 1,160,187

Cardroom Taxes 4,000,000 4,000,000 0

Other Taxes 131,500 121,500 (10,000)

Total Taxes 13,338,600 14,551,187 1,212,587

Licenses & Permits 56,000 201,700 145,700

Fines and Forfeitures 60,250 60,250 0

Use of Money and Property 392,700 392,702 2

Revenues from Other Agencies 397,020 399,620 2,600

Charges for Current Services 717,160 717,160 0

Other Revenues 45,300 4,795,300 4,750,000

Total Revenues $15,007,030 $21,117,919 $6,110,889

Transfers In 5,543,750 16,150,243 10,606,493

Transfers Out (5,533,750) (16,150,243) (10,616,493)

Mid Year Projections

Attachment A



Staff Report re Mid-Year Budget Review  Page 2 of 4 
February 5, 2015 

Projected variances for expenditures are detailed in the following table and explained in 
the fiscal analysis section. 
 

Total City Expenditures

Budget Projected Variance

Salaries        4,536,230        4,435,658 100,572 

Benefits        2,890,800        2,661,790 229,010 

Supplies & Services        1,548,650        1,532,650 16,000 

Contracts      10,066,580      20,683,853 (10,617,273)

Capital Outlay             28,500             81,400 (52,900)

Total Expenditures $19,070,760 $29,395,351 ($10,324,591)

Mid Year Projections

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The resulting impact on Total Fund balances are as follows: 
 

 Mid Year Projections 

Net Revenues, Transfers, 

Expenditures ($4,053,730) ($8,277,432) ($4,223,702)

Beginning Fund Balances $23,344,249 $27,547,925 $4,203,676 

Ending Fund Balances $19,290,519 $19,270,493 ($20,026)
 

 
BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
 
General Fund Revenues 
Sales taxes were estimated at $8,850,000. Based upon third quarter results (July – 
September 2014) the sales taxes are now estimated at $10,010,187, an increase of 
$1,160,187. Property taxes, including secured, unsecured, and other related taxes, are 
now estimated to be about $62,400 over budget. Cardroom taxes are estimated to 
continue to be weak, but expected to meet the budget revenue estimate of $4,000,000 
 
Overall, General Fund revenues are now estimated to exceed budget estimates by about 
$1,215,187. 
 
General fund Expenditures  
General Fund salaries and benefits are expected to be $99,772 and $229,010 under 
budget. Salaries are less than budgeted due to the timing gap of new hire replacements 
following termination of former employees; as well as to the lower starting salaries of 
new employees following the resignation of higher tenured employees.  These same 
conditions also impact the cost of benefits being lower than budget as pension benefits 
are percentage of salaries. Another reason for the positive estimate of benefit expenses 
being lower than budget, is that actual health care cost inflation is less than originally 
budgeted. The budget also anticipated new employees being hired in the Tier 2 pension 
category, however new hires that enter as PEPRA employees have lower benefit costs. 
 
The largest increase of estimated expenses exceeding budget is for capital projects, 
primarily the New Town Hall Renovation Project. To be conservative while presenting 

Attachment A



Staff Report re Mid-Year Budget Review  Page 3 of 4 
February 5, 2015 

this report, the mid-year budget review anticipates the full funding of the New Town 
Hall project at $13 million, and projects that the project will be funded through a 
combination of cash reserves and the issuance of $4,750,000 in Certificate of 
Participation (COP’s). The remaining $8,250,000 million would be funded from the 
Town’s cash reserves. If the Council opts for a smaller project budget the Town’s cash 
reserve position will increase.  
 
The following tables summarize General Fund revenues and expenditures and impacts 
on Fund Balances: 
 

General Fund Revenue / Transfers
Budget Projected Variance

Taxes

Property Taxes 357,100 419,500 62,400 

Sales Taxes 8,850,000 10,010,187 1,160,187 

Cardroom Taxes 4,000,000 4,000,000 0 

Other Taxes 131,500 121,500 (10,000)

Total Taxes $13,338,600 $14,551,187 $1,212,587 

Licenses & Permits 56,000 201,700 145,700 

Fines and Forfeitures 60,250 60,250 0 

Use of Money and Property 392,700 392,702 2 

Revenues from Other Agencies 196,270 196,270 0 

Charges for Current Services 717,160 717,160 0 

Other Revenues 45,300 45,300 0 

Total Revenues $14,806,280 $16,164,569 $1,358,289 

Transfers In 110,750 4,853,350 4,742,600 

Transfers Out (5,433,000) (16,046,893) (10,613,893)

Total Revenues  & Net Transfers $9,484,030 $4,971,026 ($4,513,004)

Mid Year Projections

 
 

General Fund Expenditures

Budget Projected Variance

Salaries        4,460,030        4,357,958 102,072 

Benefits        2,858,290        2,628,750 229,540 

Supplies & Services        1,543,750        1,527,750 16,000 

Contracts        4,633,580        4,636,960 (3,380)

Capital Outlay             28,500             81,400 (52,900)

Total Expenditures $13,524,150 $13,232,818 $291,332 

Net Revenues, Transfers, 

Expenditures ($4,040,120) ($8,261,792) ($4,221,672)

Beginning Fund Balances $23,265,000 $27,467,979 $4,202,979 

Ending Fund Balances $19,224,880 $19,206,187 ($18,693)

Mid Year Projections

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A



Staff Report re Mid-Year Budget Review  Page 4 of 4 
February 5, 2015 

General fund reserves are expected to be allocated as follows: 
 

Total General Fund Reserves

Committed Reserves Budget Projected Variance

Debt Reduction                      -              618,000            618,000 

Retiree health Care         1,042,000         1,042,000                      -   

Budget Stabilization *       13,524,000       13,204,000           (320,000)

Total Committed Reserves       14,566,000       14,864,000            298,000 

Assigned Reserves                      -   

Litigation            100,000            100,000                      -   

Insurance            100,000            100,000                      -   

Disaster Response & Recovery            750,000            750,000                      -   

Total Assigned Reserves            950,000            950,000                      -   

Total Unassigned Reserves         3,708,880         3,275,467           (433,413)

Total Reserves       19,224,880       19,089,467           (135,413)

Mid-Year  Projections

Other Funds 
Gas Taxes are projected to be over original budget estimates by $2,600. Measure A 
taxes and Police Grant are expected as budgeted.  
 
Although $5,433,000 was budgeted for contract expenditures in the Capital Projects 
Fund, and funded by a transfer from the General Fund, it is anticipated that 
approximately $10,046,893 on contract costs will occur during FY 15 as explained above 
for the new Town Hall renovation project. The remaining monies will be carried over as 
Capital project fund Reserves for FY 16 and beyond for contract expenses. 
 
Council Adopted Values 
The Staff recommendation is consistent with the Council adopted values of: 

 Responsibility: Making decisions after prudent consideration of their financial 
impact, taking into account the long-term financial needs of the agency, 
especially its financial stability.  

 Fairness: Support the public’s right to know and promote meaningful public 
involvement.  

 
Alternatives 
Council could choose not to accept this report, and direct staff to provide a more 
detailed analysis by department and bring it back to council at a later meeting. 
 
CONCLUSION 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a motion accepting this report.  
 

Attachment A



Town Hall Project Budget 
February 4, 2015  Page 1 of 5 

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM: Sean Rabé, City Manager 
Brad Donohue, Director of Public Works 

MEETING DATE: February 11, 2015 

SUBJECT: Approval of Town Hall Budget Thresholds 

RECOMMENDATION 

 Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following motion: 

MOTION SETTING THE BUDGET FOR THE TOWN HALL RENOVATION PROJECT 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At the November 12, 2014 City Council meeting, Council approved the Town Hall Renovation 
Project Phase I Study, which included the proposed building site configuration. The approved 
design includes approximately 7,000 square feet of new office space built on a podium, with 
parking below the building.  Council also instructed staff to pursue options that would that 
would keep the facility construction budget in the $10 million range. 

Staff enlisted the services of another professional estimator, McKay Construction Services 
(MCS), to review the conceptual plans presented by the Town’s architect, Ratcliff. After 
reviewing and itemizing the project various cost features, MCS estimated the construction hard 
costs to be in the range of $9.2 million. When soft costs are included (architectural fees, 
construction management fees, furniture, permits, special inspections, contingencies and other 
related costs)  the total project costs have been estimated to be in the range of $12.1 million to 
$12.6 million .  

Because this exceed the proposed $10 million estimated cost of construction that was approved 
by Council in November, staff  felt compelled to return to the City Council to either increase the 
budget amount to $13 million or propose another design that would fall within the Town’s goal 
of staying within $10 million. In either case, the Council should formally set the project budget 
by motion.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding of the Town Hall improvements will either impact the Town’s existing reserves (fund 
balances) or future fiscal years through the addition of a debt service payment in the general 

Attachment B



 
Town Hall Project Budget 
February 4, 2015   Page 2 of 5 

fund budget. If existing reserves are used, future interest earnings will be reduced. If external 
financing is used, future budgets will need to include an annual debt service payment to repay 
the financing. 

If the City Council increases the project budget to $13 million, staff continues to recommend 
financing $4.75 million through COPs. The remaining $8.25 million would be financed through 
the Town’s existing reserves.  

Once the Council provides direction as to the project’s budget, staff will return in March with the 
appropriate budget amendment to formally amend the project and Town budgets. 

BACKGROUND 

Over the last year, the City Council has worked with staff and the Town’s architect (Ratcliff) to 
assess the wants and needs for the revised Town Hall Campus. The City Council settled in 
November on a facility design where the Council suite and Administration, Public Works and 
Planning departments would work under one roof. It was also a mandate of the City Council to 
incorporate as much parking into the site as possible. Thus, the City Council approved a site 
plan where the City Council and staff would be housed on a single floor structure adjoining the 
existing historic Town Hall facility while creating employee/public parking beneath the new 
structure.   

The consensus of the City Council was that the single floor design with subsurface parking 
serviced the Council, public and staff most appropriately.  

At the November meeting Ratcliff presented a construction budget (hard construction costs 
only) of $9.7 million dollars. Anticipating a 25 to 30 percent mark up for soft costs, the overall 
project was estimated to be in the range of $12.1 million to $12.6 million. As this amount was 
beyond the proposed budget limit of $10 million dollars, Council agreed with staff and the 
architect to solicit another professional estimator to review the accuracy of the original 
estimate. 

At the December City Council Meeting, staff presented several funding options to City Council 
detailing out the various funding options. City Council directed staff to proceed with a hybrid 
solution – with a portion of the project being funded through the Town’s reserves (cash) and 
the remainder of the project being funded through Certificates of Participation (COPs). Staff 
emphasized during the December meeting that the goal was to keep the overall project cost at 
or below $10 million.  

Staff, along with the architect and professional estimator, reviewed and analyzed the various 
construction line items in late December.  Though we were able to reduce the estimated cost of 
construction (hard costs) from $9.7 million to $9.1 million, it was determined that once the 
appropriate soft costs were added to the project cost the overall project would exceed the $10 
million threshold.  

Staff is now before the City Council to receive direction on the appropriate total project cost. As 
outlined below, options include either increasing the total project budget to a not to exceed $13 
million or hold the overall project cost to $10 million. 

Attachment B



 
Town Hall Project Budget 
February 4, 2015   Page 3 of 5 

ANALYSIS 

Listed below are the two facility options: 

One Roof Concept 

The Phase I study that was produced by Ratcliff (and approved by the City Council) showed a 
facility that remodeled the existing  1941 Town Hall building, removed the 1986 addition, and 
constructed a new 6800 to 7000 square foot facility over subsurface parking. This project would 
also incorporate the remainder of the site and creatively blend public parking with landscaping 
elements. The overall cost of this project is in the range of $12.1 million to $12.6 million. 
Because of rising construction costs and new energy code requirements, staff proposes a $13 
million budget for this project. 

Multi-Roof Concept  

The multi-roof concept is another option that was discussed earlier in the conceptual design 
process but was later dismissed. This concept would keep the 1941 Town Hall facility and either 
keep or remove the 1986 building addition (to be determined). The work in the existing Town 
Hall would upgrade and modernize the facility, make it completely ADA accessible, upgrade and 
relocate the bathrooms, upgrade the kitchenette and downstairs storage, etc. 

The second portion of this concept would be to construct a separate building, most likely in the 
area of where the Engineering/Planning Department Annex facility is currently located. That 
building would more than likely be a two-story building in the range of 7500 to 8000 square 
feet. It would house the Administrative, Engineering, Planning and Building departments. The 
separate facility would also accommodate the City Council members with an office. A shared 
conference room would also be incorporated.  

This concept keeps staff under one roof, though the office portion of Town operations would be 
separated from the original 1941 Town Hall Facility. The facility would only be used on average 
one to two times per month for City Council meetings and special events.  

The estimated cost for the remodel of the 1941 Facility, new 8000 square foot structure and 
surrounding improvements is roughly estimated to be in the range of $10 million – falling in line 
with Council’s previous direction. The architect has also confirmed that a separate building 
would reduce the overall cost of the project to at-or-below $10 million dollars.  

It should also be noted that the above options can be phased, meaning that a portion of the 
project can be completed now with remaining portions of the remodel to be completed at a 
later date. Staff does not recommend phasing the project, however, because costs for phased 
projects tend to increase over time (as opposed to simply finishing the construction all at once). 

Budgetary Considerations 

As discussed at the December Council meeting, funding the Town Hall project – at either the 
$10 million or $13 million level – will require a combination of financing vehicles. Staff still 
recommends financing only $4.75 million of the project through the issuance of COPs. This 
amount represents the most that staff feels comfortable recommending, given the debt service 

Attachment B



 
Town Hall Project Budget 
February 4, 2015   Page 4 of 5 

payments that will be required on an annual basis. Those payments are estimated at 
approximately $309,000 annually.  

Should the Council direct staff to keep the project budget at $10 million, the Town would need 
to use $5.25 million in cash from existing reserves. If the Council directs staff to increase the 
project budget to $13 million, the Town will need to use $8.25 million in cash from existing 
reserves. Either way the project’s budget – as listed in the CIP – will need to be amended and 
the appropriation for the project will need to be increased through a budget amendment. Staff 
will return in March with the appropriate budget amendment to effect the Council’s decision.  

The following budget projection shows how a $13 million project would impact the Town’s 
financial position on an ongoing basis, through Fiscal Year 2021. Please note that only expenses 
are shown on this projection as the actual spreadsheet is much too large to print.  

 

As detailed in the projection above – which, it should be noted, is still a very preliminary look at 
fund balances for the draft FY2015/16 budget – the only projected year where the Town would 
expend more than it took in would be this current fiscal year. The reason for that is because of 
revised estimates from our sales tax consultants, which have indicated much stronger sales tax 
revenue growth than previously estimated.  

It should also be noted that the above projection assumes continued sales tax growth. If that 
growth does not continue, the projections would change.  

As shown in the projection, the Town would still be able to maintain a healthy reserve if the 
Council directed staff to move forward with the $13 million project. Staff would still need to 
bring forward an amendment to the required reserve policy, which currently states that the 

Attachment B



Town Hall Project Budget 
February 4, 2015  Page 5 of 5 

Town will retain 100 percent of its General Fund expenditures set aside in required reserves, 
however, because this fiscal year and next fiscal year would be below that threshold.   

It should also be noted that staff continues to budget conservatively on both the revenue and 
expenditure sides.  

Values 

City Council is exhibiting responsible decision making by reviewing building and finance 
options in what best suits the community and staff for current needs while also considering 
future needs as well.  

Alternatives 

Another option for the Town Hall project would be to simply improve the current Town Hall 
building, make all the necessary ADA accessibility enhancements, technology upgrades, HVAC 
and energy upgrades. In this alternative, Administration staff would stay in the current building, 
along with City Council operations. The engineering, planning and building departments would 
continue to be housed in the existing Annex facility until funding was made available for a new 
facility. Staff does not recommend this alternative, however, because of the cost of upgrading 
the existing Town Hall building (approximately $2 million) and the ongoing need for space for 
staff. This option also does not address the Council’s desire to house all staff under one roof.     

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends that the Council approve a motion setting the budget for the Town Hall 
project at either $13 million (which would allow the construction of the one-roof facility that 
was presented by Ratcliff) or at $10 million (which would result in the implementation of ADA 
improvements at the existing Town Hall and the construction of a new administration building 
at the Annex site).   

Attachment B



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



ATTACHMENT C

1

Town Hall Funding 2-11-15

Recommendation
Increase Town Hall Renovation Project 

budget to either:
$13 million (previously-approved proposal)

OR

$10 million (new project alternative)



ATTACHMENT C

2

Background
Town Hall renovation project Phase 1 
report approved at November meeting

– 7,000 square-foot addition to existing
building

– Built on podium, with parking underneath

Background
Current budget is only $4.25 M (CIP)
– Council conceptually agreed on $10 M

project (no formal action)
– Initial architect estimate between $12.1 M

and $12.6 M
Staff told Council will not bring back a $13 M 
project at November / December meetings



ATTACHMENT C

3

Background
Second estimate came in just as high
Now need direction on scope of 

project
– Keep approved project ($13 M)?

– Revise project to $10 M?

Original Concept
One-roof

Council Chambers, historic-portion

New addition on back for departments
– $13 Million budget



ATTACHMENT C

4

Alternative Concept
Multi-roof

Council Chambers, historic-portion

New building on Annex site for depts.
– Estimated $10 Million budget

Budgetary Issues
Either project can be built

Continue with financing plan: 
– $4.75 M COPs ($309,000 debt service)

– Remainder cash (reserves)



ATTACHMENT C

5

Budgetary Issues
$10 M project = $5.25 M cash

$13 M project = $8.25 M cash
– Either way, need budget amendment

and modification to reserve policy

Budgetary Issues
New finance information looks 

promising
– Sales tax up nearly 10 percent from

budget

– Early projections for FY 15/16 look good



ATTACHMENT C

6

Budgetary Issues
Much stronger sales tax growth than 

anticipated and projected forward
– Assumes continual growth

– Still conservative estimates



ATTACHMENT C

7

Budgetary Issues
Even with a $13 M project, by FY 17/18 
Town will return to 100 percent of GF 
expenditures in required reserve
– However, 14/15, 15/16, 16/17 anticipated

to be below 100 percent; will require 
modification to reserve policy for those 
years

Conclusion
Need direction on project budget
– I told you I wouldn’t bring back a $13 M

project; that’s new project estimate



ATTACHMENT C

8

Conclusion
Need direction on project budget
– Alternative project is workable, but isn’t

approved-project (one-roof)

Conclusion
Need direction on project budget

– Original project = $13 M ($8.25 M cash)

– Alternative project = $10 M ($5.25 M cash)

Would like direction tonight so we can 
move forward ASAP



ATTACHMENT C

9

Recommendation
Set project budget at either $13 M or

$10 M, depending on project you want
– Direct staff to bring back appropriate

budget amendment for action

– Direct staff to bring back reserve policy
modification

QUESTIONS?



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 1 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM: Michael P. Laughlin, AICP, City Planner 
Turhan J.B. Sonmez, Associate Planner 

VIA: Sean Rabé, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: April 8, 2015 

SUBJECT: Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and 
Monument Shop 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt: 

RESOLUTION GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR A FUNERAL HOME, CARETAKER 
UNIT, AND A MONUMENT SHOP; DESIGN REVIEW APPROVAL FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 
FUNERAL HOME BUILDING; AND A SIGN PERMIT FOR ENTRY SIGNAGE AT GOLDEN HILL 
MEMORIAL PARK 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Golden Hill Memorial Park is requesting approvals that will allow them to construct a new 
funeral home on the site of two existing buildings (caretaker units and monument shop) and 
allow for future construction of one caretaker unit. The funeral home will allow for Golden Hill 
to provide families with viewings, chapel services, body preparation and burial in one location.  
Typically, families are required to make funeral arrangements at a funeral home located outside 
of Colma, and then have only the burial at Golden Hill. The application is recommended for 
approval with standard construction conditions relating to compliance with building and fire 
codes (and fire hydrant installation); and compliance with stormwater management 
requirements. Operational conditions are proposed which require on-site management of 
parking during services and burials and compliance with the requirements of San Mateo County 
Environmental Health Department.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

This project will have a positive impact on the Town’s budget since funeral home and 
monument sales made at Golden Hill will be credited to Colma.  

Item #7



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 2 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1  

BACKGROUND 

Golden Hill Memorial Park is located at 2099 Hillside Boulevard (APN: 011-056-160/011-360-
170) (“Subject Property”). Golden Hill currently only has a state license to operate as a 
cemetery, and cannot legally provide the services of a licensed funeral home. Golden Hill seeks 
to be able to provide the services of a licensed funeral home, and upon the Town’s approval of 
the proposed Conditional Use Permit and Design Review, would apply for the required state 
license and construct and operate a new funeral home building. Additionally, Golden Hill has 
two (2) existing onsite caretaker units and an existing monument shop (approved by Resolution 
No. 94-1). Both the existing caretaker units and the existing monument shop are set to be 
demolished since they are located where the new building is proposed to be constructed.  

A Conditional Use Permit is required for a funeral home, caretaker unit, and monument shop. 
Design Review approval is required for a new funeral home building, and a Sign Permit is 
required for new entry signage. During construction, the monument shop use will be relocated 
to a temporary modular unit, and after construction, permanently relocated to the existing 
onsite office building. The Applicant has not yet prepared architectural drawings for the new 
caretaker unit; therefore, it will require Design Review approval prior to issuance of a building 
permit. If the proposed caretaker unit is less than 2,000 square feet in size, it may be reviewed 
Administratively by Staff; otherwise, it will need to be reviewed by the City Council. 

ANALYSIS 

Environmental 

This application was reviewed pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA), and staff determined that the project is considered Categorically Exempt 
from further environmental review under Section 15303, Class 3(c), because the proposed 
project does not involve construction in excess of 10,000 square feet and does not involve 
significant amounts of hazardous substances.  

Conditional Use Permit 

Golden Hill Memorial Park is zoned “G” Cemetery. The Colma Municipal code requires a 
Conditional Use Permit for uses “incidental to a cemetery or memorial park use,” which includes 
a licensed funeral establishment, a caretaker unit, and a monument shop, in the “G” Zone.  

Funeral Home 

There is a distinction in state law between cemeteries, crematories, and funeral homes, each 
requiring separate licensing. Golden Hill is currently licensed to operate a cemetery only, but 
seeks to be able to provide the services of a licensed funeral home. Upon the Town’s approval 
of the proposed Conditional Use Permit, Golden Hill would apply for the required state license. 

A licensed funeral establishment is a place of business devoted exclusively to the preparation 
and arrangements, financial and otherwise, for the funeral, transportation, burial or other 
disposition of human remains. Funeral establishments typically are the first point of contact for 
families that have lost loved ones, and a licensed funeral establishment shall at all times employ 
a licensed funeral director to manage, direct, or control its business or profession. Funeral 



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 3 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1  

directors help families make arrangements and decisions on the purchase of items and services 
related to the burial of a loved one. In addition, they arrange for body preparation and periods 
of visitation for families, if the family so desires.  

The proposed funeral home is a new 8,395 square foot facility that would house funeral home 
uses (casket viewing room, merchandise showroom, embalming room, and refrigerated room), 
administrative offices and a 120-seat chapel. The funeral home will have six employees, 
including a general manager, funeral director, assistant funeral director, embalmer, 
administrative assistant, and driver. Hours of operation would be from 9:30am to 5:00pm, 
seven days a week. Between 80 and 100 funeral home-related service-calls are anticipated for 
the first year.  

Since embalming of the deceased would take place in the new facility, hazardous chemicals 
used for embalming would need to be stored onsite. In order to prevent damage to the health 
or safety of people and the environment, Staff has included a condition of approval in the 
Resolution requiring the Permittee to comply with the applicable San Mateo County Health 
Department Requirements related to the Hazardous Material Business Plan Program.  

There are no parking requirements specific to cemeteries in the Colma Municipal Code, and like 
most cemeteries, Golden Hill’s internal roads are used for parking, which allows for flexibility 
depending on the number of people attending a visitation at the chapel. The plans for the 
proposed funeral home facility specify 30 designated parking spaces (including two accessible 
spaces and three loading spaces).  These spaces, along with parking along the internal roads 
will provide an estimated 200 on-site parking spaces. Staff finds the proposed onsite parking to 
be sufficient for the projected uses of the site.  

Caretaker Unit 

Any use which now or hereafter may be customarily incident to a cemetery or memorial park 
use, including a caretaker unit, may be permitted by the City Council on land located in the "G" 
Zone upon issuance of a Conditional Use Permit. There are currently two (2) legal-
nonconforming caretaker units located on the Subject property. One is a detached single-family 
structure and the other is a second-story unit located above the existing monument shop. Their 
status is legal-nonconforming because no use permits were ever granted for them. Since both 
existing caretaker units are set to be demolished to make room for construction of the new 
funeral home, Conditional Use Permit approval is required to allow for the eventual construction 
and occupation of a new caretaker unit. The Applicant has not yet prepared architectural 
drawings for a new caretaker unit; therefore, Design Review is not possible at this time. Staff 
will require Design Review for the new caretaker unit, prior to issuance of a building permit. If 
the proposed caretaker unit is less than 2,000 square feet in size, it may be reviewed 
Administratively; otherwise, it will need to be reviewed by City Council. 
 
Monument Shop 
 
Any use which now or hereafter may be customarily incident to a cemetery or memorial park 
use, including a monument shop, may be permitted by the City Council on land located in the 
"G" Zone upon issuance of a Conditional Use Permit. There is an existing monument shop 
located on the Subject property, which was approved by Resolution No. 94-1 on December 8, 
1993. Since the building which contains the existing monument shop is set to be demolished to 



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 4 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1  

make room for construction of the new funeral home, Conditional Use Permit approval is 
required to allow for the use to be temporarily relocated to a temporary modular unit, and then 
permanently relocated to an existing onsite office building.  
 
Design Review 

Funeral Home 

The Colma Municipal code requires Design Review approval for all new construction in the “DR” 
(Design Review) Zone. 

The proposed building plans for the new funeral home comply with the design criteria set out in 
Colma Municipal Code section 5.03.300 (b), which requires a Spanish/Mediterranean style. 
Elevations submitted to the Town by the project sponsor show building architecture for the 
proposed project includes Spanish-Mediterranean elements, including arched openings, stylized 
columns, tile roofs, a tower element, stucco details, and decorative trim to minimize flat walls. 
The exterior treatment of the building is stucco. Trees, shrubs, and ground coverings along 
Hillside Boulevard and contained within planters in the parking areas complement the building 
architecture.  

The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project is similar to that of 
additional sites along Hillside Boulevard containing buildings and landscapes which incorporate 
Spanish/Mediterranean elements. Together, these sites achieve a consistent site, landscape, 
and building design theme for the Town of Colma.  The proposed project will further extend a 
Spanish/Mediterranean theme towards the Town’s southern border. 

There are no height, setback, or buffering restrictions for a funeral home building in the “G” 
(Cemetery) Zone.  

Sign Permit 

The applicant is also requesting a Sign Permit for permission to install entry signage consisting 
of a 3’ x 5’ sign incorporated into a 12’ long and 6’-4” tall stone and stucco wall, topped with a 
5’–5” stone lion, on either side of the driveway. The sign lettering will consist of 7” tall metal 
letters reading, “Golden Hill Memorial Park”.  
 
Section 4.07.120 (a)(6) of the Colma Municipal Code states: 
 

4.07.120 Signs in the G Zone. 

(a) The following signs, subject to a sign permit, may be permitted in the G Zone: 

(6) On-site signs, other than billboards, identifying a cemetery. Because of the special 
cemetery nature of the Town of Colma, said signs shall be without restrictions as to size, 
pole, illumination, or number, or as to devices giving times or temperatures; provided, 
however, that said signs shall be designed and constructed in a dignified style consistent 
with cemetery use, pursuant to design review and approval by the Planning Department 
of the Town of Colma. 



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 5 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1  

Staff finds that the proposed signage is appropriate since it is designed and constructed in a 
dignified style consistent with the cemetery use and is appropriate in scale.  

FINDINGS 

Conditional Use Permit 

Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop 

Section 5.03.410 of the Colma Municipal Code requires that certain findings be made for 
approval of a Use Permit. Below is a listing of the findings and a discussion of how the 
application meets the findings: 

1. The proposed uses will be consistent with the provisions of the Colma General 
Plan and Zoning Ordinance.  

The property is designated in the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance for cemetery use. 
 Zoning for the site is “G/DR” Cemetery/Design Review. Within this zoning  designation, 
 the Colma Zoning Code allows for a cemetery use and, and with approval of a 
 Conditional Use Permit, uses incidental to the cemetery use. A funeral home, caretaker 
 unit, and monument shop are all uses that are incidental to a cemetery use. Provided 
 that the City Council approves the Conditional Use Permit, and the proposed uses 
 comply with conditions of approval,  the uses would be consistent with the goals and 
 objectives of the Colma General Plan and the Zoning Ordinance.  

2. Granting the Use Permit will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or 
public welfare, or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 

Granting of the Use Permit will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or  welfare 
 because: 

-All funeral home activities will be housed indoors.  No noticeable changes from 
 existing operations will be apparent to the public, and the Permittee shall be 
 required to comply with the applicable San Mateo County Health Department 
 Requirements related to the Hazardous Material Business Plan Program. 

-The proposed caretaker’s unit will be a support use for the cemetery and will resemble 
 a single-family residence. Also, the Permittee shall be required to comply with the 
 Town of Colma Property Maintenance Ordinance.  

-All monument shop activities will be housed indoors, except for some monument 
 displays which may be placed outside. No noticeable changes from existing operations 
 will be apparent to the public, and the Permittee shall be required to comply with the 
 Town of Colma Property Maintenance Ordinance. 

3. Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the 
proposed use.  

Golden Hill is surrounded by additional memorial parks on all sides. Funeral homes, 
 caretaker units, and monument shops are complementary uses to memorial parks; 



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 6 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1  

 therefore, existing property uses in the area, large or small, will not be detrimentally 
 affected by the proposed use. 

4. The granting of the Use Permit will not constitute a grant of special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of 
properties, large or small, within the Town of Colma.  

Because incidental cemetery uses are permitted with a Use Permit on the  Subject 
 Property, the Permittee is not requesting any special consideration and the proposed 
 uses would be subject to conditions similar to those required of other Use Permits. 
 Therefore, granting the Use Permits will not constitute a grant of special privilege 
 inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of 
 properties, large or small, within the Town of Colma. 

5. The City Council is satisfied that the proposed uses conform to the purpose and 
intent of the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance.  

Incidental cemetery uses are allowed in the Cemetery Zone subject to the issuance of a 
 Conditional Use Permit; therefore, the City Council is satisfied that the proposed uses 
 conform to the purpose and intent of the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 

6. The use will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or properties.  

Conditions of the Use Permit will ensure that all activities related to the uses will not 
 negatively impact adjoining uses.  The proposed uses can be accommodated on-site.  
 Therefore, the uses will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or properties. 

Staff believes that, subject to certain conditions of approval, all the required findings can be 
made to grant the Use Permit. The proposed findings and the recommended conditions are set 
out in the attached draft Resolution. 

Design Review 

Funeral Home 

Findings Related to Design Review: 

 1. The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project 
incorporates design elements adopted for the DR Zone. 

 The standards adopted for the DR Zone generally address the use of 
 Spanish/Mediterranean design elements for the construction of new buildings and 
 structures, and for comprehensive site and landscape design. Building architecture for 
 the proposed project includes Spanish-Mediterranean elements, including arched 
 openings, stylized columns, tile roofs, a tower element, stucco details, and decorative 
 trim to minimize flat walls. The exterior treatment of the building is stucco. Trees, 
 shrubs, and ground coverings along Hillside Boulevard, and contained within planters in 
 the parking areas, complement the building architecture.  



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 7 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1  

 2. The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project 
substantially reflects the intent of the DR zone to achieve a consistent site, landscape, and 
building design theme for the Town of Colma.  

 The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project is similar to that 
 of additional sites along Hillside Boulevard containing buildings and landscapes which 
 incorporate Spanish/Mediterranean elements. Together, these sites achieve a consistent 
 site, landscape, and building design theme for the Town of Colma.  The proposed 
 project will further extend a Spanish/Mediterranean theme towards the Town’s southern 
 border. 

Sign Permit 

Section 4.07.210(d) of the Colma Municipal Code requires that certain findings be made 
for the approval of a Sign Permit. The following findings are listed in support of the project 
approval: 

 1. The signage is consistent with the provisions of the General Plan of the Town of 
Colma. 

The proposed entry signage is allowed with a Sign Permit in areas designated and zoned 
for cemetery uses. The subject property is designated in the General Plan for cemetery 
use. The proposed signage is consistent with the provisions of the Colma General Plan, 
as well as the sign and zoning regulations of the Colma Municipal Code. 

  2. The granting of the sign permit will not be detrimental to the public health, 
safety or public welfare, or materially injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity. 

The granting of the Sign Permit will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or 
public welfare or materially injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity since 
the signage is reasonably sized, attractive, and located so as not to create a visibility 
hazard. The proposed signage will not create a visibility hazard or block other signs. 

  3. Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the 
proposed sign. 

Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the new 
signage. Surrounding uses are all related to the cemetery land use, and the signage is 
consistent with the cemetery land use. Also, the signage is non-illuminated.  

  4. The granting of the sign permit will not constitute a grant of special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the subchapter on the existing use of properties, 
large or small, with the Town of Colma. 

The proposed signage meets the regulations of the Colma Municipal Code.  Specifically, 
cemeteries are permitted flexibility in sign type, size and illumination as long as the 
signage is dignified and appropriate for the setting.  The granting of the Sign Permit will 
not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the limitations imposed by 
the Municipal Code on the existing use of properties, large or small, within the Town of 



Golden Hill Memorial Park – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 8 of 8 
25977.17000\9633898.1  

Colma since no variances are requested, and is similar to other signs permitted for 
cemetery uses in the Town. 

 5. The sign will not constitute a nuisance as to neighboring persons or properties. 

The proposed sign is a tasteful, conventional design consistent with industry standards. 
The proposed sign conforms to the purpose and intent of the General Plan and Municipal 
Code of the Town of Colma, and will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or 
properties. 

VALUES 

The recommendation is consistent with the Council value of fairness because the recommended 
decision on the Conditional Use Permit, Design Review, and Sign Permit are consistent with how 
similar requests have been handled, and with the Council value of responsibility because the 
proposed application has been carefully reviewed and conditioned so that it will be consistent 
with adopted development policies and regulations, and compatible within its setting. 

SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 

Having multiple related uses at one location allows for a “one-stop-use,” and results in less 
vehicle trips generated. 

ALTERNATIVES 

The following courses of action are available to the City Council: 

(1) Approve the Conditional Use Permit, Design Review, and Sign Permit with conditions of 
approval. 

(2) Approve the Conditional Use Permit, Design Review, and Sign Permit with modified or 
additional conditions of approval. This alternative may increase or reduce restrictions on 
the Use Permit to satisfy specific City Council concerns. 

(3) Deny the Conditional Use Permit, Design Review, and/or Sign Permit.  

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends the City Council approve the Conditional Use Permit, Design Review, and 
Sign Permit with the recommended conditions.  

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Resolution 
B. Project Plans 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 1 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1

RESOLUTION NO. 2015-__ 
Of The City Council Of The Town Of Colma 

RESOLUTION GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR A FUNERAL 
HOME, CARETAKER UNIT, AND A MONUMENT SHOP; DESIGN REVIEW 

APPROVAL FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A FUNERAL HOME BUILDING; AND A 
SIGN PERMIT FOR ENTRY SIGNAGE AT GOLDEN HILL MEMORIAL PARK 

Property Owner: Wilson Jang for Golden Hill Memorial Park 
Location: 2099 Hillside Boulevard 

Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 011-056-160/011-360-170 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Background

(a) On March 3, 2015, Wilson Jang submitted an application for a Conditional Use Permit for
a funeral home, caretaker unit, and monument shop, Design Review approval for the 
construction of a funeral home, and a Sign Permit for entry signage at Golden Hill Memorial 
Park; 

(b) A public hearing was held on this matter on April 8, 2015, and evidence was taken at 
the public hearing; 

(c) The City Council has considered the staff report, and evidence presented at the public 
hearing. 

2. Findings.

The City Council finds that: 

Finding Related to CEQA 

(a) This application was reviewed pursuant to the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), and staff determined that the project is considered 
Categorically Exempt from further environmental review under Section 15303, Class 3(c), 
because the proposed project does not involve construction in excess of 10,000 square feet and 
does not involve significant amounts of hazardous substances. 

Findings Related to Conditional Use Permit for Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and 
Monument Shop Uses 

(b) The proposed uses will be consistent with the provisions of the Colma General Plan and 
Zoning Ordinance.  

The property is designated in the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance for  cemetery use. 
Zoning for the site is “G/DR” Cemetery/Design Review. Within this zoning  designation, 
the Colma Zoning Code allows for a cemetery use and uses incidental to the cemetery 
use. A funeral home, caretaker unit, and monument shop are all uses that are incidental 
to a cemetery use. Provided that the proposed uses comply with conditions of approval, 

ATTACHMENT A 

Attachment A



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 2 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

 the uses would be consistent with the goals and objectives of the Colma General Plan 
 and the Zoning Ordinance.  

(c) Granting the Use Permit will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or public 
welfare, or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 

 Granting of the Use Permits will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or 
 welfare because: 

 -All funeral home activities will be housed indoors.  No noticeable changes from existing 
 operations will be apparent to the public, and the Permittee shall be required to comply 
 with the applicable San Mateo County Hazardous Material Business Plan Program 
 requirements. 

 -The proposed caretaker’s unit will be a support use for the cemetery and will resemble 
 a single-family residence. Also, the Permittee shall be required to comply with the Town 
 of Colma Property Maintenance Ordinance.  

 -All monument shop activities will be housed indoors, except for some monument 
 displays which may be placed outside. No noticeable changes from existing operations 
 will be apparent to the public, and the Permittee shall be required to comply with the 
 Town of Colma Property Maintenance Ordinance. 

(d) Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the proposed 
use.  

 Golden Hill is surrounded by additional memorial parks on all sides. Funeral homes, 
 caretaker units, and monument shops are complementary uses to memorial parks; 
 therefore, existing property uses in the area, large or small, will not be detrimentally 
 affected by the proposed use. 

(e) The granting of the Use Permit will not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent 
with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of properties, large or 
small, within the Town of Colma.  

 Because incidental cemetery uses are permitted with a Use Permit on the  Subject 
 Property, the Permittee is not requesting any special consideration and the proposed 
 uses would be subject to conditions similar to those required of other Use Permits. 
 Therefore, granting the Use Permits will not constitute a grant of special privilege 
 inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of 
 properties, large or small, within the Town of Colma. 

(f) The City Council is satisfied that the proposed uses conform to the purpose and intent of 
the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance.  

 Incidental cemetery uses are allowed in the Cemetery Zone subject to the issuance of a 
 Conditional Use Permit; therefore, the City Council is satisfied that the proposed uses 
 conform to the purpose and intent of the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 

(g) The use will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or properties.  



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 3 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

 Conditions of the Use Permit will ensure that all activities related to the uses will not 
 negatively impact adjoining uses.  The proposed uses can be accommodated on-site.  
 Therefore, the uses will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or properties. 

Findings Related to Design Review for Funeral Home 

(a) The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project incorporates 
design elements adopted for the DR Zone. 

 The standards adopted for the DR Zone generally address the use of 
 Spanish/Mediterranean design elements for the construction of new buildings and 
 structures, and for comprehensive site and landscape design. Building architecture for 
 the proposed project includes Spanish-Mediterranean elements, including arched 
 openings, stylized columns, tile roofs, a tower element, stucco details, and decorative 
 trim to minimize flat walls. The exterior treatment of the building is stucco. Trees, 
 shrubs, and ground coverings along Hillside Boulevard, and contained within planters in 
 the parking areas, complement the building architecture.  

(b) The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project substantially 
reflects the intent of the DR zone to achieve a consistent site, landscape, and building design 
theme for the Town of Colma.  

 The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project is similar to that of 
 additional sites along Hillside Boulevard containing buildings and landscapes which 
 incorporate Spanish/Mediterranean elements. Together, these sites achieve a consistent 
 site, landscape, and building design theme for the Town of Colma. The proposed project 
 will further extend a Spanish/Mediterranean theme towards the Town’s southern border. 

Findings Related to Sign Permit 

(a) The signage is consistent with the provisions of the General Plan of the Town of Colma. 

 The proposed entry signage is allowed with a Sign Permit in areas designated and zoned 
 for cemetery uses. The subject property is designated in the General Plan for cemetery 
 use. The proposed signage is consistent with the provisions of the Colma General Plan, 
 as well as the sign and zoning regulations of the Colma Municipal Code. 

(b) The granting of the sign permit will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or 
public welfare, or materially injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity. 

 The granting of the Sign Permit will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or 
 public welfare or materially injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity since 
 the signage is reasonably sized, attractive, and located so as not to create a visibility 
 hazard. The proposed signage will not create a visibility hazard or block other signs. 

(c) Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the proposed 
sign. 

 Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the new 
 signage. Surrounding uses are all related to the cemetery land use, and the signage is 
 consistent with the cemetery land use. Also, the signage is non-illuminated.  



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 4 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

(d) The granting of the sign permit will not constitute a grant of special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the subchapter on the existing use of properties, 
large or small, with the Town of Colma. 

 The proposed signage meets the regulations of the Colma Municipal Code.  Specifically, 
 cemeteries are permitted flexibility in sign type, size and illumination as long as the 
 signage is dignified and appropriate for the setting.  The granting of the Sign Permit will 
 not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the limitations imposed by 
 the Municipal Code on the existing use of properties, large or small, within the Town of 
 Colma since no variances are requested, and is similar to other signs permitted for 
 cemetery uses in the Town. 

(e) The sign will not constitute a nuisance as to neighboring persons or properties. 

 The proposed sign is a tasteful, conventional design consistent with industry standards. 
 The proposed sign conforms to the purpose and intent of the General Plan and Municipal 
 Code of the Town of Colma, and will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or 
 properties. 

3. Conditional Use Permit, and Sign Permit  Granted, and Funeral Home Design 
Approved 

A Conditional Use Permit for a funeral home, caretaker unit, and monument shop, Design 
Review Approval for the construction and operation of a funeral home, and a Sign Permit for 
entry signage at Golden Hill Memorial Park, located at 2099 Hillside Boulevard (APN:011-056-
160/011-360-170), is hereby approved, subject to the general terms and conditions set forth in 
this Resolution and the following project-specific conditions: 

Conditional Use Permit 

(a) This Use Permit shall specifically allow the use of the property for a cemetery, chapel, 
funeral home, caretaker unit, and monument shop.  Any additional business uses are prohibited 
unless an amendment to the Use Permit is obtained. 

(b) Prior to commencement of the use of the premises as a funeral home, caretaker unit, or 
monument shop, the Permittee must obtain an inspection and approval by the Colma Fire 
Protection District of the premises and must install all fire-safety equipment and improvements 
ordered by the Colma Fire Protection District. Thereafter, the Permittee must maintain all fire-
safety equipment and improvements in good working condition. 

(c) At no time shall inventory related to funeral sales block hallways or exits. 

(d) The Permittee shall at all times comply with the standards and regulations set forth by 
the State Cemetery and Funeral Bureau. 

(e) The Permittee shall at all times comply with the Town’s Property Maintenance Ordinance 
and maintain the exterior of all structures in a tidy appearance, and shall care for and maintain 
all landscaping in a viable condition. The Permittee shall not allow any nuisance to be 
maintained at the premises. 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 5 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

(f) The caretaker unit shall be occupied only by a Golden Hill Cemetery employee and the 
employee’s family. Verification shall be provided upon request of the Town of Colma. 

(g) All funeral home and monument shop activities shall be housed within their respective 
buildings. Some monuments displays may be placed outside the monument shop. 

(h) The Permittee shall comply with the applicable San Mateo County Hazardous Material 
requirements. 

(i) The Permittee shall maintain a Town of Colma Business Registration. 

(j) The Permittee shall prepare plans, apply for and receive Administrative Design Review 
approval for the new caretaker unit, prior to issuance of a Building Permit.  

Design Review for Funeral Home 

(k) This approval is for the project presented in the Project Plans entitled “Golden Hills 
Memorial Park Funeral Home ,” date stamped March 3, 2015 (with pages A0.0 to A4.0, C1.0 to 
C3.0 and L1.0), prepared by JST Architects and Cunningham Engineering, and on file in the 
office of the City Planner. All plans submitted for required permits and subsequent 
development, construction, operation and use on the site shall be in substantial compliance with 
these documents, subject to the changes and conditions set out herein. 

(l) The Permittee shall obtain all necessary building permits.  

(m) Minor changes to the approved plans may be approved administratively by the City 
Planner or designee.  Major changes to the approved plans shall be reviewed by the City 
Planner or designee to determine whether such changes require submittal and approval of a 
revision of the project approvals, or whether the changes require new or additional permits. 

(n) Standard parking spaces shall be no smaller than 9’ wide and 18’ long and compact 
spaces shall be no longer 8’ by 16’. Disabled parking spaces shall meet ADA width and overhead 
clearance requirements. All perpendicular parking spaces shall be served by an access aisle no 
smaller than 24’ wide.  

(o) Exterior colors and materials for the building must be consistent with plans submitted to 
and approved by the City Planner. Exterior colors and materials require approval by the City 
Planner prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

(p) The building shall be provided with an address that is clearly visible from the roadway. 

(q) Landscaping shall be primarily as shown in the Project Plans entitled “Golden Hills 
Memorial Park Funeral Home ,” date stamped March 3, 2015 (with pages A0.0 to A4.0, C1.0 to 
C3.0 and L1.0), prepared by JST Architects and Cunningham Engineering, and on file in the 
office of the City Planner. 

Public Works  

(r) Will-Serve Letters.  Prior to submitting application for a Grading and/or a Building 
Permit, the Permittee shall provide “will-serve” letters from all utility companies that will provide 
service to the project. 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 6 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

(s) Grading Permit.  The Permittee shall fill out a Grading Permit Application form and apply 
for a Grading Permit from the Engineering Department prior to performing any clearing, 
grubbing, earth work or site work.  

(t) Encroachment Permit.  The Permittee shall obtain an Encroachment Permit from the 
Engineering Department prior to performing any work in the public right-of-way, including work 
on any utilities located within the public right-of-way. 

(u) Financial Guarantees.   The Permittee must post a security bond, cash deposit, or letter 
of credit in an amount no less than 100% of the estimated cost of all off-site and on-site 
improvements to guarantee to the Town the faithful performance of all work and all conditions 
contained or described in the Permit. The financial guarantee shall also include a two-year 
maintenance provision that provides for 10% of the bond to be held for two years to make any 
repairs or corrections to the public improvements identified within two years of the 
improvements being accepted as complete by the City. The estimated cost of the off-site public 
improvements shall be determined by the City Engineer, and the security must be in a form 
reasonably satisfactory to the City Attorney. 

(v) Geotechnical Report. At the time of application for a grading permit, the Permittee shall 
submit a Soils/Geotechnical Report prepared by a California-registered qualified Soils Engineer 
licensed to perform geotechnical analysis for City Engineer’s review and approval. The plans 
submitted for permits shall incorporate all recommendations from the approved Soils Report 
and all construction shall comply with its recommendations.  

(w) Geotechnical Verification. Along with filing for a grading permit, Permittee shall submit a 
letter from the Geotechnical Engineer verifying that the plans submitted are in conformance 
with the Geotechnical report submitted for the project. 

(x) Hydrology Study.  At the time of application for a grading permit, the Permittee shall 
submit a hydrology study prepared by a California-registered qualified engineer for the City 
Engineer’s review and approval.  The hydrology study shall include hydraulic calculations for 
pipe sizing of all drainage, sanitary sewer and water facilities and shall identify the type of pipe 
to be used. The plans submitted for permits shall incorporate all recommendations from the 
approved Hydrology Study and all construction shall comply with its recommendations. 

(y) Runoff Across Property Lines Prohibited.  Runoff shall not be allowed to flow across lot 
lines or across subdivision boundaries onto adjacent private property without an easement 
being recorded by the Permittee at no cost to the Town.  

(z) Construction and Demolition Recycling.  The Permittee shall obtain a Demolition Permit 
from the Colma Building Department, and any other related permit(s) prior to starting any 
demolition work.   

(aa) Hazardous Materials and Contaminated Soil.  Prior to issuance of a grading permit or a 
demolition permit, the Permittee shall submit a Phase 1 Environmental Assessment report.  
Prior to commencing any work on the project, the Permittee must remove all hazardous 
materials and remediate all contaminated soil conditions documented in the report to the 
satisfaction of the San Mateo County Health Department [or Air District for building demolition 
which may include asbestos or lead paint].  Prior to the issuance of building permits, the 
Permittee shall submit certification to the City Engineer that hazardous materials have been 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 7 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

removed and that any contaminated soil conditions have been remediated.  Best Management 
Practices (BMP’s) shall be installed to prevent any hazardous materials from entering into the 
storm drain system. 

(bb) Sanitary Sewer Facility Standards.  All sanitary sewer facilities shall be designed in 
accordance with the Uniform Plumbing Code and the standards of the North San Mateo County 
Sanitation District (NSMCSD). Permittee shall be responsible to obtain a sewer connection 
permit from NSMCSD, install any pre-treatment devices as required by NSMCSD prior to 
connection to the Sewer Main, and pay all associated fees to NSMCSD. 

(cc) Traffic Control Plan.  The Permittee shall submit a Traffic Control Plan to the City 
Engineer for review and approval prior to commencing any work in the public right-of-way. The 
Plan shall include at least the following: the route(s) that construction trucks shall use to access 
the property, identification of the access point(s) to the site, any proposed staging area for 
trucks waiting to enter the site, traffic management for any work within the improved portion of 
a public right-of-way, and any proposed traffic controls, such as the use of flaggers to ensure 
the safe entry and exit of trucks accessing the project site. Throughout the construction period 
for the project, the Permittee must faithfully implement the approved Traffic Control Plan. 

(dd) Utility Undergrounding.  All utility lines serving the project site shall be installed through 
underground service connections only.   

(ee) Design of Public Improvements.  All public improvements including grading/ drainage/ 
driveways/ curbs/ gutters/ sidewalks/ lighting/ planting/ street resurfacing, etc shall be 
designed in accordance with the Town of Colma standard details and specifications, and 
installed to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  

(ff) Stormwater Treatment/ Low Impact Development LID. This Project shall comply with all 
requirements of Provisions C.3 and C.6 of the Municipal Regional Stormwater NPDES Permit 
(MRP), specifically:   

 This project is subject to compliance with C-3 requirements of the MRP for Regulated 
Projects (Projects that create and/or replace 10,000 square feet or more of impervious 
surface).  Design and install appropriate Site Design, Source Control, Low Impact 
Development (LID), Stormwater Treatment and Construction Best Management 
Practices (BMP’s) as identified in the C.3 and C.6 Development Review Checklist and in 
substantial conformance with the Conceptual C-3 Stormwater Quality Plans for the 
project submitted for design review on March 3, 2015. 

 The Permittee must subscribe to a regular refuse and recyclable items collection service 
(minimum pick-up of once per week) for the funeral home, the monument shop, and the 
caretaker unit. For the funeral home, adequate space for storage of standard containers 
for depositing trash, green waste and recyclable items awaiting pickup shall be provided 
in the garage (as shown in the project plans). For the monument shop, adequate space 
for storage of standard containers for depositing trash, green waste and recyclable items 
awaiting pickup shall be provided within a screened area along the east wall of the 
existing office unit. For the caretaker unit, adequate space for storage of standard 
containers for depositing trash and recyclable items awaiting pickup shall be indicated 
on the project plans submitted for required Administrative Design Review. 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 8 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

 Interior floor drains shall be plumbed to the sanitary sewer system/ treatment device 
acceptable to the City Engineer and shall not be connected to storm drains.   

 The project design and construction shall provide for fire sprinkler test water to be 
discharged into landscaped areas or the sanitary sewer system.  

 Condensate from air conditioning units shall be directed to landscape areas and/or 
connected to the sanitary sewer system.  Any anti-algal or descaling agents must be 
properly disposed of.   

 Storm drain inlets shall be clearly marked with the words “No Dumping! Flows to Bay,” 
or equivalent, using methods approved by the Town. 

 A site specific erosion and sediment control plan (ESC) and Construction Best 
Management Practices (BMP) plan sheet shall be included in the construction plan set to 
be submitted for review and approval for a grading permit.  Erosion & Sediment Control 
Measures and Best Management Practices shall be implemented and maintained 
throughout the duration of construction. 

(gg) Maintenance Agreement for Stormwater Treatment Measures. For projects incorporating 
stormwater treatment measures, the Permittee shall enter into a Stormwater Treatment 
Measures Maintenance Agreement, in accordance with Provision C.3.e of the NPDES permit, 
which provides, in part, for the following:  

 The Permittee accepting responsibility for the adequate installation/construction, 
operation, maintenance, inspection, and reporting of any on-site stormwater treatment 
measures being incorporated into the project until the responsibility is legally transferred 
to another entity; and  

 Legal access to the on-site stormwater treatment measures for representatives of the 
City, the local  vector control district, and staff of the Regional Water Quality Control 
Board, San Francisco Region, for the purpose of verifying the implementation, operation, 
and maintenance of the on-site stormwater treatment measures and to take corrective 
action if necessary.  

The maintenance agreement shall be recorded at the County Recorder’s Office at the 
Permittee’s expense. 

(hh) Water Efficient landscaping requirements.  Drought and pest resistant landscaping shall 
be installed in compliance with the Town’s Ordinance and Water Efficient Landscape 
Requirements of State AB 1881. Permittee shall submit water usage and efficiency calculations 
for City Planner’s approval. 

(ii) Accessibility and Frontage Improvements.  All proposed walkways/pathways shall 
comply with ADA and California Title 24 requirements for accessibility. 

 Sidewalk fronting the property shall meet accessibility requirements for path of travel 
width, slopes and clearances.  Non-complaint and/or damaged sidewalk along the 
property frontage shall be replaced and/or reconstructed at the Permittees expense. 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 9 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

 A code compliant accessible ramp shall be installed at the SE corner of the project (Golf 
Course Rd. intersection). 

 Utility cuts and trenches in the public right-of-way shall be restored in conformance with 
the Town’s standard details. Two (2) or more utility trench cuts shall be repaired with a 
single asphalt patch.  

(jj) Approved Haul Route.  The Permittee shall submit proposed haul route for review and 
approval by the City Engineer. All contractors and suppliers shall be advised to use the 
approved haul route in moving materials and equipment to and from the project site.  

(kk) Repairs to Public Improvements.  The Permittee shall be responsible for the cost of 
repairs to any improvements within the public right-of-way that are damaged during 
construction. All damage that is a threat to public health or safety, as determined by the City 
Engineer, shall be repaired immediately. 

(ll) Storage of Materials in Public Roadway. No materials or equipment shall be stored on 
the improved portion of any public roadway at any time. 

(mm) Litter Control. Prior to the end of each work day during construction, the contractor or 
contractors shall pick up and properly dispose of all litter resulting from or related to the 
project, whether located on the property, within the public rights-of-way, or properties of 
adjacent or nearby neighbors. 

(nn) A Final Certification from the Civil Engineer shall be submitted certifying that all grading 
operations complied with the approved Grading Plan. 

(oo) The Permittee should contact USA North to assure that there are no utilities that conflict 
with the proposed improvements (USA North: 811/1-800-227-2600). 

Building Code Compliance 

(pp) The Permittee shall incorporate the following into plans submitted for Building Permit: 

 Occupancy Group: (as defined in the CA Building Code) 
 Construction Type (as defined in the CA Building Code) 

 

(qq) Construction shall comply with the following codes: 
 

 2013 California Building Code 

 2013 California Electrical Code 
 2013 California Mechanical Code 
 2013 California Plumbing Code 
 2013 California Energy Code 
 2013 California Fire Code – as amended by the Town of Colma 
 2013 California Green Building Standards Code 

 
 

 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 10 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

Fire Access 

(rr) The building shall comply with the requirements of the 2013 California Fire Code and 
the Amendments of the Colma Fire Protection District. 

(ss) The building shall be provided with an Automatic Fire Extinguishing System designed in 
accordance with NFPA 13, 2013 Edition. A separate application and permit are required for the 
installation of Fire Sprinklers, Underground Fire Service, Fire Hydrant, and Fire Alarm System. 

(tt) The building shall be provided with an address, located where clearly visible from the 
street and in numerals a minimum of 6 inches in height 1 inch stroke and of contrasting color to 
their background. 

(uu) A Knox Key-Lock Box shall be provided at one or more locations, per the request of the 
Colma Fire District. Please contact Captain Pardini at 650-740-2073 to determine locations and 
to obtain an application for the key-lock box.   

(vv) All Inspections shall be scheduled a minimum of 48 hours in advance, please call 
Captain Bill Pardini to schedule. Captain Pardini can be reached at 650-740-2073. 

(ww) Location of the FDC, DDCV/OS&Y, Fire Sprinkler Riser, Fire Alarm Panel, Remote 
Annunciator (inside main entry) Fire Sprinkler Drain (Shall discharge to landscaping) Knox Key-
Lock Box and Building Address shall be identified on plans submitted for Building Permits.   

(xx) A Maximum Occupant Load sign shall be displayed in the chapel. 

(yy) The funeral home building shall have Exit Signs as well as Emergency Egress 
Illumination – including at the exterior side of all egress doors in accordance with CBC 1006.3 
item # 5. 

Conditions Applicable to Construction Activities 

(zz) Posting of Construction Information and Construction Hours. Prior to commencing any 
work on the project, including demolition or grading work, the Permittee shall post on the 
project site in clear view of the public right-of-way, a sign indicating the hours of construction 
(to be decided by Building Official at time of Building Permit issuance) and a phone number of 
the Permittee to call for noise complaints. 

(aaa) Staking of Property Boundaries and Building Corners. Prior to commencing any work on 
the project, the Permittee shall have the property boundaries staked by a California-licensed 
land surveyor or a California-registered qualified engineer.  For new buildings, the written 
verification that the placement of the retaining walls and building comply with the approved site 
plan, prepared by a California-licensed surveyor or civil engineer licensed to practice surveying, 
shall be submitted and found acceptable by the Building Official prior to pouring of any 
foundation.  

(bbb) Permitted Grading Season. Grading work shall be limited to the period between April 15 
and October 1 unless an alternative schedule is approved in writing by the City Engineer in 
conjunction with the approval of an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan.  

 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 11 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

Sign Permit 

(ccc) Signage shall be as shown in the Project Plans entitled “Golden Hills Memorial Park 
Funeral Home ,” date stamped March 3, 2015 (with pages A0.0 to A4.0, C1.0 to C3.0 and L1.0), 
prepared by JST Architects and Cunningham Engineering, and on file in the office of the City 
Planner. 

(ddd) The signage shall be maintained in good repair at all times. 

(eee) A copy of these conditions of approval shall be included in the building permit plan set.   

4. Terms 

(a) Permittee. As used in this Permit, the word “Permittee” shall mean each person 
using the property pursuant to the permit granted herein, including successors to the person 
first obtaining the permit.  

(b) Recordable Covenant; Transfer.  The Town may record this Use Permit with the 
San Mateo County Recorder. The Use Permit shall run with the land and shall be freely and 
automatically transferred to each user of the property described herein, subject to each of the 
specific and general conditions herein. 

(c) Prior Entitlements. The granting of this Use Permit shall supersede any existing 
use permits and non-conforming use rights, rendering them null and void.  This includes 
Resolution 94 – 1, if and when the existing monument shop is demolished. 

(d) Amendments.  

(i) The City Planner may, through the administrative process, grant an 
extension of time to comply with any condition of approval or an amendment to the Sign Permit 
or a Minor Amendment to the Design Approval or the conditions of the Use Permit. Any other 
amendment may be granted only by the City Council. 

(ii) A Minor Amendment means any approval that would qualify for a 
categorical exemption under CEQA Guidelines. 

(e) Modification or Revocation for Cause. The Town may modify or revoke this 
Permit should it determine that (a) the property is being operated or maintained in a manner 
that is detrimental to the public health or welfare, is materially injurious to property or 
improvements in the vicinity, constitutes a public nuisance, or is contrary to any law, code or 
regulation, or (b) if the user fails to comply with and satisfy the conditions herein. 

5. General Conditions 

(a) This Permit is conditioned upon the Permittee and each user of the subject 
property fully and faithfully performing each of the following generally-applicable obligations.  

(b) Duty to Comply With Laws. The Permittee and each user must comply with all 
applicable federal, state and municipal laws, codes and regulations. Nothing herein shall be 
construed as authorizing any approvals under, or any exceptions to any other law, code or 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 12 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

regulation, or as authorizing any change to the occupancy classification of the premises or any 
buildings thereon. 

(c) Indemnification. The Permittee shall indemnify, pay and hold the Town of Colma 
harmless from all costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees, incurred by the Town or held to 
be the liability of the Town in connection with the Town’s defense of its actions in any 
proceeding brought in any state or federal court challenging the Town’s actions with respect to 
the Permittee’s project. 

(d) Agreement Required. The Permittee must agree to comply with each and every 
term and condition herein by counter-signing a copy of this Resolution and returning the 
counter-signed copy to the City Clerk no later than forty-five (45) days following City Council 
approval of the permit. If Permittee is not the property owner, then the property owner must 
consent to use of the property on the terms and conditions herein by counter-signing a copy of 
this resolution and returning the counter-signed copy to the City Clerk no later than forty-five 
(45) days following City Council approval of the permit.  

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

// 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2015-## was duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
said City Council held on April 8, 2015 by the following vote: 

Name Counted toward Quorum Not Counted toward Quorum 

  Aye No Abstain Present, Recused  Absent 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      

Diana Colvin       

Helen Fisicaro      

Raquel Gonzalez      

Joseph Silva      

Voting Tally      

 
 
Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
  Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 
 

 
 Attest:______________________________ 
    Sean Rabé, City Clerk 



Res. 2015-__, Golden Hill – Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit, and Monument Shop Page 13 of 13 
25977.17000\9633891.1  

 
NOTICE OF RIGHT TO PROTEST 

 

The Conditions of Project Approval set forth herein include certain fees, dedication 
requirements, reservation requirements, and other exactions. Pursuant to Government Code 
Section 66020(d)(1), these Conditions constitute written notice of a statement of the amount of 
such fees, and a description of the dedications, reservations, and other exactions. You are 
hereby further notified that the 90-day approval period in which you may protest these fees, 
dedications, reservations, and other exactions, pursuant to Government Code Section 66020(a), 
began on date of adoption of this resolution. If you fail to file a protest within this 90-day period 
complying with all of the requirements of Section 66020, you will be legally barred from later 
challenging such exactions. 

AGREEMENT 

Property Owner/Permittee 

The undersigned agrees to comply with each and every condition set forth in this resolution. 

Dated: _________________  ______________________________________ 
Wilson Jang for Golden Hill Memorial Park 

[Notarization of Property Owner's signature recommended] 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



Attachment B



















 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Michael P. Laughlin, AICP, City Planner 

VIA:  Sean Rabé, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: April 8, 2015 

SUBJECT: 203-207B Collins Avenue – Assisted Living Facility 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following: 

MOTION TO INTRODUCE AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN AMENDED ZONING MAP AND 
APPROVING A PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE FOR 203-207B COLLINS AVENUE 

RESOLUTION CONDITIONALLY APPROVING SECOND AMENDED PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT (PD) CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AND DESIGN REVIEW FOR AN 
ASSISTED LIVING FACILITY AT 203-207B COLLINS AVENUE 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Claremont Retirement Management Services is seeking a Planned Development Amendment for 
the former Home Sweet Home property (now Peninsula Reflections).  A Planned Development 
Amendment is required since the current designated use for the vacant lot located at the 
northeast corner of Collins Avenue and El Camino Real is for a skilled nursing facility that was 
never constructed. This lot is now proposed for surface parking. A Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 
amendment is also required for a new additional memory care use on-site. A minor Design 
Review approval is required for reconfiguration of the building entrance, construction of a 
fenced courtyard for the memory care services, and flatwork associated with the parking lot 
expansion.  

PROCEDURE 

The City Attorney has recommended that should the City Council choose to adopt the resolution 
approving the second amended planned development Conditional Use Permit and Design 
Review, that the approval be conditional and only become effective if the City Council also 
adopts the ordinance approving the Planned Development Amendment. The City Attorney has 
included language in the resolution to indicate the resolution will only become effective at the 
time the ordinance becomes effective, which is 30 days after final adoption. 

Staff Report – 203-207B Collins Avenue Assisted Living  Page 1 of 7 

Item #8



FISCAL IMPACT 

The Planned Development rezoning, associated exterior improvements, and additional memory 
care use will not have a fiscal impact to the Town. 

BACKGROUND 

The City Council rezoned the project site as Planned Development in 1992 (Ordinance 439), and 
the property was developed, with occupation of the buildings in 1995.  The buildings consist of 
a 34 room, 57 bed senior care facility and two small commercial buildings with 21 parking 
spaces. The two small commercial buildings were previously used for senior day care, resident 
storage and a second hand shop approved by a separate CUP (Resolution 2009-28).  

In June of 2000, the City Council rezoned the adjacent vacant parcel east of the buildings 
located at 203 Collins Avenue as Planned Development for a 28 room skilled nursing facility 
(Ordinance 574).    At this same time, the City Council approved a CUP amendment to allow a 
skilled nursing facility (Resolution 2000-34). This facility was never built.  

In January of 2015, the City Council approved a Conditional Use Permit that repealed the two 
prior CUPs for the site and allowed the Applicant to  re-occupy the facility for assisted living 
with the same number of beds (Resolution 2015-03). The Applicant is working with the State 
Department of Social Services to transition the existing care license into their name. The 
applicant anticipates opening of the facility in April of 2015. 

In anticipation of this opening, the Applicant is now seeking to provide memory care on-site. 
This is a new use which triggers the need for a CUP amendment. In providing memory care 
(and to advertise that the facility takes memory care residents), the Applicant is required by the 
State to provide a secured perimeter and area of refuge at least 50 feet away from the building 
for residents in the event of an emergency. In order to satisfy this requirement, the Applicant is 
proposing to improve the existing entrance into the building and to create a fenced outdoor 
courtyard area in front of the building triggering the need for Design Review approval. Creation 
of the courtyard will necessitate removal of parking spaces. The Applicant is proposing to 
relocate these parking spaces on the adjoining vacant lot which requires the Planned 
Development Amendment. 

ANALYSIS 

CEQA Determination 

This application was reviewed pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA).  The application was determined to be exempt pursuant to Section 15301 
Class 1(a) of the state CEQA Guidelines which permits the minor alteration of an existing private 
structure with negligible expansion of the use. 

Planned Development Amendment 

A Planned Development Amendment is required to implement the change in use from skilled 
nursing facility to surface parking for the vacant lot and to consolidate the existing Planned 
Development approvals. As shown in the attached Planned Development Ordinance, the 

Staff Report – 203-207B Collins Avenue Assisted Living  Page 2 of 7 
 



ordinance establishes development standards for site development (such as setbacks, height, 
land use etc.) consistent with the improvements already on the property and the minor 
improvements proposed (parking lot expansion and fenced courtyard). It also specifies the 
conditionally permitted land uses for the property.  

Recommended findings for the Planned Development Amendment are as follows: 

a) That the proposed uses are, in substantial part, generally or conditionally permitted 
under the zoning classification for the proposed district in existence at the time of the 
application.  

Discussion: The proposed use is consistent with the existing PD District, which was 
established in 1992 for assisted living.  

b) The uses proposed will not be detrimental to present and potential surrounding uses, 
but will have a beneficial effect which could not be achieved under other zoning districts.  

Discussion: Adoption of the PD zoning for the site is consistent with, and is a logical 
amendment to, the existing PD zoning for the properties which comprise the assisted 
living complex. The PD Zoning Amendment is consistent with prior uses on the site for 
assisted living.  The proposed assisted living with memory care use and parking changes 
will not impact surrounding uses. The net increase in parking will benefit the project and 
surrounding uses since the project will not impact street parking.  

c) The streets and thoroughfares proposed are suitable and adequate to carry anticipated 
traffic and the density will not generate traffic in such amounts as to overload the street 
network outside the PD District.  

Discussion: The development is served by existing streets with all access from Collins 
Avenue.  Residents of the assisted living facility do not drive and are not permitted to 
maintain a vehicle on-site; therefore, the only traffic generated will be from staff and 
visitors. There is sufficient off-street parking proposed to satisfy anticipated parking 
demand for employees and guests. 

d) The proposed development can be economically justified at the location proposed.  

Discussion: The assisted living facility has been a successful assisted living facility since 
its opening in 1995.   

e) The impact created by the development can be absorbed and serviced by the Town.  

Discussion: The applicant proposes to staff the assisted living facility on a 24 hour basis 
and proposes to operate the facility in a manner that will minimize calls for police and 
fire services.  No unusual demands for water and sewer service will occur.  Utilities exist 
in the adjacent street and are available to the property.  

Conditional Use Permit Amendment 

Approval of the CUP amendment will amend the existing CUP approved via Resolution No. 
2015-03 to clarify that memory care is allowed on the project site and impose appropriate 

Staff Report – 203-207B Collins Avenue Assisted Living  Page 3 of 7 
 



conditions.  All uses in the PD zone require a CUP pursuant to Colma Municipal Code section 
5.03.130.  

Conditions have been included in the CUP amendment to address allowed uses, maintenance of 
the site, fire/life safety and deliveries to the project site. Approval of the CUP amendment will 
not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the 
Zoning Ordinance. Allowing memory care at a senior assisted living facility is consistent with the 
Zoning Ordinance and General Plan as further stated below. 

Recommended findings for approval of the CUP amendment are as follows: 

a) The proposed use will be consistent with the provisions of the Colma General Plan and 
Zoning Ordinance.  

Discussion: The proposed use is consistent with the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance 
of the Town of Colma.  The General Plan also contains a goal to encourage facilities 
which provide care for senior citizens (Colma Administrative Code Section 5.02.216). 
The Colma Zoning Ordinance allows for the rezoning of properties to a Planned 
Development Zone to accommodate uses such as assisted living with memory care.  
Since 1992, the site has been zoned for assisted living use.  

b) Granting the CUP amendment will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or 
public welfare, or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 

Discussion: Granting the CUP amendment will not be detrimental to the public health, 
safety or welfare because the facility is residential in nature. The use is beneficial since it 
provides a facility for local seniors to live when needed and provides memory care. The 
facility is located adjacent to existing commercial and office uses, and there is no 
evidence that the proposed use will affect these neighboring uses.  

c) Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the proposed 
use.  

Discussion: Granting the CUP amendment will allow for memory care use in addition to 
the existing assisted living use granted by the CUP in January of 2015. Given the 
minimal level of activity that will be occurring on the site and the provision of adequate 
parking for staff and guests, surrounding properties will not be impacted. Upon 
implementing the exterior changes, there will be a net increase of five parking spaces. 
Therefore, existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by 
the proposed use. 

d) Granting the CUP amendment will not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of 
properties, large or small, within the Town of Colma.  

Discussion: The CUP amendment will authorize a use consistent with the Planned 
Development Zone.  As a CUP is required for any use in the Planned Development Zone, 
approval of the CUP amendment would not constitute the granting of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of 

Staff Report – 203-207B Collins Avenue Assisted Living  Page 4 of 7 
 



properties, large or small, within the Town of Colma. The Colma Zoning Ordinance 
allows uses such as memory care in an assisted living facility In a PD zone. 

e) The City Council is satisfied that the proposed use conforms to the purpose and intent of 
the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance.  

Discussion: The General Plan contains a goal to encourage facilities which provide care 
for senior citizens (Colma Administrative Code Section 5.02.216). In 1992, the City 
Council rezoned the subject site to Planned Development to allow for this land use.  
Since the site is zoned specifically for assisted living, the addition of the memory care 
use is consistent with both the General Plan and the PD zoning of the site. 

f) The use will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or properties.  

The CUP amendment is conditioned to ensure that all activities related to the assisted 
living facility, with memory care use, will not negatively impact adjoining commercial 
and office uses. Specifically, the CUP is conditioned to require property and landscape 
maintenance; to maintain an assistance and evacuation plan; and to regulate truck 
deliveries. The proposed use will provide required parking on-site for employees and 
visitors.  

Design Review 

Design Review approval is required as the applicant is proposing to improve the existing 
entrance into the building and to create a fenced outdoor courtyard area in front of the 
building. This change is required by the State for dementia/memory care uses. Because the 
applicant plans to advertise that they are a dementia/memory care community, they must 
provide a secured perimeter and area of refuge at least 50 feet away from the building for 
residents in the event of an emergency.   

To create the courtyard activity area and the new entryway into the building, six existing 
parking spaces are proposed to be relocated onto the adjoining vacant lot.  Two parking spaces 
will be restriped for disabled parking directly across from the new entrance walkway. Eleven 
spaces are proposed on the adjoining lot, creating a net increase of parking of 5 spaces, for a 
total of 27 spaces for the facility.  

The proposed courtyard area will be fenced with a five-feet tall stucco wall with columns that 
will be painted to match the building.  

Recommended findings for the Design Review are as follows: 

a) The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project incorporates 
design elements adopted for the DR Zone. 

Discussion: The standards adopted for the DR Zone generally address the use of 
Spanish/Mediterranean design elements for the construction of new buildings and 
structures, and for comprehensive site and landscape design. Building architecture for 
the existing building includes Spanish-Mediterranean elements. The exterior treatment 
of the building is stucco with a barrel tile roof. The front patio enclosure wall will be 

Staff Report – 203-207B Collins Avenue Assisted Living  Page 5 of 7 
 



stucco and painted to match the existing building. Trees, shrubs, flowers, and 
foundation plantings along the front façade of the building complement the building 
architecture.    

b) The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project substantially 
reflects the intent of the DR zone to achieve a consistent site, landscape, and building 
design theme for the Town of Colma.  

Discussion: The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project is 
similar to that of additional sites visible from El Camino Real containing buildings and 
landscapes which incorporate Spanish/Mediterranean elements. Together, these sites 
achieve a consistent site, landscape, and building design theme for the Town of Colma.   

Values 

The recommendation is consistent with the Council value of fairness because the 
recommended decisions are consistent with how similar requests have been handled, and with 
the Council value of responsibility because the proposed application has been carefully 
reviewed and conditioned so that it will be consistent with adopted development policies and 
regulations, and compatible within its setting. 

Sustainability Impact 

The project involves the ongoing use of an existing facility, and, therefore, will not have a 
sustainability impact.     

Alternatives 

One alternative to adopting the ordinance for the Planned Development would be to introduce 
the ordinance with modified or additional standards which differ in one or more aspects from 
what is being proposed. This alternative would require the applicant or their architect to modify 
the plans and bring them back to the City Council at a later date. This alternative is not 
recommended since it will delay the project. In addition, staff believes the ordinance and plans, 
as proposed and conditioned, represent a positive improvement to the site. 

A second alternative would be to not introduce (or deny with findings) the ordinance for the 
Planned Development. This alternative would leave the existing Planned Development zoning in 
place which only allows for assisted living at 205 Collins Avenue and a skilled nursing facility on 
the vacant lot (i.e. the parking lot expansion could not occur). This alternative is problematic 
because it would not allow for the applicant to advertise the facility for memory care (since they 
would not be able to build the required courtyard), stifling their business plans. In addition, the 
facility would operate with the existing on-site parking, which is five fewer on-site parking 
spaces once the project is completed.   

CONCLUSION 

Staff recommends that the City Council introduce the Ordinance for the Planned Development 
Amendment, and adopt the Resolution conditionally approving the Conditional Use Permit and 
Design Review.  

Staff Report – 203-207B Collins Avenue Assisted Living  Page 6 of 7 
 



ATTACHMENTS 

A. Ordinance______, Adopting an Amended Zoning Map and Approving a Planned 
Development Zone 

B. Resolution 2015-_______, Conditionally Approving Second Amended Conditional 
Use Permit and Design Review 

C. Site and Fence Plans  

Staff Report – 203-207B Collins Avenue Assisted Living  Page 7 of 7 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



ORDINANCE NO._____ 

ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN AMENDED ZONING MAP AND 
APPROVING A PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE 

FOR 203-207B COLLINS AVENUE 

Property Owner: Apollo Fund I, LLC, Donald Kung  
Applicant: Claremont Retirement Management Services (CRMS), Brian Walgenbach 

Location/APN:  
Vacant lot/008-421-170 

205 Collins Avenue (assisted living facility)/ 008-421-180 
203 and 207A&B Collins Avenue (commercial buildings)/ 008-421-190 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does ordain as follows: 

1. BACKGROUND

(a) The Town received an application from Claremont Retirement Management Services for
approval of an Amended Planned Development for the property at 203-207 Collins Avenue, 
Colma (Assessor’s Parcel Numbers: 008-421-170,180,190) to allow for an assisted living facility 
with memory care, administrative offices, meeting space and storage with associated surface 
parking. A Planned Development Amendment is required since the current designated use for 
the vacant lot located at the northeast corner of Collins Avenue and El Camino Real is for a 
skilled nursing facility that was never constructed. This lot is now proposed for surface parking. 

(b) The application was determined to be exempt pursuant to Section 15301 Class 1(a) of 
the state CEQA Guidelines which permits the minor alteration of an existing private structure 
with negligible expansion of the use. 

(c) The City Council has duly considered said application, the staff report and public 
comments thereon. 

2. FINDINGS

The City Council finds that: 

a) That the proposed uses are, in substantial part, generally of conditionally permitted
under the zoning classification for the proposed district in existence at the time of the 
application.  

Discussion: The proposed use is consistent with the existing PD District, which was 
established in 1992 for assisted living.  

b) The uses proposed will not be detrimental to present and potential surrounding uses,
but will have a beneficial effect which could not be achieved under other zoning districts. 

Discussion: Adoption of the PD zoning for the site is consistent with and is a logical 
amendment to the existing PD zoning for the properties which comprise the assisted 
living complex. The PD Zoning Amendment is consistent with prior uses on the site for 

Ord ###, 203-207 Collins Avenue – Planned Development Page 1 of 4 

Attachment A



assisted living.  The proposed assisted living with memory care use and parking changes 
will not impact surrounding uses. The net increase in parking will benefit the project and 
surrounding uses since the project will not impact street parking.  

c) The streets and thoroughfares proposed are suitable and adequate to carry anticipated
traffic and the density will not generate traffic in such amounts as to overload the street 
network outside the PD District.  

Discussion: All of the development is served by existing streets with all access from 
Collins Avenue.  Residents of the assisted living facility do not drive, therefore, the only 
traffic is related to staff and visitors. There is sufficient off-street parking proposed to 
satisfy anticipated parking demand for employees and guests. 

d) The proposed development can be economically justified at the location proposed.

Discussion: The assisted living facility has been a successful assisted living facility since
its establishment in 1995.

e) The impact created by the development can be absorbed and serviced by the Town.

Discussion: The applicant proposes to staff the assisted living facility on a 24 hour basis
and proposes to operate the facility in a manner that will minimize calls for police and
fire services.  No unusual demands for water and sewer service will occur.  Utilities exist
in the adjacent street and are available to the property.

3. PLANNED DEVELOPMENT ZONE

This City Council hereby approves and applies the Planned Development (PD) overlay zone to 
the properties, as shown on the Amended Zoning Map attached hereto and incorporated by 
reference herein, subject to the standards set forth in the next section.  

4. STANDARDS

Development of the site will be subject to the following standards: 

(a) Land Use. The site may be developed and used for an assisted living facility with 
memory care and associated office, administrative and storage uses. A Planned Development 
Use Permit is required for the use.  

(b) Design Review. The design of the Site Plan and all structures on the site are 
subject to review and approval in accordance with the Town’s Design Review Standards. 

(c) Maximum Building Height. A three-story building is permitted on the site, not to 
exceed 36 feet in height. One story buildings are permitted in front of the three-story building, 
not to exceed 20 feet in height.  

(d) Street Frontage. A minimum eight (8) foot wide planting strip shall be provided 
and maintained along the Collins Avenue frontage (except at driveway cuts).   

Ord ###, 203-207 Collins Avenue – Planned Development Page 2 of 4 

Attachment A



(e) Off-Street Parking. The property shall have a minimum of twenty-seven (27) off-
street parking spaces, including a minimum of one (2) disabled parking spaces, one of which 
must be van accessible. Standard spaces shall be no smaller than 9’ wide and 18’ long and 
compact spaces shall be no smaller than 8’ by 16’. Disabled parking spaces shall meet ADA 
width and overhead clearance requirements. All parking spaces shall be served by an access 
aisle no smaller than 24’ wide. Employees shall use parking spaces behind the gate and in the 
back portion of the surface parking lot to free up visitor parking spaces in front of the building 
entrance. 

(f) Open space features. Development of the site shall include a landscaped patio 
area enclosed by an ornamental fence and site landscaping. 

(g) Access. The horseshoe driveway on the site also functions as a fire lane and shall 
be kept free from vehicles and delivery trucks at all times.  A thirty-six (36) wide shared access 
easement, allowing access from Collins Avenue to the project site and to the adjoining lot to the 
west is required.  

(h) Minimum Building Setbacks. The office building shall be set back from the 
perimeter property boundary of the site. Setbacks shall be varied along the north and east 
property boundaries. The following distances shall apply: 

(i) From El Camino Real (East):  thirty feet; 

(ii) From Collins Avenue (South):  five feet; 

(iii) From the northerly boundary line:  five feet; 

(iv) From the westerly boundary line, twelve feet; 

(i) Refuse Disposal and Recycling.  Adequate space for storage of standard 
containers and recycling for depositing trash and recyclable items awaiting pickup shall be 
provided. The Permittee must subscribe to a regular refuse and recyclable items collection 
service. 

(j) Site Security. The operator shall provide site security, including controlled access 
through the reception area. 

5. EXISTING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT APPROVALS REPEALED

Ordinance 439 which established the Planned Development zone which permitted the original 
construction of the assisted living facility and ancillary structures is hereby repealed.  

Ordinance 574 which established a Planned Development which included a skilled nursing 
facility on the vacant lot is hereby repealed.  

Ord ###, 203-207 Collins Avenue – Planned Development Page 3 of 4 

Attachment A



6. EFFECTIVE DATE

This ordinance shall be posted as required by law, to wit, upon the three (3) official bulletin 
boards of the Town of Colma and is to take force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage. 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Ordinance No.____ was introduced at a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the Town of Colma held on April 8, 2015, and duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
said City Council held on _______, 2015 by the following vote: 

Name Counted toward Quorum Not Counted toward Quorum 

Aye No Abstain Present, Recused  Absent 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 

Diana Colvin, Vice Mayor 

Helen Fisicaro 

Raquel Gonzalez 

 Joseph Silva 

Voting Tally 

Dated ______________________ ___________________________________ 
Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 

Attest:   ____________________________ 
 Sean Rabe’, City Clerk 

Ord ###, 203-207 Collins Avenue – Planned Development Page 4 of 4 

Attachment A



RESOLUTION NO. 2015-__ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

RESOLUTION CONDITIONALLY APPROVING A SECOND AMENDED 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD) CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AND DESIGN 

REVIEW FOR AN ASSISTED LIVING FACILITY AT 203-207B COLLINS 
AVENUE 

Property Owner: Apollo Fund I, LLC, Donald Kung  
Applicant: Claremont Retirement Management Services (CRMS), Brian Walgenbach 

Location/APN:  
Vacant lot/008-421-170 

205 Collins Avenue (assisted living facility)/ 008-421-180 
203 and 207A&B Collins Avenue (commercial buildings)/ 008-421-190 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does hereby resolve as follows: 

1. Background

(a) Claremont Retirement Management Services has submitted an application for an
Amendment to the existing Planned Development (PD) Use Permit under the Zoning Code of the 
Town of Colma to use the property at the above-referenced addresses and Assessor’s Parcel 
Numbers 008-421-170,180,190 (“Subject Properties”) for an assisted living facility with memory 
care. 

(b) A Notice of Public Hearing was duly posted on the three official bulletin boards of the 
Town and in a conspicuous place on or near the subject property and was duly mailed to the 
persons to whom given, as required by law, and a public hearing was conducted on this matter 
on April 8, 2015. 

(c) The City Council has considered the application, the accompanying staff report, and all 
relevant evidence presented at the public meeting. 

2. Findings

The City Council hereby finds that: 

Findings Relating to CEQA Review 

(a) Pursuant to the Section 15301, Class 1(a) of the State CEQA Guidelines, the project is 
Categorically Exempt from further environmental review because the project will entail the use 
of an existing private structure involving a negligible expansion of use.  

Findings Relating to a Conditional Use Permit (CMC § 5.03.410) 

(b) The proposed use will be consistent with the provisions of the Colma General Plan and 
Zoning Ordinance.  

Discussion: The proposed use is consistent with the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance 
of the Town of Colma.  The General Plan also contains a goal to encourage facilities 

Res. 2015-__, 205-207B Collins Avenue Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review Page 1 of 7 

Attachment B



which provide care for senior citizens (Colma Administrative Code Section 5.02.216). The 
Colma Zoning Ordinance allows For the rezoning of properties to a Planned Development 
Zone to accommodate uses such as assisted living with memory care.  Since 1992, the 
site has been zoned for assisted living use.  

(c) Granting the CUP amendment will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or 
public welfare, or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 

Discussion: Granting the CUP amendment will not be detrimental to the public health, 
safety or welfare because the facility is residential in nature, with no resident driving. 
The use is beneficial since it provides a facility for local seniors to live when needed and 
provides memory care. The facility is located adjacent to existing commercial and office 
uses, and there is no evidence that the proposed use will affect these neighboring uses. 

(d) Existing property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the proposed 
use. 

Discussion: Granting the CUP amendment will allow for memory care use in addition to 
the existing assisted living use granted by the CUP in January of 2015. Given the minimal 
level of activity that will be occurring on the site and the provision of adequate parking 
for staff and guests, surrounding properties will not be impacted. Upon implementing the 
exterior changes, there will be a net increase of 5 parking spaces. Therefore, existing 
property uses, large or small, will not be detrimentally affected by the proposed use. 

(e) Granting the CUP amendment will not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of 
properties, large or small, within the Town of Colma.  

Discussion: The CUP amendment will authorize a use consistent with the Planned 
Development Zone.  As a CUP is required for any use in the Planned Development Zone, 
approval of the CUP amendment would not constitute the granting of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations imposed by the Zoning Ordinance on the existing use of 
properties, large or small, within the Town of Colma. The Colma Zoning Ordinance allows 
uses such as memory care in an assisted living facility In a PD zone. 

(f) The City Council is satisfied that the proposed use conforms to the purpose and intent of 
the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance.  

Discussion: The General Plan contains a goal to encourage facilities which provide care for 
senior citizens (Colma Administrative Code Section 5.02.216). In 1992, the City Council 
rezoned the subject site to Planned Development to allow for this land use.  Since the site is 
zoned specifically for assisted living, the addition of the memory care use is consistent with 
both the General Plan and the PD zoning of the site. 

(g) The use will not constitute a nuisance to neighboring persons or properties. 

Discussion: The CUP amendment is conditioned to ensure that all activities related to the 
assisted living facility, with memory care use, will not negatively impact adjoining 
commercial and office uses. Specifically, the CUP is conditioned to require property and 
landscape maintenance; to maintain an assistance and evacuation plan; and to regulate 
truck deliveries. The proposed use will provide required parking on-site for employees and 

Res. 2015-__, 205-207B Collins Avenue Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review Page 2 of 7 



visitors.  

Findings Related to Design Review 

(h) The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project incorporates design 
elements adopted for the DR Zone. 

Discussion: The standards adopted for the DR Zone generally address the use of 
Spanish/Mediterranean design elements for the construction of new buildings and 
structures, and for comprehensive site and landscape design. Building architecture for 
the existing building includes Spanish-Mediterranean elements. The exterior treatment of 
the building is stucco with a barrel tile roof. The front patio enclosure wall will be stucco 
and painted to match the existing building. Trees, shrubs, flowers, and foundation 
plantings along the front façade of the building complement the building architecture.    

(i) The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project substantially 
reflects the intent of the DR zone to achieve a consistent site, landscape, and building design 
theme for the Town of Colma.  

Discussion: The architectural, site, and landscape design of the proposed project is 
similar to that of additional sites visible from El Camino Real containing buildings and 
landscapes which incorporate Spanish/Mediterranean elements. Together, these sites 
achieve a consistent site, landscape, and building design theme for the Town of Colma.   

3. Amended Planned Development Use Permit and Design Review Granted Subject 
to Conditions  

The City Council hereby conditionally grants an Amended Conditional Use Permit and Design 
Review Approval to use property located at 203-207B Collins Avenue (APN’s 008-421-170,180 
and 190) (“Subject Properties”), for an assisted living facility with memory care and ancillary 
uses, subject to the general conditions set forth in this Resolution and the following project-
specific conditions set forth below. This approval shall become effective only if the City Council 
adopts Ordinance No. __  adopting an Amended Zoning Map and Approving a Planned 
Development Zone for 203-207B Collins Avenue, with such effective date being the effective 
date of the Ordinance, which is 30 days after final adoption.  

(a) Resolution 2015-03 is hereby amended in its entirety to read as provided herein.  

(b) The uses allowed on the Subject Properties is as follows:  

• Vacant lot, APN 008-421-170: Surface parking; 

• 205 Collins Avenue (assisted living facility, APN 008-421-180): One 34-Bedroom residential 
care facility with memory care in one building with reception, manager’s office, conference 
room, multi-purpose room, kitchen, dining room, laundry room, television room and beauty 
services salon for up to 57 residents; and 

• 203 and 207A&B Collins Avenue (commercial buildings, APN 008-421-190): Administrative 
Offices, meeting space and storage measuring a cumulative total of approximately 2,600 
square feet.   

Res. 2015-__, 205-207B Collins Avenue Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review Page 3 of 7 



Any additional uses, including an increased level of skilled elderly care, are prohibited unless an 
amendment to this Use Permit is obtained. 

(c) The proposed parking lot expansion and redesign is approved as shown on plans by 
Robert Gooyer dated February 1, 2015. Fencing of the courtyard shall include solid concrete 
block with stucco finish, painted to match the building. 

(d) The Permittee shall maintain landscaping on the site, and keep the vacant property on 
the corner of Collins Avenue and El Camino Real free from weeds, garbage, and any other 
debris.  

(e) If the Permittee wishes to paint the exterior of the building, color samples shall be 
submitted to the City Planner for review and approval prior to painting. 

(f) The Permittee shall provide and maintain parking striping and signage for onsite parking 
spaces and required disabled parking spaces. 

(g)  Prior to the operation of the assisted living facility, the Permittee shall submit an 
Emergency Evacuation Plan to the Fire Marshal.  The Evacuation Plan shall describe procedures, 
staffing, and equipment to evacuate all or part of the facility in the event of fire, earthquake or 
other disaster.  Approval by the Fire Marshal of the training portion of the plan is required prior 
to occupancy. The Permittee shall implement and be prepared to follow the Emergency 
Evacuation Plan at all times.  

(h) Prior to the operation of the assisted living facility, the Permittee shall submit an 
Emergency Assistance Plan to the Fire Marshal. The Emergency Assistance Plan shall describe 
the procedures, training, staffing and equipment necessary to provide assistance to residents not 
requiring an emergency response from paramedics.  Approval by the Fire Marshal of the training 
portion of the plan is required prior to occupancy. A goal of the plan shall be to reduce 911 calls 
generated by the facility.  The Permittee shall implement and be prepared to follow the 
Emergency Assistance Plan at all times.   

(i) The Permittee, owner, or operator, shall ensure the fire and alarm system is monitored 
by a central station monitoring company approved by the Fire Marshal. 

(j) The Permittee, owner or operator shall be responsible for regular refuse disposal and 
shall not allow for the accumulation of trash or other debris on the premises. 

(k) The Permittee, owner or operator shall ensure that delivery trucks and moving vans are 
not parked on Collins Avenue or El Camino Real or in the access aisles of the parking lots on the 
project site for loading and unloading purposes during regular business hours.  Truck parking is 
limited to the Collin’s Avenue street parking area between the project driveways, outside of the 
no-parking zones.  Parking or loading is prohibited in all no parking zones (red painted curb 
areas).  

4. Terms

(a) Permittee. As used in this Permit, the word “Permittee” shall mean each person using the
Property pursuant to the permit granted herein, including successors to the person first 
obtaining the permit.  

Res. 2015-__, 205-207B Collins Avenue Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review Page 4 of 7 



(b) Recordable Covenant; Transfer. The Town may record this Conditional Use Permit with 
the San Mateo County Recorder. The Permit shall run with the land and shall be freely and 
automatically transferred to each user of the Property, subject to each of the specific and 
general conditions herein.  

(c) Modification or Revocation. The Town may modify or revoke this Conditional Use Permit 
should it determine that (a) the Property is being operated or maintained in a manner that is 
detrimental to the public health or welfare, is materially injurious to property or improvements in 
the vicinity, constitutes a public nuisance, or is contrary to any law, code or regulation, or (b) if 
the user fails to comply with and satisfy the conditions herein. 

5. General Conditions 

This Use Permit is conditioned upon the Permittee and each user of the Property fully and 
faithfully performing each of the following generally-applicable obligations. Failure to comply 
with any of these conditions shall render this Conditional Use Permit null and void. 

(a) Duty to Comply With Laws. The Permittee and each user must comply with all applicable 
federal, state and municipal laws, codes and regulations, including the currently adopted 
California Building and Fire Codes. Nothing herein shall be construed as authorizing any 
approvals under, or any exceptions to any other law, code or regulation, or as authorizing any 
change to the occupancy classification of the premises or any buildings thereon as defined in the 
California Building Code. Without limiting the foregoing: 

(i) A building permit shall be required for all improvements to the building 
except surface treatments such as carpet and paint. 

(ii) The Permittee must pay the annual Town of Colma Business Registration 
fee and must keep in effect a Town of Colma Business Registration at all times. A failure to 
maintain the Colma Business Registration may result in termination of the Use Permit. 

  (iii) All signs must comply with the Town's sign regulations, as set forth in Colma 
Municipal Code, subchapter 4.07. 

(b) Indemnification. The Permittee shall indemnify, pay and hold the Town of Colma 
harmless from all costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees, incurred by the Town or held to 
be the liability of the Town in connection with the Town’s defense of its actions in any 
proceeding brought in any state or federal court challenging the Town’s actions with respect to 
the Project or this Conditional Use Permit. 

(c) Agreement Required. The Permittee must agree to comply with each and every term and 
condition herein by counter-signing a copy of this Resolution and returning the counter-signed 
copy to the City Clerk no later than forty-five (45) days following City Council approval of the 
Conditional Use Permit. If Permittee is not the property owner, then the property owner must 
consent to use of the Property on the terms and conditions herein by counter-signing a copy of 
this Resolution and returning the counter-signed copy to the City Clerk no later than forty-five 
(45) days following City Council approval of the Conditional Use Permit.  

 

 

Res. 2015-__, 205-207B Collins Avenue Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review Page 5 of 7 



6. Effective Date

This resolution shall become effective only if the City Council adopts Ordinance No. __ adopting 
an Amended Zoning Map and Approving a Planned Development Zone for 203-207B Collins 
Avenue, with such effective date being the effective date of the Ordinance, which is 30 days 
after final adoption. If the City Council fails to adopt the Ordinance, this approval shall become 
null and void and the Permittee shall have no vested right or other rights to make use of this 
Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review approval. 

* * * * * *  

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Resolution No. 2015-__ was duly adopted at a regular meeting of the 
City Council of the Town of Colma held on April 8, 2015, by the following vote: 

Name Counted toward Quorum Not Counted toward Quorum 

Aye No Abstain Present, Recused  Absent 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 

Diana Colvin, Vice Mayor 

Helen Fisicaro 

Raquel Gonzalez 

 Joseph Silva 

Voting Tally 

Dated ______________________ ___________________________________ 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 

Attest:   ____________________________ 

 Sean Rabe’, City Clerk 

Res. 2015-__, 205-207B Collins Avenue Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review Page 6 of 7 



NOTICE OF RIGHT TO PROTEST 
 

The Conditions of Project Approval set forth herein include certain fees, dedication requirements, 
reservation requirements, and other exactions. Pursuant to Government Code Section 66020(d)(1), 
these Conditions constitute written notice of a statement of the amount of such fees, and a 
description of the dedications, reservations, and other exactions. You are hereby further notified 
that the 90-day approval period in which you may protest these fees, dedications, reservations, and 
other exactions, pursuant to Government Code Section 66020(a), began on date of adoption of this 
resolution. If you fail to file a protest within this 90-day period complying with all of the 
requirements of Section 66020, you will be legally barred from later challenging such exactions. 

AGREEMENT 

Permittee 

The undersigned agrees to comply with each and every condition set forth in this resolution. 

Dated: _________________  ______________________________________ 
[Printed Name of Permittee] 

Property Owner 

The undersigned agrees to use of the property on the terms and conditions set forth in this 
resolution. 

Dated: _________________  ______________________________________ 
[Printed Name of Property Owner] 

 [Notarization of Property Owner's signature recommended] 

Res. 2015-__, 205-207B Collins Avenue Second Amended Use Permit and Design Review Page 7 of 7 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



Attachment C
A

ttachm
ent C





STAFF REPORT 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Christopher J. Diaz, City Attorney  

VIA:  Sean Rabé, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: April 8, 2015 

SUBJECT: Regular Meeting Start Time Ordinance 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt the following motion: 

MOTION TO INTRODUCE AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 1.02.080 OF THE 
COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE, RELATING TO THE START TIME OF REGULAR MEETINGS, 
AND WAIVE A FURTHER READING OF THE ORDINANCE 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The proposed ordinance will amend section 1.02.080 of the Colma Municipal Code to allow for 
the City Manager, in concurrence with the Mayor or other presiding officer if the Mayor is 
absent, to modify the regular meeting start time to a time earlier than 7:30 p.m.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

The proposed ordinance may have a small beneficial effect on the Town budget as it will no 
longer require the Town to issue two agendas, one for the earlier meeting start time prior to 
7:30 p.m., and one for the regular 7:30 p.m. start time. 

ANALYSIS 

The proposed ordinance will amend section 1.02.080 of the Colma Municipal Code to allow for 
the City Manager, in concurrence with the Mayor or other presiding officer if the Mayor is 
absent, to modify the regular meeting start time to a time earlier than 7:30 p.m. This proposed 
ordinance is consistent with the Ralph M. Brown Act as the Act has not been construed to 
require a definitive consistent start time or preclude the City from modifying the normal start 
time where such language is provided by ordinance.  

Currently, when there is a need for a regular meeting to start earlier in order to hold a closed 
session, or to hold a ceremonial type event, the City Clerk issues two agendas. One for the 
earlier start time that is labeled as a special meeting agenda, and one for the 7:30 p.m. start 
time that is labeled as a regular meeting agenda. As you know, under the terms of the Brown 
Act, there are two types of meetings, regular meetings and special meetings. Regular meetings 

Staff Report Regular Meeting Start Time  Page 1 of 2 

25977.17000\9645216.1  

Item #9



are those meetings detailed in the City’s ordinance that occur on a regular date and time. 
Special meetings are those meetings occurring on another date and time from a regular 
meeting. 

The proposed ordinance would amend the Town’s Municipal Code to provide language that 
allows for greater flexibility in the start time of a regular meeting. If there is a need for an 
earlier start time, the City Manager can advise the Mayor, or other presiding officer, of the need 
for the earlier start time and obtain their concurrence. Consistent with the requirements of the 
Brown Act, staff will then issue one regular meeting agenda at least 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. This agenda will note the earlier start time and will also note that the traditional 
meeting will continue to commence at 7:30 p.m.  

Reasons For the Recommended Action/Findings  

The proposed ordinance will eliminate the need for staff to issue two agendas and will save 
staff time and expense associated with issuing two agendas. Consistent with the Brown Act, 
staff will continue to post the agenda at least 72 hours in advance of a regular meeting.  

Values 

The City Council’s introduction and ultimate adoption of the ordinance is responsible as it will 
eliminate the need for staff to issue two agendas and will reduce staff time and paper 
distribution. 

Sustainability Impact 

The proposed ordinance will eliminate the need for staff to issue two agendas which will reduce 
the amount of paper distributed to the public. 

Alternatives 

The City Council could choose not to introduce the ordinance or may seek changes to the 
ordinance. 

CONCLUSION 

The City Council should introduce the ordinance. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Ordinance 

Staff Report Regular Meeting Start Time   Page 2 of 2 

25977.17000\9645216.1  



ORDINANCE NO. __ 
OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF COLMA 

ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 1.02.080 OF THE  
COLMA MUNICIPAL CODE, RELATING TO THE START TIME 

OF REGULAR MEETINGS 

The City Council of the Town of Colma does ordain as follows: 

ARTICLE 1. CMC SECTION 1.02.080, REGULAR MEETINGS, AMENDED. 1 

Section 1.02.080(a), Regular Meetings, of Subchapter 1.02, City Council and Mayor, is 
hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

1.02.080 Regular Meetings 

(a) The City Council shall meet regularly at 7:30 p.m. on the second Wednesday of each 
month, at the Colma Community Center, 1520 Hillside Boulevard, Colma, California, then and 
there to conduct such business as may properly come before it. When the second Wednesday 
of any month falls on a public holiday, the regular meeting shall be held at 7:30 p.m. The City 
Council’s regular 7:30 p.m. start time can be modified by the City Manager, with the 
concurrence of the Mayor or other presiding officer, to commence earlier depending upon the 
volume of business for the City Council to consider at any given meeting. The City Clerk shall 
provide prior written notice of the adjusted start time consistent with the Ralph M. Brown Act. 
The City Council’s intention is to make use of an earlier start time for closed session purposes or 
ceremonial type events, with all other regular agenda items continuing to commence at 7:30 
p.m. 

ARTICLE 2. SEVERABILITY. 

Each of the provisions of this ordinance is severable from all other provisions. If any article, 
section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance is for any reason 
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity 
of the remaining portions of this ordinance. 

ARTICLE 3. NOT A CEQA PROJECT. 

The City Council finds that adoption of this ordinance is not a "project," as defined in the 
California Environmental Quality Act because it does not have a potential for resulting in either 
a direct physical change in the environment or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical 
change in the environment and concerns general policy and procedure making. 

1 Substantive changes have been identified as follows: New text has been underlined; revised text has 
been underlined, without showing the prior wording; and deleted text is shown with a strike-through line. 
Non-substantive changes, such as grammar and formatting are not identified. All markings will be 
removed from the final version that is adopted by the City Council. 

Ord No. ___ Regular Meeting Start Time Page 1 of 2 
25977.17000\9645103.1  

Attachment A



ARTICLE 4. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

This ordinance including the vote for and against the same shall be posted in the office of the 
City Clerk and on the three (3) official bulletin boards of the Town of Colma within 15 days of 
its passage and shall take force and effect thirty (30) days after its passage. 

Certification of Adoption 

I certify that the foregoing Ordinance No. ### was introduced at a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the Town of Colma held on April 8, 2015, and duly adopted at a regular meeting of 
said City Council held on __________, 2015 by the following vote: 

Name Counted toward Quorum Not Counted toward Quorum 

  Aye No Abstain Present, Recused  Absent 

Joanne del Rosario, Mayor      

Diana Colvin       

Helen Fisicaro      

Raquel Gonzalez      

Joseph Silva      

Voting Tally      

 
 

Dated ______________________  ___________________________________ 
      Joanne del Rosario, Mayor 
 
 
      Attest:   ____________________________ 
         Sean Rabé, City Clerk 

Ord No. ___ Regular Meeting Start Time  Page 2 of 2 
25977.17000\9645103.1  



 MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayor and City Council  

FROM: Sean Rabé, City Manager 

DATE: April 3, 2015 

SUBJECT: Council Agenda Item #8 Regarding Development Application Processing Fees 

Mayor and Council Members, 

Agenda Item #10, which is a public hearing regarding Development Application Processing 
Fees, will need to be continued to the May 13, 2015 City Council meeting due to the need for 
staff to obtain further data to support the fee structure proposed.  

Because this agenda item was duly noticed as occurring on April 8 through posting in the 
newspaper, the Council should follow the procedure for continuance as outlined below:  

1. The Mayor will introduce the item

2. The City Attorney will explain the need for the continuance and will encourage any
members of the public who have attended for this item to hold their comments until the
May 13 meeting

3. The Mayor must open the public hearing and allow any comments from the public

4. Once all public comments are heard a Council Member should motion to continue the
public hearing to the May 13, 2015 City Council meeting. That motion should be
seconded by another Council Member.

5. The Mayor will call for the vote on the continuance. Assuming the motion to continue is
passed, the Mayor will announce that the public hearing has been continued to May 13,
2015.  

As always, please do not hesitate to contact me should you have any questions or concerns. 

Thank you, 

Sean Rabé  
City Manager 

Item #10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 



STAFF REPORT 
Study Session 

TO:  Mayor and Members of the City Council 

FROM:  Sean Rabé, City Manager 

MEETING DATE: April 8, 2015 

SUBJECT: Proposed Fiscal Year 2015/2016 Budget 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Provide direction to staff as necessary. No other Council direction is required at this time. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Fiscal Year 2015/16 revenues are projected to be approximately $16.77 million, pending any 
additional information from the Town’s sales tax consultants. Additional information regarding 
anticipated sales tax revenue will be presented at the May meeting. This revenue amount 
includes transfers in of $1.76 million from unassigned reserves to fund the capital improvement 
plan for Fiscal Year 2015/16.  

The anticipated revenue is an increase of $598,000 from the FY 2014/15 estimated actual 
revenue (or about 3.7 percent) and is an increase of 11.4 percent over the original FY 14/15 
budgeted revenue amount.  

The proposed FY 14/15 budget provides a total of $15.71 million in expenditures, assuming the 
Council makes no funding changes to the approved Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). This leaves 
a positive balance (surplus) in the budget of approximately $1.06 million.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

The FY 15/16 Proposed Budget totals approximately $16.77 million. As noted above, preliminary 
figures show a $1.06 million surplus projected for FY 15/16 (with no anticipated changes to the 
CIP). This includes $100,000 for the water conservation incentive program (creating a sewer 
fee subsidy) that the Council approved in July 2012.   

BACKGROUND 

The Town’s fiscal year starts on July 1st and ends on June 30th. During the year the Finance 
Department works with department heads to address funding issues and monitor expenditures. 
As you know, staff prepared a Mid-Year Budget Review and presented it to the Council and the 
public at the February City Council Meeting. That report provided Council with a review of 
expenses and revenues halfway through the fiscal year. Council will remember that sales tax 
numbers were up significantly over what staff originally budgeted.   

During March and April, Consulting Finance Director Charles Francis and I met with department 
heads to review the Town’s fiscal status and to provide direction on budget preparation. 
Generally, departments were told to prepare status-quo budget proposals, keeping expenditures 
even with FY 14/15 (with the exception of personnel-related costs that departments have no 

Staff Report re Proposed FY 15/16 Budget  Page 1 of 4 
March 31, 2015

Item #11



control over, such as medical insurance). This is the same approach taken in fiscal year 2014/15 
as well. Some personnel changes are being recommended in the City Manager Department, as 
outlined in the Analysis section below.  

The proposed summary budget before you is meant to provide the City Council an initial 
discussion on the Town’s spending plan for next fiscal year, with a more complete detailed 
Proposed Budget to be presented in May. Changes will be made based on Council’s review 
tonight, with the Proposed Budget (including any revisions) presented at the May meeting. 
Additional review and discussion on the proposed final budget will occur during a public hearing 
held at the June City Council meeting. At the conclusion of the public hearing, the Council takes 
action on the budget. The Town is required by law to adopt a budget by June 30th of each 
year. 

ANALYSIS 

Budget Preparation Approach 

Each department was asked to keep its budget request as close to the FY 2014/15 budget as 
possible. Departments were not asked to absorb medical benefit cost increases, (estimated at 7 
percent over estimated FY 14/15) because the Town’s revenue picture continues to improve. 

Attachment B shows the Proposed Budget by department compared to prior years.  Attachment 
C provides a breakdown of the Proposed Budget by department and category of expenditures 
(e.g. salaries and benefits). 

Budget Highlights: 

• Committed and assigned reserves remain set per policy 

• Total revenues are projected at approximately $16.77 million, or about $598,000 
higher than the FY 2014/15 estimated actual revenue (or about 3.7 percent). This 
amount is a total increase of 11.4 percent over the original FY 14/15 budgeted 
revenue amount. Attachment A contains the Revenue Summary by fiscal year. Key 
revenue points include the following:  

o Sales tax revenue is projected to continue to grow at a 4.9 percent 
growth overall from the amended FY 14/15 budget (or nearly 18.5 
percent higher than the original FY 14/15 budget). Car sales are 
forecasted to remain strong, while retail sales are estimated to have a 
slight increase. The sales tax projection includes a slight dip in revenue 
from the departing Bed Bath & Beyond store. Staff believes our sales tax 
projection is conservative.  

o Card room tax revenue is budgeted flat from our latest projections, which 
shows a 3.75 percent decline in revenue from the budgeted amount in FY 
14/15.   

o All other revenues are generally projected flat.  

• Total expenses (including the CIP) are budgeted at approximately $15.71 million, 
which is roughly $3.37 million less than the FY 14/15 approved budget (without the 
revised Town Hall appropriation). It is difficult to compare year-to-year 
expenditures due to the ongoing capital improvements the Town is undertaking. 
Removing the capital improvements and debt service for the Town Hall project 

Staff Report re Proposed FY 15/16 Budget   Page 2 of 4 
March 31, 2015 



shows a total $550,000 increase in spending from our estimated expenditures for 
FY 14/15.   Key expenditure points include the following:  

o Debt service payments are included in the FY 15/16 budget because of 
the future incurred debt for the Town Hall project. 

o An increase in the City Manager department budget of $54,880 to 
accommodate increased staffing. The increases are partially offset by the 
retirement of the departing Administrative Technician III and other 
tightened budgetary numbers. Proposed staffing changes include the 
following: 

o Move existing part-time Administrative Technician I to full-time 
(total budgetary impact of $54,500) 

o Move existing Administrative Technician III to City Clerk (total 
budgetary impact of $11,136) 

o Continuation of Special Projects Manager position at 20 hours per 
week for six months (total budgetary impact of $26,913) 

o Purchase of a new Town Hall Administrative vehicle 

o A significant savings in the City Attorney Department ($96,000) to reflect 
the new retainer arrangement with Best Best & Krieger.  

o An increase in the Human Resources Department budget to 
accommodate a salary survey for upcoming negotiations ($15,000) 

o Increase to the Recreation Department budget to accommodate the 
Holiday Party and increased consultant (classes) costs 

o This budget continues to include a fully-staffed Police Department 

o Purchase of one new Police Patrol vehicle and possible purchase of one 
zero-emissions Police motorcycle 

o These vehicle purchases are offset by the consolidation of two 
vehicle repair line items and savings from switching to a new 
repair vendor 

o The water conservation incentive program sewer subsidy is funded at 
$100,000.  

o Sewer revenues are assumed at 100 percent of actual cost, less the water 
conservation program subsidy 

At this point, revenue in the FY 2015/16 Proposed Budget exceeds expenditures by $1.06 
million (with no anticipated changes to the CIP).  

Revenues are projected to be approximately $16.77 million, pending additional information from 
Town’s sales tax consultants. FY 2015/16 revenues are expected to be about $598,000 higher 
than the FY 2014/15 estimated actual revenue (or about 3.7 percent) and are 11.4 percent 
higher than the original FY 14/15 budgeted revenue amount.  

The Proposed Budget revenue estimate assumes sales tax receipts increase to $10.5 million and 
card room tax revenue drops to $3.85 million. The drop in card room revenue reflects the 
continuing decline that staff has seen since October. Sales tax revenue is estimated 

Staff Report re Proposed FY 15/16 Budget   Page 3 of 4 
March 31, 2015 



conservatively. Staff is expecting revised sales tax estimates from the consultants and this 
information will be presented at the May 13, 2015 meeting. 

Staffing Changes 

As noted in the expenditure highlights above, this budget includes the following staffing 
changes in the City Manager’s Office:  

• Moving the existing Administrative Technician III to City Clerk
• Moving existing part-time Administrative Technician I to full-time
• Continuation of Senior Project Manager at 20 hours per week for six months

This budget continues to leave the Assistant City Manager position vacant. 

The FY 2015/16 Proposed Budget staffing chart (Attachment D) reflects the increase in staffing 
for the City Manager’s Office. The total staffing increases from 54 FTE in the 2014/15 Budget to 
54.5 in the FY 2015/16 budget.   

NON-PROFIT DONATION REQUESTS 

As the Council knows, the process by which non-profits are granted funding by the Town was 
modified last year. Thus, the Proposed Budget includes the same level of non-profit funding as 
last year. Council will allocate the funding after the Final Budget has been approved.   

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

The FY 15/16 Proposed Budget includes $1.76 million in Capital Improvements. 

CONCLUSION 

Staff is requesting comments from the Council and the public on the FY 2015/16 Proposed 
Budget during the April 8, 2015 Study Session. A second Study Session will be held on May 13, 
2015 and a public hearing will be held on June 10, 2015. A more detailed budget document will 
be provided in advance of these meetings. 

Staff is prepared to answer any questions you may have. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Revenue Summary 
B. Expenditure Summary By Department 
C. Expenditure Summary By Category 
D. Staffing 

Staff Report re Proposed FY 15/16 Budget  Page 4 of 4 
March 31, 2015



REVENUE SUMMARY

FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16
FUND # REVENUE SOURCE ACTUAL ACTUAL AMENDED ESTIMATED PROPOSED

11 GENERAL FUND
TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES 15,314,224   15,926,982      14,806,282    16,014,570     16,582,220   
Transfers to Capital Improvement Fund (167,700)       (364,031)          (16,046,890)   (16,046,893)    (1,762,000) 
Transfers to COP Debt Service (957,884)       (11,719,159)     - - (308,990) 
Transfers from Special Gas Tax Fund 48,710          60,803             50,750           53,350            43,670          
Transfers from Measure A Fund 56,156          54,682             50,000           50,000            50,000          
Transfers from Debt Service Fund - - - 4,750,000       - 
TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES  (NET) 14,293,506   3,959,277        (1,139,858)     4,821,027       14,604,900   

21 SPECIAL GAS TAX FUND
Revenues from Other Agencies 48,710          60,803             50,750           53,350            43,670          
Transfers to General Fund (48,710)         (60,803) (50,750)          (53,350)           (43,670) 

TOTAL SPECIAL GAS TAX FUND - - - - - 

22 MEASURE A FUND
Revenues from Other Agencies 56,156          53,298             50,000           50,000            50,000          
Transfers to General Fund (56,156)         (54,682) (50,000)          (50,000)           (50,000) 
Transfers to Capital Improvement Fund - - - - - 

TOTAL MEASURE A FUND - (1,384) - - - 

29 POLICE GRANTS FUND
State Police Programs 91,305          90,966             100,000         100,000          100,000        

TOTAL POLICE GRANTS FUND 91,305          90,966             100,000         100,000          100,000        
31 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

Federal Grants - - - - - 
State Grants - - - - - 
Transfers to General Fund
Transfers from General Fund 167,700        364,031           16,046,893    16,046,893     1,762,000     
Transfers from Other Funds - - - - - 

TOTAL CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND 167,700        364,031           16,046,890    16,046,893     1,762,000     
43 COPs DEPT SERVICE FUND

Interest on Investments - - - - - 
Proceeds from COP Issuance - - - 4,750,000       - 
Transfers from General Fund 957,884        11,719,159      - - 308,990        
Transfers to Other Funds - - - (4,750,000)      - 
TOTAL COPs DEBT SERVICE FUND 957,884        11,719,159      - - 308,990        

TOTAL REVENUES OF ALL FUNDS 15,510,395   16,132,049      15,007,032    20,967,920     16,775,890   

Attachment A





EXPENDITURE SUMMARY BY DEPARTMENT

FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16
FUND # DEPARTMENTS/DIVISIONS ACTUAL ACTUAL AMENDED ESTIMATED PROPOSED

11 GENERAL FUND
110 - CITY COUNCIL 209,123        220,643        239,010        231,800        238,650        
120 - CITY TREASURER 6,608            7,964            5,110            5,110            1,500           
130 - CITY ATTORNEY 359,957        388,159        401,000        386,000        305,000        
140 - CITY MANAGER/CITY CLERK ADMIN 948,376        972,971        1,059,870     1,018,400     1,116,670     
141 - HUMAN RESOURCES 188,970        195,792        199,540        197,010        217,490        
150 - FINANCE 317,502        257,819        425,070        402,500        408,590        
151 - GENERAL SERVICES 890,540        930,774        1,105,750     1,105,750     1,127,040     
210 - POLICE ADMINISTRATION 941,558        840,124        1,044,030     1,015,480     1,027,010     
220 - POLICE PATROL 3,360,711     3,555,969     3,551,630     3,407,060     3,519,540     
230 - POLICE COMMUNICATIONS 927,725        769,019        799,880        811,830        823,880        
310 - PW ADMIN/ENGINEERING/BUILDING 787,408        736,639        878,000        875,000        878,000        
320 - PW MAINTENANCE 1,803,436     1,762,506     1,929,120     1,922,200     1,927,140     
410 - PLANNING 395,809        417,626        422,000        421,000        432,000        
510 - RECREATION SERVICES 757,639        797,258        848,240        845,830        877,190        
800's - FACILITY OPERATIONS MAINTENANCE 507,422        510,995        615,900        614,120        629,050        

TOTAL GENERAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES 12,402,784   12,364,258   13,524,150   13,259,090   13,528,750   

29 POLICE GRANTS FUND
240 - POLICE GRANTS 108,605        114,109        113,610        115,640        116,810        

31 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND
900's - CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 66,899          512,052        16,046,893   16,046,893   1,762,000     

43 COPs DEBT SERVICE FUND
620 - COPs DEBT SERVICE 959,584        12,677,209   - - 308,990        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF ALL FUNDS 13,537,872   25,667,627   29,684,653   29,421,623   15,716,550   

Attachment B





EXPENDITURE SUMMARY BY CATEGORY

TOTAL
DEPARTMENTS / DIVISIONS DEPARTMENT

CITY COUNCIL 63,240          104,110      71,300          - - 238,650          
CITY TREASURER - -             1,500           - - 1,500              
CITY ATTORNEY - -             -               305,000        - 305,000          
CITY MANAGER/CITY CLERK ADMIN 371,600         609,470      59,600          45,000          31,000            1,116,670       
HUMAN RESOURCES 114,080         63,930        9,480           30,000          - 217,490          
FINANCE 137,090         55,000        41,500          175,000        - 408,590          
GENERAL SERVICES - -             217,500        909,540        - 1,127,040       
POLICE ADMINISTRATION 570,990         303,180      69,800          81,040          2,000              1,027,010       
POLICE PATROL 2,229,560      1,094,180   118,800        - 77,000            3,519,540       
POLICE COMMUNICATIONS 411,940         200,740      146,200        64,000          1,000              823,880          
PW ADMIN/ENGINEERING/BUILDING - -             8,000           870,000        - 878,000          
PW MAINTENANCE 253,240         141,550      16,650          1,510,200     5,500              1,927,140       
PLANNING - -             -               432,000        - 432,000          
RECREATION SERVICES 407,340         135,350      214,500        115,000        5,000              877,190          
FACILITY OPERATIONS/MAINTENANCE - -             629,050        - - 629,050          

TOTAL GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 4,559,080      2,707,510   1,603,880     4,536,780     121,500          13,528,750     

POLICE GRANTS FUND 77,700          34,510        4,600           - - 116,810          
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND - -             -               - 1,762,000       1,762,000       
COPs DEBT SERVICE FUND - -             -               308,990        - 308,990          

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF ALL FUNDS 4,636,780      2,742,020   1,608,480     4,845,770     1,883,500       15,716,550     

SUPPLIES & 
SERVICES

CAPITAL 
OUTLAYSALARIES BENEFITS CONTRACTS

Attachment C





STAFFING

FY 2010-11 FY 2011-12 FY 2012-13 FY 2013-14 FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16
POSITION TITLE ADOPTED ADOPTED ADOPTED ADOPTED ADOPTED PROPOSED 

Town Staffing
Accountant I 1.00           1.00           1.00 - - - 
Accounting Technician 0.75           0.75           0.75 0.75             1.80             1.80             
Administrative Technician I 1.00             
Administrative Technician II/III 2.00           1.50           1.50 1.50             1.50             - 
Assistant City Manager / Deputy City Clerk 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
City Clerk 1.00             
City Manager 1.00             
City Manager / City Clerk 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             - 
Human Resources Manager 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Vacant, unfunded Assistant City Manager (1.00)          (1.00)          (1.00)            (1.00)            (1.00)            (1.00)            
          City Manager Department Total 5.75           5.25           5.25 4.25             5.30             5.80             
Maintenance Technician I/II/III 3.00           3.00           3.00 3.00             3.00             3.00             
          Public Works Department Total 3.00           3.00           3.00 3.00             3.00             3.00             
Administrative Technician II 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             - - 
Part-time Facility Attendant (7 x .5) 3.00           3.00           3.00 3.50             3.50             3.50             
Part-time Recreation Leader (8 x .5) 4.00           4.00           4.00 4.00             4.00             4.00             
Recreation Coordinator 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             2.00             2.00             
Recreation Services Director 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
          Recreation Department Total 10.00         10.00         10.00 10.50           10.50           10.50           
Administrative Technician III 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Community Services Officer 1.00           0.75           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Detective 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Detective Sergeant 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Dispatch Supervisor 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Dispatcher 4.00           4.00           4.00 3.20             3.20             3.20             
Officer 11.00         11.00         11.00 11.00           11.00           11.00           
Police Chief 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Police Commander 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Sergeant 4.00           4.00           4.00 4.00             4.00             4.00             
Vacant Police Officer (1.00)          -             - - - - 
Vacant, unfunded Police Officer (1.00)          (2.00)          (2.00)            - - - 
          Police Department Total 24.00         23.75         24.00 25.20           25.20           25.20           
     Town Total 42.75         42.00         42.25 42.95           44.00           44.50           

Contract Staffing
Building 1.50           1.25           1.25 1.25             1.25             1.25             
City Attorney 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
Engineering 2.50           3.50           3.50 3.50             3.50             3.50             
Finance -             -             - 0.75             0.75             0.75             
Planning 1.80           1.80           1.80 2.50             2.50             2.50             
Public Works 1.00           1.00           1.00 1.00             1.00             1.00             
     Contract Total 7.80           8.55           8.55 10.00           10.00           10.00           
     Total Budgeted Staffing 50.55         50.55         50.80 52.95           54.00           54.50           

Attachment D



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page left intentionally blank. 


	04.08.15 Regular Meeting Agenda
	1. 03.11.15 Regular Minutes
	2. Report of Checks Paid - March
	3. Animal Control Reading Ordinance - Second Reading
	4. Quarterly Recreation Report
	Attachment

	5. Notice of Completion for Hillside Boulevard Improvement
	A. Resolution
	B. Notice of Completion - Hillside Beautification Project
	C. Cetificate of Award APWA

	6. Supplemental Appropriation fo Town Hall Renovation Project Budget
	A. 02.11.15 MidYear Budget Staff Report
	B. 02.11.15 Approval of Town Hall Budget Thresholds Staff Report
	C. 02.11.15 Town Hall Budget Presentation 

	7. Golden Hill Memorial Park - Funeral Home, Caretaker Unit and Monument Shop
	A. Resolution
	B. Full Set Resubmitted 03.03.2015

	8. 203-207B Collins Avenue – Assisted Living Facility
	A. Ordinance
	B. Resolution
	C. Site and Fence Plans

	9. Regular Meeting Start Time Ordinance
	A. Ordinance

	10. Development Application Processing Fees
	11. Proposed Fiscal Year 2015-2016 Budget
	A. 15-16 Revenue Summary
	B. 15-16 Expenditure Summary
	C. 15-16 Expenditure Category
	D. 15-16 Staffing




